
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

DEFENCE THERAPEUTICS INC.  

FORM 2A 

LISTING STATEMENT 

May 3, 2021 



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

NOTE TO READER 

This Listing Statement contains a copy of the Final Long Form Non-Offering Prospectus of Defence 
Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) dated April 29, 2021 (the “Prospectus”).  Certain sections of the 
Canadian Securities Exchange (the “Exchange”) form of Listing Statement have been included following 
the Prospectus to provide additional disclosure on the Company required by the Exchange, as well as 
updating certain information contained in the Prospectus. 



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. Table of Concordance

2. Appendix A – Final Prospectus of the Company dated April 29, 2021

3. Appendix B – Listing Statement Disclosure – Additional Information regarding Item 14 -
Capitalization

4. Schedule A - Certificate of the Company



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

TABLE OF CONCORDANCE 
Information Required by 

Form 2A Listing Statement 
Corresponding Item(s) 

in the Prospectus 
Prospectus 

Page # 
Corporate Structure Corporate Structure 15 
General Development of the Business General Development and Business of 

the Company – Three Year History 
15 

Narrative Description of the Business General Development and Business of 
the Company 

15 

Market and Regulatory Overview 25 
Use of Available Funds 41 

Selected Consolidated Financial 
Information 

Selected Financial Information and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

41 

Dividends or Distributions 50 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis Selected Financial Information and 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
– Management’s Discussion and
Analysis

41 

Exhibit A – Financial Statements of the 
Company and Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis 

Exhibit A 

Market for Securities N/A N/A 
Consolidated Capitalization Consolidated Capitalization 49 
Options to Purchase Securities Options and Other Rights to Purchase 

Securities 
50 

Description of the Securities Description of Securities Distributed  45 
Plan of Distribution 48 
Prior Sales 52 

Escrowed Securities Escrowed Securities and Resale 
Restrictions 

54 

Principal Shareholders Principal Shareholders 55 
Directors and Officers Directors and Officers 55 
Capitalization N/A – Appendix B to this Form 2A 
Executive Compensation Executive Compensation 59 
Indebtedness of Directors and Executive 
Officers 

Indebtedness of Directors and Executive 
Officers 

62 

Risk Factors Risk Factors 64 
Promoters Promoters 76 
Legal Proceedings Legal Proceedings 76 

Regulatory Actions 76 
Interest of Management and Others in 
Material Transactions 

Interest of Management and Others in 
Material Transactions 

76 

Auditors, Transfer Agents and 
Registrars 

Auditors  76 
Registrar and Transfer Agent 76 

Material Contracts Material Contracts 77 
Interest of Experts Experts and Interests of Experts 77 
Other Material Facts Other Material Facts 77 
Financial Statements Exhibit A – Financial Statements of the 

Company and Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis 

Exhibit A 



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

APPENDIX A 

Defence Therapeutics Inc. 

Final Long Form Non-Offering Prospectus dated April 29, 2021 

See attached. 



No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim 

otherwise. This Prospectus does not constitute a public offering of securities. 

The securities offered hereby have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, 

as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”), or any state securities laws, and except pursuant to an exemption from 

registration under the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws, may not be offered or sold, directly or 

indirectly, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. Person (as that term is defined in 

Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act). This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an 

offer to buy any of the securities offered hereby within the United States or to, or for the account of benefit of, any U.S 

Persons. 

New Issue Prospectus April 29, 2021 

PROSPECTUS 

DEFENCE THERAPEUTICS INC. 

___________________________________________ 

6,137,000 Common Shares and 6,137,000 Common Share Purchase Warrants issuable on deemed exercise of 

6,137,000 Special Warrants at a price of $0.60 per Special Warrant 

___________________________________________ 

No securities are being offered or sold pursuant to this prospectus (the “Prospectus”). This Prospectus is 

being filed with the securities regulatory authorities in British Columbia, Ontario, Alberta and Manitoba to enable 

Defence Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) to become a Reporting Issuer pursuant to the applicable securities 

legislation, and to qualify the distribution of the following securities: 6,137,000 class A common shares (the 

“Common Shares”) in the capital of the Company and 6,137,000 Common Share purchase warrants (the 

“Warrants”) of the Company issuable upon the deemed exercise of 6,137,000 issued and outstanding special warrants 

(the “Special Warrants”) of the Company. The Special Warrants were issued on December 24, 2020 and January 25, 

2021 at a price of $0.60 per Special Warrant to purchasers in the province of British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and 

Ontario on a private placement basis pursuant to certain prospectus exemptions under applicable securities legislation 

(the “Special Warrant Offering”). Collectively, the Common Shares and Warrants issuable on deemed exercise of 

the Special Warrants are referred to herein as the “Qualified Securities”. The Special Warrants are not available 

for purchase pursuant to this Prospectus and no additional funds are to be received by the Company from the 

distribution of the Qualified Securities other than the exercise price payable upon exercise of the Warrants. 

Concurrently with the Special Warrant Offering, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement 

(the “Unit Offering”) of 2,588,000 units (each, a “Unit”) at a price of $0.60 per Unit, with each Unit consisting of 

one common share and one common share purchase warrant. This Prospectus only qualifies the distribution of the 

Qualified Securities and does not qualify the distribution of the Units or the common shares and common share 

purchase warrants underlying the Units. Securities issued under the Unit Offering will continue to be subject to a hold 

period of four months plus one day from the date of issue.  

The Company intends to apply to the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) for the listing of the 

Common Shares (the “Listing”). The CSE has provided written authorization to the Company to represent its intention 

to apply for Listing on the CSE in this Prospectus. The CSE has not approved the Listing. Listing is subject to the 

Company fulfilling all the requirements of the CSE, including meeting all minimum listing requirements. There is no 

guarantee that the CSE will provide approval for the Listing. The Common Shares and Warrants have not been listed 

or quoted on any stock exchange or market. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 

applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the 

Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States of America 
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(other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by Plus 

Market Groups plc). 

There is no market through which the Special Warrants may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell 

the Special Warrants acquired pursuant to the Special Warrant Offering. In addition, there is no market through which 

the Warrants may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell the Warrants qualified by this Prospectus. This may 

affect the pricing of the securities in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the 

liquidity of the securities and the extent of issuer regulation. See “Risk Factors”. 

Price Net Proceeds to the Company(1) 

Per Special Warrant $0.60 $0.54 

Total $3,682,200 $3,322,200 

Notes: 

(1) Before deducting the legal, accounting and administrative expenses of the Company in connection with the

Special Warrant Offering and after deducting total cash finder’s fees of $360,000.

Each Special Warrant is represented by a Special Warrant Certificate and will be deemed exchanged, without 

payment of any additional consideration and without any further action by the holder, for one Common Share and one 

Warrant, on the third Business Day after the Prospectus Receipt Date (defined herein). The Special Warrants and the 

conditions necessary for them to be exercised for Common Shares and the Warrants are described in more detail under 

the heading “Plan of Distribution” in this Prospectus. 

Pursuant to an agreement dated April 29, 2021, Canaccord Genuity Corp. (“Canaccord”) has agreed to 

review this Prospectus and to undertake independent due diligence of the contents of this Prospectus for the purposes 

of executing the certificate of agent herein.  See “Plan of Distribution”.  

An investment in Common Shares and Warrants of the Company is highly speculative due to various 

factors, including the nature and stage of development of the business of the Company. An investment in these 

securities should only be made by persons who can afford the total loss of their investment. See “Risk Factors”. 

Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of Canadian federal 

income tax laws to their particular circumstances, as well as any other provincial, foreign and other tax 

consequences of acquiring, holding, or disposing of Common Shares, including the Canadian federal income 

tax consequences applicable to a foreign controlled Canadian corporation that acquires Common Shares.  

Prospective investors should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus. The Company 

has not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. Readers should assume that the 

information appearing in this Prospectus is accurate only as of its date, regardless of its time of delivery. The 

Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date. 

The head office of the Company is located at 1680 – 200 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 

3L6 and the registered and records office of the Company is located at 1680 – 200 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British 

Columbia, V6C 3L6.  
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GLOSSARY 

The following is a glossary of certain general terms used in this Prospectus, including the summary hereof. Terms and 

abbreviations used in the financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis included in, or appended to 

this Prospectus are defined separately and the terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, except 

where otherwise indicated. Words importing the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa 

and words importing any gender include all genders. 

“Accum Invention” means the invention known as “Novel Immunoconjugates with cholic acid nuclear localization 

sequence peptide and uses thereof”.  

“Accum Therapeutics” means Accum Therapeutics Inc., a precursor entity to the Company.  

“ADC” means antibody drug conjugates.  

 “Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Intellectual Property 

Assignment and Royalty Agreement between the Company and TTS which amends the Original IP Assignment and 

Royalty Agreement.  

“Athena” means Athena Ventures Inc.  

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Company. 

“Audit Committee Charter” means the Audit Committee’s Charter, attached hereto as Exhibit “B”. 

“Audited Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended June 

30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, together with the notes thereto and the auditors’ report thereon, as applicable, attached 

hereto at Exhibit “A”. 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended, together with all regulations 

promulgated thereto.  

“BLA” means Biologics License Application.  

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.  

“Business Day” means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or a statutory holiday in British Columbia, Canada. 

“Canaccord” means Canaccord Genuity Corp. 

“CAGR” means compound annual growth rates. 

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer. 

“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer. 

“cGMP” means current Good Manufacturing Practice. 

“CnE” means cyclin E. 

 “Common Share” means a common share in the capital of the Company. 

“Company” means Defence Therapeutics Inc., a company incorporated on July 18, 2017 under the Business 

Corporations Act (Québec) and continued under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on July 10, 2020. 

“company” means unless specifically indicated otherwise, a corporation, incorporated association or organization, 

body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual.  

“Conditional Approval” means the approval issued by the CSE for listing of the Common Shares. 



  

 - 6 - 

 

 

 

 “CSE” or the “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange operated by the CNSX Markets Inc. 

“CTA” means a Clinical Trial Application. 

“CTSO” means Chief Technical Science Officer. 

“DCs” means dendritic cells. 

“DRS” means the Direct Registration System. 

“Escrow Agent” means Computershare Trust Company of Canada.  

“Escrowed Securities” means the Common Shares to be held in escrow and released over a 36-month period pursuant 

to the Escrow Agreement. 

“Escrow Agreement” means the NP 46-201 escrow agreement to be entered into on or before the Prospectus Receipt 

Date among the Company, the Escrow Agent and certain shareholders of the Company.  

 “Exchange Requirements” means the articles, by-laws, policies, circulars, rules, guidelines, orders, notices, rulings, 

forms, decisions and regulations of the Exchange as from time to time enacted, any instructions, decisions and 

directions of the Exchange (including those of any committee of the Exchange as appointed from time to time), and 

all applicable provisions of the securities laws of any other jurisdiction. 

“Expiry Date” means the date an Option granted under the Stock Option Plan expires.   

“FDA” means the Food and Drug Administration in the U.S.   

“FDCA” means the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act in the U.S. 

“Finder’s Warrants” means (a) the 1,071,400 warrants to purchase Common Shares issued to certain eligible finders 

pursuant to the Private Placement, which are exercisable into Common Shares at $0.15 for a period of 36 months after 

becoming a Reporting Issuer, and (b) the 850,000 warrants to purchase Common Shares issued to certain eligible 

finders pursuant to the Unit Offering and the Special Warrant Offering, which are exercisable into Common Shares at 

$0.60 until the earlier of (i) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (ii) December 24, 2025. 

 “First Tranche” means the first tranche of the Private Placement, pursuant to which 15,180,000 Common Shares 

were issued on June 18, 2020 at a price of $0.15 per Common Share. 

“Form 51-102F6” means Form 51-102F6 Statement of Executive Compensation. 

“GCP” means Good Clinical Practice. 

“GLP” means Good Laboratory Practice. 

“GMP” means the Good Manufacturing Practices. 

“Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option under the Stock Option Plan, which 

is also the date the Option comes into effect.  

 

“IND” means Investigational New Drug. 

“Insider” means: 

(a) a director or senior officer of the Company;  

(b) a director or senior officer of the Company that is an Insider or subsidiary of the Company, 

(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, Common Shares carrying more 

than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the Company; or 
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(d) the Company itself if it holds any of its own securities.

“Interim Financial Statements” means the unaudited interim financial statements of the Company for the six 

months ended December 31, 2020. 

“IRB” means Independent Review Boards. 

“Listing” means the listing of the Company’s Common Shares on the CSE under the trading symbol “DTC” or such 

other symbol approved by the Exchange. 

“Listing Date” means the date that the Common Shares are listed on the CSE or another stock exchange recognized 

under provincial securities laws. 

“mAb” means monoclonal antibody. 

“MD&A” means management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and operating results.  

“Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs” has the meaning set forth under “Executive Compensation”. 

“NDS” means a New Drug Submission submitted to Health Canada. 

“NI 41-101” means National Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements. 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees. 

“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices.  

“NLS” means nuclear localization signal. 

“NOL” means a No Objection Letter issued from Health Canada. 

 “NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings. 

“Option” or “Options” means options issued pursuant to the Stock Option Plan. 

 “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, 

the Personal Representative of such person.  

“Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement” means the Intellectual Property Assignment and Royalty 

Agreement amongst Accum Therapeutics, Michel Delisle, TTS, Simon Beaudoin and Jeffrey Leyton. 

“Person” or “Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency 

of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group 

for the purpose of acquiring, holding or disposing of securities of the Company, such syndicate or group will be 

deemed to be a Person or Entity.  

“Personal Representative” means: 

a) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a

court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and

b) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled

by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

 “Private Placement” means the non-brokered private placement of the Company of 21,415,000 Common Shares at 

a price of $0.15 per Common Share for gross proceeds of $3,212,250, the First Tranche of which completed on June 

18, 2020 and pursuant to which 15,180,000 Common Shares were issued, the Second Tranche of which completed on 

August 31, 2020 and pursuant to which 4,200,000 Common Shares were issued, the Third Tranche of which completed 

on October 9, 2020 and pursuant to which 2,035,000 Common Shares were issued. 
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“Promoter” means (a) a person or company who, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other persons, 

companies or a combination thereof, directly or indirectly, takes the initiative in founding, organizing or substantially 

reorganizing the business of an issuer, or (b) a person or company who, in connection with the founding, organizing 

or substantial reorganizing of the business of an issuer, directly or indirectly, receives in consideration of services or 

property, or both services and property, 10% or more of any class of securities of the issuer or 10% or more of the 

proceeds from the sale of any class of securities of a particular issue, but a person or company who receives such 

securities or proceeds either solely as underwriting commissions or solely in consideration of property will not be 

deemed a promoter within the meaning of this definition if such person or company does not otherwise take part in 

founding, organizing, or substantially reorganizing the business.  

“Prospectus” has the meaning as set forth on the face page of this Prospectus. 

“Prospectus Receipt Date” means the date that a receipt for a final prospectus qualifying the distribution of the 

Qualified Securities is issued to the Company from the securities regulatory authorities in the province of British 

Columbia, Ontario, Alberta and Manitoba. 

“Qualified Securities” has the meaning as set forth on the face page of this Prospectus. 

“REB” means Research Ethics Boards. 

“Regulatory Authorities” means all securities commission or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction 

over the Company.  

“Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and 

other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or 

amendment of the Stock Option Plan or the Options granted from time to time thereunder, including, without 

limitation, those of the applicable Regulatory Authorities.  

“Reporting Issuer” means, inter alia, a company that has issued securities in respect of which a prospectus was filed 

and a receipt was issued by a Securities Commission of a province in Canada, has any securities that have been listed 

and trading on an exchange in Canada or completed a takeover with a listed issuer. 

“RPII” means the enzyme RNA Polymerase II. 

“Second Tranche” means the second tranche of the Private Placement, pursuant to which 4,200,000 Common Shares 

were issued on August 31, 2020 at a price of $0.15 per Common Share. 

“Sediamek” means Sediamek Inc. 

“Shareholders” means holders of Common Shares. 

“Special Warrant Certificate” means a certificate representing Special Warrants. 

“Socpra” means Socpra Sciences Sante Et Humaines, S.e.c., operating under the name of TransferTech Sherbrooke, 

a limited partnership constituted under the Civil Code of Quebec. 

“Special Warrant Exercise Date” means the date the Special Warrants are deemed to have been exercised into one 

Common Share, which is the earlier of the date that is (i) the third Business Day after the Prospectus Receipt Date and 

(ii) four months and one day after the issue date of the Special Warrants.  

“Special Warrant Offering” means the non-brokered private placement of the Company of 6,137,000 Special 

Warrants for gross proceeds of $3,682,200 which completed on December 24, 2020 and January 25, 2021, and which 

will result in the deemed exercise of Special Warrants for 6,137,000 Common Shares and 6,137,000 Warrants.  

“Special Warrantholder” means holders of Special Warrants. 

“Special Warrants” means the special warrants issued by the Company at a price of $0.60 per Special Warrant, 

pursuant to the Special Warrant Offering entitling the holder thereof to acquire, for no additional consideration, one 

Common Share and one Warrant pursuant to the terms and conditions in the Special Warrant Certificates. 
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“Stock Option Plan” means the 10% rolling stock option plan of the Company providing for the granting of incentive 

Options to the Company’s directors, officers, employees and consultants in accordance with the rules and policies of 

the Exchange. 

“Unit Offering” means the non-brokered private placement of the Company of 2,588,000 Units at a price of $0.60 

per Unit for gross proceeds of $1,552,800, which completed on December 24, 2020 and January 25, 2021. 

“Units” means units of the Company sold pursuant to the Unit Offering, with each Unit comprised of one common 

share and one Unit Warrant. 

“Unit Warrant” means the Common Share purchase warrants of the Company issued pursuant to the Unit Offering, 

with each Unit Warrant entitling the holder to acquire one Common Share at a price of $1.25 per Common Share until 

the earlier of (a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) five years from the issue date of the Units. 

“Third Tranche” means the third tranche of the Private Placement, pursuant to which 2,035,000 Common Shares 

were issued on October 9, 2020 at a price of $0.15 per Common Share. 

 

“Transfer Agent” means the transfer agent and registrar of the Company, anticipated to be Computershare Trust 

Company of Canada. 

“TTS” means TransferTech Sherbooke. 

“U.S.” or “United States” means the United States of America, its territories or its possessions, any state of the United 

States or the District of Columbia. 

“U.S. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

“VP” means vice president. 

“Warrant Certificate” means a warrant certificate representing warrants issued by the Company.  

“Warrant Shares” means the Common Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants. 

“Warrants” means the Common Share purchase warrants of the Company issuable upon deemed exercise of the 

Special Warrants entitling the holder to acquire one Common Share at a price of $1.25 per Common Share until the 

earlier of (a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) five years from the issue date of the Special Warrants. 
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CURRENCY PRESENTATION 

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references to US$ are to 

United State (US) dollars. Canadian dollars are denoted as $ or C$. 

The daily exchange rate on January 27, 2021, as reported by the Bank of Canada for the conversion of United 

States dollars into Canadian dollars was US$1.00 equals $1.2775.  

INTERPRETATION 

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Prospectus to “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company” 

refer to Defence Therapeutics Inc., a British Columbia company. 

Certain capitalized terms and phrases used in this Prospectus are defined under “Glossary of General Terms”. 

Words importing the singular number include the plural, and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all 

genders. 

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

This Prospectus contains statements and information that, to the extent that they are not historical fact, may 

constitute “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable securities legislation.  Forward-looking 

information may include financial and other projections, as well as statements regarding future plans, objectives or 

economic performance, or the assumption underlying any of the foregoing.  This Prospectus uses words such as “may”, 

“would”, “could”, “will”, “likely”, “except”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “intend”, “plan”, “forecast”, “project”, 

“estimate”, “outlook”, and other similar expressions to identify forward-looking information.  These forward-looking 

statements include, among other things, statements relating to: 

 the deemed exercise of the Special Warrants on the Special Warrants Exercise Date;

 the share capital of the Company;

 the Listing on the CSE;

 the executive compensation of the Company;

 the composition of the Board and management of the Company;

 the Company’s expectations regarding its revenue, expenses and research and development operations;

 the Company’s anticipated cash needs and its needs for additional financing;

 the Company’s intention to grow the business and its operations;

 expectations with respect to the success of its research and development of its products;

 expectations regarding the Company’s growth rates and growth plans and strategies;

 the medical benefits, safety, and efficacy of its products;

 the Company’s competitive position and the regulatory environment in which the Company operates;

 the Company’s expected business objectives for the next 12 months;

 the Company’s plans with respect to the payment of dividends;

 beliefs and intentions regarding the ownership of patents, material trademarks and domain names used in

connection with the design, production, marketing, distribution and sale of its products; and

 the Company’s ability to obtain additional funds through the sale of equity or debt commitments.

Forward-looking information is based on the reasonable assumptions, estimates, analysis and opinions of 

management made in light of its experience and its perception of trends, current conditions and expected 

developments, as well as other factors that management believes to be relevant and reasonable in the circumstances 

at the date that such statements are made, but which may prove to be incorrect.  The material factors and assumptions 

used to develop the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus include, without limitation: 

 the ability to obtain Listing approval from the CSE;

 obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals;

 that regulatory requirements will be maintained;

 general business and economic conditions;

 the Company’s ability to successfully execute its plans and intentions;

 the availability of financing on reasonable terms;

 the Company’s ability to attract and retain skilled staff;
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 market competition;  

 the products offered by the Company’s competitors; and  

 that the Company’s current good relationships with the Company’s suppliers, service providers and other 

third parties will be maintained.  

Although the Company believes that the assumptions underlying these statements are reasonable, they may 

prove to be incorrect, and the Company cannot assure that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking 

statements. Given these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, readers should not place undue reliance on these forward-

looking statements. Whether actual results, performance or achievements will conform to the Company’s expectations 

and predictions is subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors. For 

a more detailed discussion of certain of these risk factors, see “Risk Factors”. 

If any of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements 

prove incorrect, actual results might vary materially from those anticipated in those forward-looking statements. The 

assumptions referred to above and described in greater detail under “Risk Factors” should be considered carefully by 

readers. 

The Company’s forward-looking statements are based on the reasonable beliefs, expectations and opinions 

of management on the date of this Prospectus (or as of the date they are otherwise stated to be made). Although the 

Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 

contained in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, 

estimated or intended.  There is no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future 

events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue 

reliance on forward-looking statements. We do not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statements, 

except as, and to the extent required by, applicable securities laws in Canada.  

All of the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus are expressly qualified by the foregoing 

cautionary statements. Investors should read this entire Prospectus and consult their own professional advisors to 

assess the income tax, legal, risk factors and other aspects of their investment. 

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

Market and industry data presented throughout this Prospectus was obtained from third party sources, 

industry reports and publications, websites and other publicly available information, as well as industry and other data 

prepared by us or on our behalf on the basis of our knowledge of the Canadian and United States pharmaceutical 

markets and economy (including our opinions, estimates and assumptions relating to the market for psychedelics and 

economy based on that knowledge). We believe that the market and economic data presented throughout this 

Prospectus is accurate and, with respect to data prepared by us or on our behalf, that our opinions, estimates and 

assumptions are currently appropriate and reasonable, but there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness 

thereof. The accuracy and completeness of the market and economic data presented throughout this Prospectus are 

not guaranteed and neither we nor the Agent make any representation as to the accuracy of such data. Actual outcomes 

may vary materially from those forecast in such reports or publications, and the prospect for material variation can be 

expected to increase as the length of the forecast period increases. Although we believe it to be reliable, neither we 

nor the Agent have independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Prospectus, 

analyzed or verified the underlying studies relied upon or referred to by such sources, or ascertained the underlying 

market, economic and other assumptions relied upon by such sources. Market and economic data is subject to 

variations and cannot be verified due to limits on the availability and reliability of data inputs and other limitations 

and uncertainties. 

 

 



 

 

 

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

The following is a summary of the principal features of this distribution and should be read together with 

the more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

 

The 

Company: 

The Company is a biotechnology company engaged in the business of research and development, 

focusing on enhancing delivery of tumor-/ and infectious disease-specific therapeutics. The Company was 

incorporated on July 18, 2017 under the Business Corporations Act (Québec) under the name Accum 

Therapeutics Inc. On March 26, 2020, the Company changed its name to Defence Therapeutics Inc. and 

on July 10, 2020, the Company was continued into British Columbia under the BCBCA. The Company is 

based in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. See “Corporate Structure”. 

  

Business of 

the Company:  
The principal business carried on by the Company is the development of a biological drug enhancer 

platform that improves the efficacy and safety of multitude biological/biosimilar-based pharmaceuticals 

used in the treatment of cancer and infectious diseases.  

The Company’s Accum technology takes multitude biological/biosimilar-based pharmaceutical to a bold 

new frontier by enabling efficient intracellular access while maintaining target cell specificity. The 

Company’s product pipeline focuses on the effective intracellular access by different type of cell-based 

and protein-based vaccine and by protein-delivery systems such as monoclonal antibody (mAb)-based 

therapies. The Company is actively seeking licensing, acquisition or partnership opportunities from 

industry and academia, in order to continue to develop this technology and bring it to market.  

See “General Development and Business of the Company”. 

 

The Special 

Warrant 

Offering: 

Pursuant to the Special Warrant Offering, the Company issued an aggregate of 6,137,000 Special Warrants 

for gross proceeds of $3,682,200 on December 24, 2020 and January 25, 2021. See “Plan of Distribution” 

and “Description of Securities Distributed”. 

  

Issue Price: C$0.60 per Special Warrant 

  

Qualified 

Securities   

This Prospectus is being filed to qualify the distribution of 6,137,000 Common Shares and 6,137,000  

Warrants upon the deemed exercise of 6,137,000 issued and outstanding Special Warrants.  

  

Listing The Company intends to list its Common Shares on the CSE under the trading symbol “DTC” or such other 

symbol accepted by the CSE. Listing is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the requirements of the 

Exchange, including minimum public distribution requirements. See “Plan of Distribution”.  

  

Use of 

Proceeds: 

The Company will use the funds available to it, including the net proceeds from the Special Warrant 

Offering, to further its business objectives. Specifically, the Company will use the funds available to it as 

follows:  

 Principal Purpose Amount to be Expended 

 Research and Development (External proof of concept in patient-

derived xenograft (PDX) breast cancer model) 

$100,000 

 Research and Development (Validation of two Accum-ADC and 

Accum-α(a)-ADC technology platform) 

$400,000 
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 Research and Development (Development of a COVID-19 

vaccine candidate (Protein-based vaccine) 

$250,000 

 Research and Development (Development of cancer vaccine 

candidates (cell and protein-based) 

$500,000 

 Research and Development (Remaining ADC budget) $250,000 

 Research and Development (In addition to the primary business 

objectives) 

$1,000,000 

 Intellectual Property (Ongoing Costs) $100,000 

 Intellectual Property (Acquisition and Development) $275,000 

 Consultant Fees and Executive Officer Salaries $419,675 

 General and Administrative (Legal and Audit) $75,000 

 General and Administrative (Public Company Costs)  $50,000 

 General and Administrative (Insurance, Office and Other) $100,000 

 Marketing and Promotion $250,000 

 Publications and Conferences $23,000 

 Working capital and general and administrative expenses  $2,707,325 

 TOTAL $6,500,000 

 There may be circumstances, where for business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary in order 

for the Company to achieve its stated business objectives.  See “Use of Available Funds”. 

 

Directors and 

Officers of the 

Company: 

The Board consists of Sébastien Plouffe, P. Joseph Meagher, Moutih Rafei, Raimar Löbenberg and Sarkis 

Meterissian.  The officers of the Company consist of Sébastien Plouffe (CEO), P. Joseph Meagher (CFO), 

Carrie Cesarone (Corporate Secretary), Dr. Simon Beaudoin (CTSO) and Dr. Moutih Rafei (VP Research 

and Development).  

  

Selected 

Consolidated 

Financial 

Information: 

Summary of Selected Financial Information 

The following selected financial information has been derived from and is qualified in its entirety 

by the annual financial statements of the Company for the years ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 

(audited), the interim financial statements of the Company for the six months ended December 31, 2020 

(unaudited) and notes thereto included in this Prospectus and should be read in conjunction with the 

financial statements, notes thereto and related Management’s Discussion & Analysis. All financial 

statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with IFRS. See “Selected Financial Information 

and Management’s Discussion and Analysis.” 

All amounts referred to as being derived from the financial statements of the Company are denoted in 

Canadian Dollars. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Data   

 
As at 

December 31, 2020 

(unaudited) 

($) 

As at  

June 30, 2020 

(audited) 

($) 

As at  

June 30, 2019 

(audited) 

($) 

Cash 7,077,195 1,865,927 766 

Other assets 90,507 46,018 6,999 
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Total assets 7,167,702 1,911,945 7,765 

Liabilities 75,596 48,351 7,839 

Shareholders’ equity 

(deficiency) 

7,092,106 1,863,594 (74) 

Total liabilities and 

shareholders’ equity 

7,167,702 1,911,945 7,765 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss Data 

For the six 

months ended 

December 31, 

2020 

(unaudited) 

($) 

For the year 

ended 

June 30, 

2020 

(audited) 

($) 

For the year 

ended 

June 30, 

2019 

(audited) 

($) 

Expense…………………………………………… 483,760 673,182 41,946 

Interest income…………………………………… - - - 

Other income……………………………………. - - 40,000 

Foreign exchange loss……………………………. - - - 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period …. (483,760) (673,182) (1,946) 

See “Selected Financial Information and Management’s Discussion and Analysis.” 

Risk Factors: Due to the nature of the Company’s business and the present stage of development of its business, the 

Company is subject to significant risks.  Readers should carefully consider all such risks. The risks 

described herein are not the only risks that affect the Company. Other risks and uncertainties that the 

Company does not presently consider to be material, or of which the Company is not presently aware, may 

become important factors that affect the Company’s future business prospectus, financial condition and 

results of operations. For a detailed description of these risks see “Risk Factors”. 



CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Incorporation and Offices 

Defence Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on July 18, 2017 under the Business 

Corporations Act (Québec) under the name Accum Therapeutics Inc. On March 26, 2020, the Company changed its 

name to Defence Therapeutics Inc. and on July 10, 2020, the Company was continued into British Columbia under 

the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia).  The head office of the Company is located at 1680 – 200 Burrard 

Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3L6 and the registered and records office of the Company is located at 

1680 – 200 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3L6. The Company has no subsidiaries.  

The Company completed the Special Warrant Offering on December 24, 2020 and January 25, 2021, issuing 

an aggregate of 6,137,000 Special Warrants at a price of $0.60 per Special Warrant for aggregate gross proceeds of 

$3,682,200.  See “Plan of Distribution” and “Description of Securities Distributed”. 

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY 

Overview 

The principal business carried on by the Company is the business of research and development focusing on enhancing 

intracellular delivery of biological/biosimilar therapeutic drugs targeting cancer and infectious diseases.  

The Company’s Accum technology takes multitude biological/biosimilar-based pharmaceutical to a bold new frontier 

by enabling efficient intracellular access to a given biological while maintaining target cell specificity. The Company’s 

product pipeline focuses on the effective intracellular access by different type of vaccine (DNA, RNA and protein) 

and by protein-delivery system such as monoclonal antibody (mAb)-based therapies. The Company is actively seeking 

licensing, acquisition or partnership opportunities from industry and academia, in order to continue to develop this 

technology and bring it to market. The Accum technology platform is functional, operational and is currently in use 

for both ADC- and vaccine-related projects, as detailed below. 

Development of Core Technology 

Cell Accumulator (Accum) 

The Company’s core technological research is based around addressing a major and common challenge in the vaccine 

and antibody drug conjugates (“ADCs”) fields limiting their efficacy:  their entrapment in small intracellular vesicles 

named endosomes and lysosomes (Fig. 1).  

Fig. 1 - Internalization and vesicle entrapment limitation 
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Internalization Process: When the target cell binds and internalizes an antigen or an ADC, the complex is entrapped 

inside intracellular small vesicles named endosomes. Ultimately, these endosomes undergo maturation consequently 

leading to their degradation prior to eliciting their respective role/function. This endosome-lysosome entrapment is a 

major issue limiting the efficacy of those types of therapy. 

 

The Company’s goal is to use the Accum enhancer formulation to improve intracellular delivery of biological 

therapeutic agents by inducing their escape to the cytosol consequently improving their therapeutic efficacy. Accum 

is a compound composed of a bile acid, as cholic acid, linked to a short peptide that contains an optimized non-

unspecific cell-penetrating nuclear localization signal (“NLS”) peptide (Fig.2).  

 

Fig. 2 

 

 
 

 

Accum is composed by a bile acid such as cholic acid and a nuclear localization signal (NLS). Accum moiety is 

covalently link to an antigen or an ADC by using different protein conjugation methodology. 

 

Only the combination of bile acid and nuclear localization activity of the NLS enables escape of the therapeutic agent 

from endosome-lysosome entrapment and efficiently localize inside the cytoplasm and/or nucleus.1 

 

Effective Vaccine Design 

 

The Accum technology is highly suitable to the vaccination field. More specifically, antigens that are normally 

captured by dendritic cells (“DCs”) - the best antigen-presenting cells present in our body- are first entrapped in 

endosomes.2 While maturation of these endosomal organelles occurs, the pH decreases (becomes acidic ⁓4-5) in order 

to trigger the activation of specific enzymes as a means to initiate non-specific antigen degradation.2 As a result, the 

generated fragments can then pass through endosomal pores to reach the cytoplasm where specific antigen degradation 

takes place by the proteasomal machinery. Although this process occurs naturally, the generated antigen fragments 

are often damaged, which renders them unsuitable for proteasomal degradation (See Fig. 3 below).2 

 

By using the Accum technology, captured antigens are preserved in their natural conformation while being delivered 

to the cytoplasm. As such, proteasomal degradation ends-up leading to a higher number of immunogenic and stable 

peptides presented at the surface of DCs and capable of eliciting potent T-cell activation (See Fig. 3 below).     

 

                                                 
1 S. Beaudoin et al., Mol Pharm., 2016; B. Paquette et al., Bioconjug Chem., 2018; V. Lacasse et al., Mol Ther 

Methods Clin Dev. 2020. 
2 Rodriguez A. et al. Nature Cell Biology, 1999; I. Dingjan et al. Scientific Reports 2016; P. Kozik et al. Cell 

Reports, 2020. 
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Fig. 3. A rendered comparison of the different outcomes in antigen degradation in the absence or presence of 

the Accum technology. 

 

To date, research conducted by the Company has found that the addition of Accum enhances the therapeutic efficacy 

of cell-based vaccination with an increase survival rate of 50-80% (therapeutic vaccination). For instance, the use of 

allogeneic DCs using doses ranging from 300,000 cells to 30,000 cells per injection has been tested for its efficacy to 

cure established tumors. The studies show that two doses of 300,000 cells delivered a week apart can-significantly 

enhance the curing rate leading to enhanced survival (approximate cost of the project is estimate to be $250,000). In 

parallel, the Company has already began testing two different COVID-19-based vaccination protocols. In the first 

protocol, the protein is being directly injected with or without two different adjuvants (AddaSO3TM and AddaVaxtm). 

Generated data clearly demonstrate enhanced production of IgG titer with the use of the AddaSO3TM adjuvant. The 

second approach consists of delivering a DC-based cellular vaccine. In this case, DCs treated with Accum-S1 are 

inducing a significantly higher antibody titer than DCs treated with standard DCs. Additional studies are being 

prepared to test the vaccine following its intranasal or oral delivery in both young and old animals (to translate the 

vaccine potency for the elderly). The projected cost for this pre-clinical project is $250,000. Current studies are 

underway to identify the best dosing as a means to develop a universal cell-based cancer vaccine. In sum, the Company 

is actively developing therapeutic and prophylaxis vaccines against cancer and infectious diseases (eg. COVID-19,) 

respectively. 

 

Effective Design of ADCs 

 

The following section will discuss ADC’s as an oncological pharmaceutical which localizes chemotherapeutic action 

at the site of the tumor and thereby reduces systemic toxicity associated with traditional chemotherapy. One challenge 

posed by ADCs is that the reliance of ADCs on lysosomal delivery results in insufficient intracellular accumulation 

of the delivered chemotherapeutic necessary for potent tumor killing.3 The Company’s Accum platform induces small 

intracellular vesicle rupture, targeting drugs to the nucleus of the cell therefore improving their overall intracellular 

accumulation. 

 

To date, we have demonstrated that the Accum technology enhances the ability of ADC Kadcyla (T-DM1) to kill 

specifically targeted breast cancer cells. Accum improves the escape of ADC Kadcyla from endosomes and targeting 

the nucleus. In addition, Accum also enables the treatment to overcome a resistance mechanism against T-DM1, breast 

cancer cells reduce the number of receptors at the cell surface limiting the amount of drug T-DM1 is able to deliver 

                                                 
3 R. Gilabert-Oriol et al., Curr Pharm Dev., 2014; DM. Collins et al., Cancers (Basel), 2019. 
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inside the cell.4 As a result, the Company believes that the Accum technology will be able to increase T-DM1 

effectiveness with further development. The Company anticipates that the budget to modify the ADCs with Accum 

will initially be $250,000 and an additional $250,000 for each of the types of ADC the Company is targeting, resulting 

in an approximate research and development budget for ADCs of $1,500,000. (Fig. 4).  

 

Fig. 4. 

 

 
The ⍺-amanitin (⍺A), which is one of the deadliest toxins known to mankind and is the principal agent of the amatoxin 

family of compounds produced by Amanita phalloides. ⍺A specifically inhibits the enzyme RNA Polymerase II 

(RPII), which is responsible for synthesizing RNA from DNA. Due to ⍺A being highly toxic, it must be targeted to 

have a clinically acceptable therapeutic window. ⍺A has previously been developed as an ADC and shown to 

effectively kill colorectal cancer (Liu et al.,Nature, 2015). An ⍺A-ADC is most effective in tumor cells with a 

hemizygous loss of the well-known tumor suppressor gene TP53. The partial genomic deletion of TP53 frequently 

encompasses the neighboring RPII gene. However, ⍺A-ADC is ineffective against tumor cells with full RPII gene 

expression.  

 

Thus, the ability of Accum to increase the intracellular accumulation of ADCs is a potential strategy to increase the 

effectiveness of ⍺A-ADCs independently of genomic alteration. Currently, the Company has formed a strategic 

partnership with Heidelberg Pharma in developing its Accum-⍺A-ADCs platform. Heidelberg Pharma is carrying out 

research with respect to applying the Accum technology to certain bladder cancer therapies, and the parties will 

                                                 
4 V. Lacasse et al., Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev. 2020. 
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negotiate a formal agreement should such research result in positive findings. Heidelberg Pharma is a publicly listed, 

biopharmaceutical company focused on oncology. Heidelberg Pharma is the first company developing the toxin ⍺A 

into cancer therapies.  

 

The Company’s preliminary data shows that modification of an ADC conjugated with ⍺A targeting aggressive breast 

cancer increased cell killing by factors of 2000 and 73 relative to the approved breast cancer ADC (T-DM1) and the 

matched ⍺A-ADC without the Accum-modification. 

Three Year History 

 

On May 12, 2017, prior to the incorporation of the Company, Accum Therapeutics Inc. (“Accum”), a precursor entity 

to the Company and Michel Delisle, who would become a principal of the Company, entered into an Intellectual 

Property Assignment and Royalty Agreement (the “Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement”) with 

TransferTech Sherbrooke, a limited liability partnership (“TTS”) and Jeffrey Leyton, a Professor at the Université de 

Sherbrooke and the Company’s Head of ADCs and Nuclear Targeted Strategies Developments. The Original IP 

Assignment and Royalty Agreement assigns Jeffrey Leyton’s invention known as “Novel Immunoconjugates with 

cholic acid nuclear localization sequence peptide and uses thereof” (the “Accum Invention”) and any related 

intellectual property to Accum. 

 

On May 20, 2020, the Company and TTS entered into an Amended and Restated Intellectual Property Assignment 

and Royalty Agreement (the “Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement”) which amends, restates, and 

supersedes the Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement, assigning the Accum Invention and any related 

intellectual property to the Company in exchange for consideration consisting of a (i) a $25,000 cash payment, (ii) the 

issuance of 2,085,714 Common Shares, which represented 30% of the Common Shares on a fully-diluted basis upon 

their issuance and are subject to a 36 months voluntary escrow see “Escrowed Securities and Resale Restrictions” 

below, (iii) certain milestone payments payable in connection with various clinical and regulatory milestones relating 

to the Accum Invention and any related or derivative inventions and (iv) a royalty payment of three percent (3%) 

calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities involving the Accum Invention and four percent (4%) 

calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities involving any new inventions that the Company acquires 

through exercise of its exclusive option to acquire new inventions pursuant to the Amended IP Assignment and 

Royalty Agreement. The Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement may be terminated by TTS in the event of 

a material breach by the Company (subject to a 30-day notice and cure provision), which material breach would 

include the Company failing to prosecute, maintain, protect and defend the intellectual property and technology 

associated with the Accum Invention, including the patents associated therewith, in order to preserve their value. On 

termination of the Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement, all intellectual property rights, patents, and 

technology associated with the Accum Invention, as well as any new inventions developed in connection therewith, 

must be transferred back to TTS at a nominal value and at the Company’s expense. The intellectual property rights, 

patents, and technology associated with the Accum Invention, as well as any new inventions developed in connection 

therewith, must also be reassigned to TTS for one dollar if the Company fails to pursue significant commercial 

activities after five years of the Agreement and further fails to sell the intellectual property rights, patents, and 

technology associated with the Accum Invention within 4-months from its failure to commercialize. The Agreement 

would also be terminated if a court of competent jurisdiction were to declare the Accum patent invalid. For additional 

information regarding the Accum Invention and related intellectual property, see “Intellectual Property” below. 

 

On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into the executive consulting agreements for the services of the 

following consultants: Sébastien Plouffe (CEO), P. Joseph Meagher (CFO), Carrie Cesarone (Corporate Secretary), 

Dr. Simon Beaudoin (CTSO) and Dr. Moutih Rafei (VP Research and Development). For additional information, see 

“Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” below. 

 

On September 18, 2020, the Company also entered into a consultant services agreement with Axiom Services Inc 

(“Axiom”), a Company of which Dr. Moutih Rafei (VP Research and Development and a director of the Company) 

is a principal, in connection with the provision of services relating to the completion of a study on the Accum 

technology.  For additional information, see “Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” below. 
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On December 1, 2020, the Company entered into an Option and Right of First Refusal Agreement (the “Option and 

Right of First Refusal Agreement”) with WASSC Technologie Inc. (“WASSC”), a company owned and controlled 

by Simon Beaudoin. Under the terms of this agreement, WASSC, which has invented certain targeted antibody-drug 

conjugate cancer treatment (the “WASSC Technology”) has granted the Company a two year option to purchase the 

WASSC Technology and various assets and intellectual property rights associated therewith for a sum of $75,000 and 

an agreement to incur certain additional future expenditures in connection with the development of the WASSC 

Technology totaling a minimum of $300,000. The Option and Right of First Refusal Agreement also includes a 5-year 

right of first refusal in favor of the Company with respect to the WASSC Technology. A failure to exercise the option 

could arise if it was determined by management that the WASSC technology did not result in sufficient proven value, 

in which case the Company would have to redirect its Research & Development capital toward developing alternative 

technologies. This could result in a significant loss in value and it is uncertain if the Company could develop any 

alternative technologies with similar potential. See also “Risk Factors”.  

 

On December 1, 2020, the Company and the University of Montreal entered into a Collaborative Research Agreement 

for the development of protein- and cell-based vaccines using the Accum technology. Pursuant to the terms of the 

agreement, the research and development work is to be carried out at the University of Montreal by Dr. Moutih Rafei, 

who is also an Associate Professor at the Department of Pharmacology and Physiology at the University of Montreal, 

and the Company is obligated to expend $54,608, representing 40% of the overhead cost relating to the cost of the 

research project. This agreement expires on December 31, 2021 unless terminated sooner in accordance with the 

provisions thereof. 

Private Placements 

 

On June 18, 2020, the Company closed the First Tranche of the Private Placement, pursuant to which it issued 

15,180,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per Common Shares for gross proceeds of $2,277,000. In connection 

with the First Tranche, the Company paid finder’s fees of $227,700 and issued 1,518,000 Finder’s Warrants. Each 

Finder’s Warrant is exercisable into Common Shares at a price of $0.15 for a period of 36 months following the 

Company becoming a Reporting Issuer.  

 

On August 31, 2020, the Company closed the Second Tranche of the Private Placement, pursuant to which it issued 

4,200,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per Common Shares for gross proceeds of $630,000. In connection with 

the Second Tranche, the Company compensated finders with a cash fee of $34,650 and the issuance of 189,000 

Common Shares and 420,000 Finder’s Warrants. Each Finder’s Warrant is exercisable into Common Shares at a price 

of $0.15 for a period of 36 months following the Company becoming a Reporting Issuer. 

 

On October 9, 2020, the Company closed the Third Tranche of the Private Placement, pursuant to which it issued 

2,035,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per Common Shares for gross proceeds of $305,250. In connection with 

the Third Tranche, the Company compensated finders with a cash fee of $13,431 and the issuance of 113,960 Common 

Shares and 203,500 Finder’s Warrants. Each Finder’s Warrant is exercisable into Common Shares at a price of $0.15 

for a period of 36 months following the Company becoming a Reporting Issuer. 

 

Half of the Common Shares issued pursuant to the Private Placement are subject to a voluntary escrow for a period of 

six months from the Listing Date, see “Escrowed Securities and Resale Restrictions” below.  

 

On December 24, 2020, the Company closed the first tranche of the Special Warrant Offering, pursuant to which it 

issued on a private-placement basis 6,000,000 Special Warrants at a price of $0.60 per Special Warrant for gross 

proceeds of $3,600,000. Each Special Warrant will be converted into one Common Share and one Warrant, and each 

Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one Common Share at a price of $1.25 per Common Share until the earlier of 

(a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) December 24, 2025. In connection with the Special Warrant 

Offering, the Company paid finder’s fees of $360,000 and issued 600,000 Finder’s Warrants. Each Finder’s Warrant 

issued under the Special Warrant Offering is exercisable into Common Shares at a price of $0.60 until the earlier of 

(a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) December 24, 2025. 

On December 24, 2020, the Company closed the first tranche of the Unit Offering, pursuant to which it issued on a 

private-placement basis 2,584,000 Units at a price of $0.60 per Unit for gross proceeds of $1,550,400. Each Unit is 
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comprised of one common share and one Unit Warrant, and each Unit Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one 

Common Share at a price of $1.25 per Common Share until the earlier of (a) a period of two years from the Listing 

Date; and (b) December 24, 2025. In connection with the Unit Offering, the Company paid finder’s fees of $150,000 

and issued 250,000 Finder’s Warrants. Each Finder’s Warrant issued under the Unit Offering is exercisable into 

Common Shares at a price of $0.60 until the earlier of (a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) 

December 24, 2025. 

 

On January 25, 2021, the Company closed the second tranche of the Special Warrant Offering, pursuant to which it 

issued on a private-placement basis 137,000 Special Warrants at a price of $0.60 per Special Warrant for gross 

proceeds of $82,200. Each Special Warrant will be converted into one Common Share and one Warrant, and each 

Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one Common Share at a price of $1.25 per Common Share until the earlier of 

(a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) January 25, 2026.  

On January 25, 2021, the Company closed the second tranche of the Unit Offering, pursuant to which it issued on a 

private-placement basis 4,000 Units at a price of $0.60 per Unit, for gross proceeds of $2,400.  Each Unit is comprised 

of one common share and one Unit Warrant, and each Unit Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one Common Share 

at a price of $1.25 per Common Share until the earlier of (a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) 

January 25, 2026.  

Intellectual Property 

Vaccines 

On December 18, 2020, the Company filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office its provisional patent 

application N° 63/127,731, “Covalently Modified Antigens for Improved Immune Response”, invented by Dr. Simon 

Beaudoin, with proof-of-concept completed by Dr. Moutih Rafei. This patent application relates to covalently 

modified antigens to enhance or modify their immunogenicity and, more specifically, polypeptide antigens covalently 

conjugated to one or more steroid acid moieties for improved cellular immunity. On January 21, 2021, the company 

received the filing receipt from the United States Patent and Trademark Office confirming the filing date for this patent 

application, which is a significant step in progressing its vaccine development objectives. In order to claim the benefit 

of the priority filing date established by the provisional application filing, the Company will need to submit a non-

provisional patent application claiming priority to the earlier filed provisional application within 12 months of the 

provisional patent application filing date, namely December 18, 2021.  The Company anticipates submitting a non-

provisional patent application in Q4 2021. 

While the timeline for the US patent application process varies case-by-case and by subject matter area, USPTO 

statistics show that it currently takes an average of approximately 16 months from the non-provisional application 

filing date for a patent examiner to respond to a non-provisional patent application filing (whether in the form of a 

Notice of Allowance or a first non-final Office Action). If a non-final Office Action is issued, then the Company will 

be required to address any deficiencies identified therein. Once the USPTO is satisfied that the non-provisional patent 

application has met all relevant requirements and has addressed all alleged deficiencies, the non-provisional patent 

application of the Company will then be allowed by the USPTO by way of a Notice of Allowance, and the Company 

will have 3 months therefrom to pay the required issue fee to bring the non-provisional patent application to 

registration. 

Accum 

The Company has been assigned the rights to the Accum Invention pursuant to the terms of the Amended IP 

Assignment and Royalty Agreement, which agreement includes the following milestone payments payable in 

connection with various clinical and regulatory milestones, as follows: 

(a) an amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000) payable within thirty (30) days of the completion of the first 

non-rodent positive toxicology study; 

(b) an amount of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) payable within thirty (30) days of the recruitment of 

the first phase l patient; 
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(c) an amount of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) payable within thirty (30) days of the recruitment of the 

first phase 2 patient; 

(d) an amount of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) payable within thirty (30) days of the recruitment 

of the first phase 3 patient; and 

(e) an amount of two hundred and fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) payable within thirty (30) days of the 

first regulatory approval from a relevant registration authority. 

A failure to make the milestones payments could arise if it was determined by management that further development 

of the Accum Invention did not result in sufficient proven value, in which case the Company would have to redirect 

its Research & Development capital toward developing alternative technologies. This could result in a significant loss 

in value and it is uncertain if the Company could develop any alternative technologies with similar potential. See also  

“Risk Factors”. 

 

The Accum Invention presently includes patent applications based on International Patent Application No. 

PCT/CA2017/050337 that entered the National Phase in Canada (patent application no CA3017950), the United States 

(patent application no US16/085,141), Japan (patent application no JP2018568469), Israel (patent application no 

IL261765), Australia (patent application no AU2017233725), and Europe (patent application no EP17765615), as set 

out below:  

 

Patent 

Application 

Number 

Region Title Inventors Applicant Status as of 

December 1, 

2020 

CA3017950Al Canada Conjugates 

enhancing total 

cellular 

accumulation 

Simon Beaudoin 

Jeffrey Victor Leyton 

Defence 

Therapeutics 

Inc.  

Pending: Request 

for examination 

due March 15, 

2022 

US16/085,141 United 

States 

Conjugates 

enhancing total 

cellular 

accumulation 

Simon Beaudoin 

Jeffrey Victor Leyton  

Defence 

Therapeutics 

Inc.  

Pending: Non-

Final Action 

issued Nov. 18, 

2020 

JP2018568469 Japan Conjugates 

enhancing total 

cellular 

accumulation  

Simon Beaudoin 

Jeffrey Victor Leyton  

Defence 

Therapeutics 

Inc.  

Pending: 

Awaiting next 

official 

communication  

IL26 l 765D0 Israel Conjugates 

enhancing total 

cellular 

accumulation  

Simon Beaudoin 

Jeffrey Victor Leyton  

Defence 

Therapeutics 

Inc.  

Pending: 

Awaiting next 

official 

communication  

AU2017233725A

I 

Australia Conjugates 

enhancing total 

cellular 

accumulation  

Simon Beaudoin 

Jeffrey Victor Leyton  

Defence 

Therapeutics 

Inc.  

Pending: Request 

for examination 

due March 15, 

2022 

EP17765615 Europe Conjugates 

enhancing total 

cellular 

accumulation  

Simon Beaudoin 

Jeffrey Victor Leyton  

Defence 

Therapeutics 

Inc.  

Pending: 

Awaiting next 

official 

communication  

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our platform 

technology, product candidates and know-how, to defend and enforce our intellectual property rights, in particular, 

our patent rights, to preserve the confidentiality of our know-how and trade secrets and to operate without infringing 

the proprietary rights of others. We seek to protect our product candidates and technologies by, among other methods, 
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filing Canadian, U.S. and foreign patent applications related to our proprietary technology, inventions and 

improvements that are important to the development of our business. We also rely on trade secrets, know-how, 

continuing technological innovation and in-licensing of third-party intellectual property to develop and maintain our 

proprietary position. We, or our collaborators and licensors, file patent applications directed to our key product 

candidates in an effort to establish intellectual property positions to protect our product candidates as well as uses of 

our product candidates for the prevention and/or treatment of diseases. 

Trademarks 

The Company has applied to register the following trademarks: 

 

Trademark Country Application Number 

ACCUM Canada 2,075,186 

ACCUVAC Canada 2,075,187 

ACCUM US 90/453,057 

ACCUVAC US 90/453,135 

Web Domains 

The Company has use and control over the defencetherapeutics.com domain name. 

 

Employees 

 

The Company has assembled an experienced team of biotech executives and finance professionals to manage its 

research and development and corporate growth. The Company has five executives, Sébastien Plouffe (CEO), P. 

Joseph Meagher (CFO), Carrie Cesarone (Corporate Secretary), Dr. Simon Beaudoin (CTSO) and Dr. Moutih Rafei 

(VP Research and Development), all of whom are engaged pursuant to executive consulting agreements. 

 

For additional information regarding the background of the Company’s executives see “Directors and Executive 

Officers”. 

 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements 

The Company has entered into the following executive consulting agreements with the following executives on the 

following terms: 

i) Sébastien Plouffe – On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into an Executive Consulting Agreement 

(the “Plouffe Consulting Agreement”) with Sediamek Inc. (“Sediamek”), a company incorporated under 

the Companies Act (Quebec) on April 18, 2006, and Sébastien Plouffe, pursuant to which Sediamek would 

provide the services of Sébastien Plouffe to act as the Company’s CEO. Mr. Plouffe is entitled to a monthly 

consulting fee of $7,500 and participation in the Company’s Stock Option Plan, including the issuance of 

400,000 Options at an exercise price of $1.25 per Common Share, exercisable for a maximum period of 3 

years from the date of issue. The Executive Consulting Agreement is for an indefinite term, subject to the 

termination provisions thereof, which provide that Mr. Plouffe will be paid the equivalent of 3 months in 

consulting fees in the event of a termination, by either Mr. Plouffe or the Company, as a result of a change 

in control. Mr. Plouffe is also subject to standard confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation 

provisions. 

ii) P. Joseph Meagher – On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into an Executive Consulting 

Agreement (the “Meagher Consulting Agreement”) with Meagher Consulting Inc. (“Meagher 
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Consulting”) and P. Joseph Meager, pursuant to which Meagher Consulting would provide the services of 

Mr. Meagher to act as the Company’s CFO and a Director. Mr. Meagher is entitled to a monthly consulting 

fee of $6,000 and participation in the Company’s Stock Option Plan, including the issuance of 200,000 

Options at an exercise price of $1.25 per Common Share, exercisable for a maximum period of 3 years from 

the date of issue. The Executive Consulting Agreement is for an indefinite term, subject to the termination 

provisions thereof, which provide that Mr. Meagher will be paid the equivalent of 3 months in consulting 

fees in the event of a termination, by either Mr. Meagher or the Company, as a result of a change in control. 

Mr. Meagher is also subject to standard confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation provisions. 

iii) Carrie Cesarone – On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into an Executive Consulting Agreement 

(the “Cesarone Consulting Agreement”) with Athena Ventures Inc. (“Athena”), a Company incorporated 

under the BCBCA on March 18, 2015, and Carrie Cesarone, pursuant to which Athena would provide the 

services of Ms. Cesarone to act as the Company’s Corporate Secretary. Ms. Cesarone is entitled to a monthly 

consulting fee of $6,000 and participation in the Company’s Stock Option Plan, including the issuance of 

50,000 Options at an exercise price of $1.25 per Common Share, exercisable for a maximum period of 3 

years from the date of issue. The Executive Consulting Agreement is for an indefinite term, subject to the 

termination provisions thereof, which provide that Ms. Cesarone will be paid the equivalent of three months 

in consulting fees in the event of a termination, by either Ms. Cesarone or the Company, as a result of a 

change in control. Ms. Cesarone is also subject to standard confidentiality, non-competition and non-

solicitation provisions. 

iv) Dr. Simon Beaudoin - On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into an Executive Consulting 

Agreement (the “Beaudoin Consulting Agreement”)_with 9368-4272 Quebec Inc. (“9368-4272”) and Dr. 

Simon Beaudoin, pursuant to which 9368-4272 would provide the services of Simon Beaudoin to act as the 

Company’s CTSO.  Dr. Beaudoin is entitled to an annual consulting fee of $75,000 and participation in the 

Company’s Stock Option Plan, including the issuance of 50,000 Options at an exercise price of $1.25 per 

Common Share, exercisable for a maximum period of 3 years from the date of issue. The Executive 

Consulting Agreement is for an indefinite term, subject to the termination provisions thereof, which provide 

that Dr. Beaudoin will be paid the equivalent of 3 months in consulting fees in the event of a termination, by 

either Dr. Beaudoin or the Company, as a result of a change in control. Dr. Beaudoin is also subject to 

standard confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation provisions.  

 

v) Axiom Services Inc. - On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into a Consultant Services Agreement 

(the “Axiom Consulting Agreement”) with Axiom, a Company of which Dr. Rafei is a principal, in 

connection with the provision of services relating to the completion of a study on the Accum technology. 

Axiom is entitled to an annual consulting fee of up $110,675, with $33,203 payable on execution of the 

Agreement and the remainder payable in connection with meeting certain project milestones. The Consultant 

Services Agreement is for a term of up to one year with the possibility of renewal, subject to the termination 

provisions thereof, and contains standard confidentiality and non-solicitation provisions. 
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MARKET AND REGULATORY OVERVIEW 

Principal Markets 

 

Pharmaceuticals 

If the Company is able to develop and commercialize its Accum platform to the point where it will reach the market, 

there is significant opportunity for growth. The global pharmaceutical market will exceed $1.5 trillion by 2023, 

growing at 3-6% compound annual growth rates (CAGR) over the next five years (typical growth).5 

 

Biopharmaceuticals  

 

The biopharmaceutical market currently accounts for 17% ($269.3 billion) of the pharmaceutical market.6 However, 

the biopharmaceutical market is growing at a rapid CAGR of 10.8% (projected to 2025).7 This indicates 

biopharmaceuticals are destined to dominate the overall pharmaceutical market in the future.  

In addition, antibodies and antibody-based agents (e.g. ADCs) dominate biopharmaceutical approvals and sales. There 

were also 31 (15.5%) antibodies on the top 200 selling pharmaceuticals in 2018, while five of the top 10 best-selling 

drugs are antibodies.  In total, ADCs produced $1 billion in sales in 2018.8   

 

Vaccines 

 

Cancer Vaccines 

 

The global cancer vaccines market is valued at $4,188 million (data from 2019) with a projection to $7,303 million 

by 2027 (a CAGR of 12.6%).9 

 

Cancer vaccines are considered as biological response modifiers designed to teach or educate the immune system to 

recognize and fight cancer cells. In general, cancer vaccines can be sub-divided in two branches: preventive and 

therapeutic cancer vaccines. Preventive cancer vaccines are used in healthy person to prevent cancer and are mostly 

applicable against cancers for which the etiology is caused by a virus (e.g. HPV-induced cervical cancer). Therapeutic 

cancer vaccines, on the other hand, are used to stimulate immunity in order to fight established tumors. 

 

The global cancer vaccines market is segmented on the basis of technology, type, indication, end user, and region. By 

technology, the market is categorized into dendritic cells (DC) cancer vaccines, recombinant cancer vaccines, 

antigen/adjuvant cancer vaccines, and viral vector and DNA cancer vaccines. The only two indications for which a 

cancer vaccine have been developed are:  

 

- cervical cancer: the preventive vaccine Gardasil developed by Merck and Cervavix by Glaxo Smithkline. 

- Prostate cancer: the therapeutic vaccine Sipuleucel-T developed by Dendreon (low to null efficiency). 

Due to the absence of a shared tumor-specific antigen (TSA) against cancer, Defense Therapeutics is currently 

exploiting its Accum Technology to develop a semi-personalized cancer vaccine against various cancer indications. 

The basis of the technology used universal allogeneic DCs treated with tumor lysate derived from the target cancer 

for the following primary indications: 

- Lymphoma 

- Melanoma 

                                                 
5 “The Global Use of Medicine in 2019 and Outlook to 2023: Forecasts and Areas to Watch” (29 January 2019), online: The IQVIA Institute for 

Human Data Science <www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/reports/the-global-use-of-medicine-in-2019-and-outlook-to-2023>. 
6 ResearchAndMarkets.com, Press Release, “The Global Biopharmaceuticals Market is Projected to Grow by 8.7% Through to 2025 and Reach 

$446 Billion” (24 June 2019), online: Business Wire <www.businesswire.com/news/home/20190624005782/en/The-Global-Biopharmaceuticals-

Market-is-Projected-to-Grow-by-8.7-Through-to-2025-and-Reach-446-Billion---ResearchAndMarkets.com>. 
7 Ibid.  
8 Gary Walsh, “Biopharmaceutical benchmarks 2018” (2018) 36 Nature Biotechnology 1136, online (pdf): 

<www.nature.com/articles/nbt.4305.pdf>. 
9 Allied Market Research, “Cancer Vaccines Market by Technology, Type, Indication, and End User: Global Opportunity Analysis and Industry 

Forecast, 2020-2027” (July 2020), online: ReportLinker <www.reportlinker.com/p05955152/Cancer-Vaccines-Market-by-Technology-Type-

Indication-and-End-User-Global-Opportunity-Analysis-and-Industry-Forecast-.html?utm_source=GNW>. 
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- Colon cancer 

- Glioblastoma

COVID-19 Vaccine 

Since the Accum technology can be applied to any antigen, the Company is currently working on a novel Spike-1 

formulation leading to enhanced immunity. In this case, the Accum moiety is added directly to the S1 protein (Accum-

S1). Following the uptake of this antigen, DC processing and presentation will be measurably enhanced, leading to a 

higher number of immunogenic peptides being presented to responding CD4 and CD8 T cells. In addition, it is 

important to note that mRNA delivery is limited by various parameters such as the amount of mRNA that was 

successfully uptaken by target cells, the amount that was translated and the percentage of surviving cells in the host 

able to express and secrete the S1 antigen. Delivering the Accum-S1 protein can bypass all of these limitations without 

difficulty.  

Captured antigens are usually sequestered into maturing endosomes. During this process, the pH within the endosomal 

lumen decreases rapidly leading to the activation of several proteases. As such, non-specific degradation of the 

captured antigen occurs, which will destroy immunogenic peptides normally required to mount potent T-cell response. 

To bypass this limitation, the Company developed a novel strategy to modify given antigens such as Spike-1 using 

the Accum technology. Once added chemically, the Accum moiety linked onto the antigen triggers endosomal 

membrane rupture prior to the acidification process leading to ''intact'' antigen import to the cytosol where it is 

subsequently degraded by the proteasomal machinery. Thus, all antigenic fragments are preserved and become 

available to be presented to responding T cells. When this technology was tested using an in vitro antigen presentation 

assay, dendritic cells pulsed with the Accum-antigen triggered 40-100X higher T-cell activation compared to the naked 

antigen. Therefore, the Accum technology is currently being used to develop a potent and strongly immunogenic 

Spike-1 vaccine that the Company believes will trigger superior immunity compared to currently developed COVID-

19 vaccines.   Although the primary target material currently tested is recombinant proteins, the Company also intends 

to extend the use of its technology to mRNA or DNA (commonly used in vaccine design).  

Competition 

Companies developing a DC-based cancer vaccine10: 

10
Blue Matter Consulting, “2021 Outlook for Cell-Based Therapies in Oncology: CAR-T Expansion and Beyond” (January 14, 2021), online: 

<https://bluematterconsulting.com/2021-outlook-cell-based-therapies-in-oncology/>
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Companies with an authorized/ approved COVID-19 vaccine11: 

 

 Name Vaccine Type Primary 

Developers 

Country of 

Origin 

Authorization/Approval 

1.  Sputnik V Non-replicating 

viral vector 

Gamaleya 

Research 

Institute, 

Acellena Contract 

Drug Research 

and Development 

Russia Algeria, Argentina, Armenia, 

Bahrain, Belarus, Bolivia, Gabon, 

Guinea, Hungary, Iran, 

Kazakhstan, Laos, Lebanon, 

Mexico, Mongolia, Montenegro, 

Myanmar, Nicaragua, Pakistan, 

Palestine, Paraguay, Republika 

Srpska, Russia, Saint Vincent and 

the Grenadines, Serbia, Tunisia, 

Turkmenistan, United Arab 

Emirates, Uzbekistan, Venezuela 

2.  No name 

announced 

Inactivated 

vaccine 

Wuhan Institute 

of Biological 

Products; China 

National 

Pharmaceutical 

Group 

(Sinopharm) 

China China 

3.  Moderna 

COVID-19 

Vaccine 

(mRNA-1273) 

mRNA-based 

vaccine 

Moderna, 

BARDA, NIAID 

US Canada, EU, Faroe Islands, 

Greenland, Iceland, Israel, 

Norway, Qatar, Saint Vincent and 

the Grenadines, Singapore, 

Switzerland, United Kingdom, 

United States 

4.  JNJ-78436735 

(formerly 

Ad26.COV2.S) 

Non-replicating 

viral vector 

Janssen Vaccines 

(Johnson & 

Johnson) 

The 

Netherlands, 

US 

Saint Vincent and the Grenadines 

5.  EpiVacCorona Peptide vaccine Federal 

Budgetary 

Research 

Institution State 

Research Center 

of Virology and 

Biotechnology 

Russia Russia, Turkmenistan 

6.  COVID-19 

Vaccine 

AstraZeneca 

(AZD1222); 

Adenovirus 

vaccine 

BARDA, OWS UK Argentina, Bahrain, Bangladesh, 

Brazil, Chile, Dominican 

Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, 

EU, Hungary, India, Iraq, 

Mexico, Morocco, Myanmar, 

                                                 
11 Regulatory Affairs Professional Society, “COVID-19 Vaccine Tracker” (February 18, 2021), online: <https://www.raps.org/news-and-

articles/news-articles/2020/3/covid-19-vaccine-tracker>. 

http://www.wibp.com.cn/ChsMobile/Default.aspx
http://www.wibp.com.cn/ChsMobile/Default.aspx
http://www.wibp.com.cn/ChsMobile/Default.aspx
http://www.sinopharm.com/1156.html
http://www.sinopharm.com/1156.html
http://www.sinopharm.com/1156.html
http://www.sinopharm.com/1156.html
http://www.sinopharm.com/1156.html
https://www.modernatx.com/
https://www.phe.gov/about/barda/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.niaid.nih.gov/
https://www.jnj.com/
https://www.jnj.com/
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 Name Vaccine Type Primary 

Developers 

Country of 

Origin 

Authorization/Approval 

also known as 

Covishield 

Nepal, Pakistan, Philippines, 

Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, 

South Africa, South Korea, Sri 

Lanka, Thailand, UK, Vietnam 

7.  Covaxin Inactivated 

vaccine 

Bharat Biotech, 

ICMR 

India India 

8.  CoronaVac Inactivated 

vaccine 

(formalin with 

alum adjuvant) 

Sinovac China Azerbaijan, Bolivia, Brazil, 

Cambodia, China, Chile, 

Colombia, Indonesia, Laos, 

Turkey, Uruguay 

9.  Convidicea 

(Ad5-nCoV) 

Recombinant 

vaccine 

(adenovirus 

type 5 vector) 

CanSino 

Biologics 

China Mexico, China (military use), 

Pakistan 

10.  Comirnaty 

(BNT162b2) 

mRNA-based 

vaccine 

Pfizer, 

BioNTech; Fosun 

Pharma 

Multinational Albania, Argentina, Australia, 

Bahrain, Canada, Chile, 

Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, 

EU, Faroe Islands, Greenland, 

Iceland, Iraq, Israel, Japan, 

Jordan, Kuwait, Malaysia, 

Mexico, New Zealand, Norway, 

Oman, Panama, Philippines, 

Qatar, Saint Vincent and the 

Grenadines, Saudi Arabia, Serbia, 

Singapore, Switzerland, UAE, 

UK, US, Vatican City, WHO 

11.  VLA2001 Inactivated 

vaccine 

Valneva; National 

Institute for 

Health Research 

(NIHR) 

Phase 1/2 Multiple NIHR testing sites 

Companies developing a COVID-19 vaccine12: 

 

Candidate Mechanism Sponsor Trial 

Phase 

Institution 

1.  NVX-

CoV2373 

Nanoparticle vaccine Novavax Phase 3 Novavax 

2.  ZF2001 Recombinant vaccine Anhui Zhifei Longcom 

Biopharmaceutical, Institute of 

Phase 3 Various 

                                                 
12 Regulatory Affairs Professional Society, “COVID-19 Vaccine Tracker” (February 18, 2021), online: <https://www.raps.org/news-and-

articles/news-articles/2020/3/covid-19-vaccine-tracker>. 

http://www.sinovac.com/
http://www.cansinotech.com/
http://www.cansinotech.com/
https://www.pfizer.com/
https://biontech.de/
https://www.fosunpharma.com/en/
https://www.fosunpharma.com/en/
https://novavax.com/
https://novavax.com/
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Microbiology of the Chinese 

Academy of Sciences 

3.  ZyCoV-D DNA vaccine 

(plasmid) 

Zydus Cadila Phase 3 Zydus Cadila 

4.  CVnCoV mRNA-based vaccine CureVac; GSK Phase 

2b/3 

CureVac 

5.  Bacillus 

Calmette-

Guerin 

(BCG) 

vaccine 

Live-attenuated 

vaccine 

University of Melbourne and 

Murdoch Children’s Research 

Institute; Radboud University 

Medical Center; Faustman Lab at 

Massachusetts General Hospital 

Phase 

2/3 

University of 

Melbourne and 

Murdoch 

Children’s 

Research 

Institute; Radboud 

University 

Medical 

Center; Faustman 

Lab at 

Massachusetts 

General Hospital 

6.  INO-4800 DNA vaccine 

(plasmid) 

Inovio Pharmaceuticals  Phase 

2/3 

Center for 

Pharmaceutical 

Research, Kansas 

City. Mo.; 

University of 

Pennsylvania, 

Philadelphia 

7.  VIR-7831 Plant-based adjuvant 

vaccine 

Medicago; GSK; Dynavax Phase 

2/3 

Medicago 

8.  No name 

announced 

Adenovirus-based 

vaccine 

ImmunityBio; NantKwest Phase 

2/3 

N/A 

9.  UB-612 Multitope peptide-

based vaccine 

COVAXX Phase 

2/3 

United 

Biomedical Inc. 

(UBI) 

10.  Abdala 

(CIGB 66) 

Protein subunit 

vaccine 

Finlay Institute of Vaccines Phase 2 Finlay Institute of 

Vaccines 

11.  BNT162 mRNA-based vaccine Pfizer, BioNTech Phase 

1/2/3 

Multiple study 

sites in Europe, 

North America 

and China 

12.  AdCLD-

CoV19 

Adenovirus-based 

vaccine 

Cellid; LG Chem Phase 

1/2a 

Korea University 

Guro Hospital 

13.  Nanocovax Recombinant vaccine 

(Spike protein) 

Nanogen Biopharmaceutical Phase 

1/2 

Military Medical 

Academy 

(Vietnam) 

https://zyduscadila.com/
https://zyduscadila.com/
https://www.curevac.com/
https://www.curevac.com/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.radboudumc.nl/en/patient-care
https://www.radboudumc.nl/en/patient-care
https://www.faustmanlab.org/
https://www.faustmanlab.org/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/
https://www.radboudumc.nl/en/patient-care
https://www.radboudumc.nl/en/patient-care
https://www.radboudumc.nl/en/patient-care
https://www.radboudumc.nl/en/patient-care
https://www.faustmanlab.org/
https://www.faustmanlab.org/
https://www.faustmanlab.org/
https://www.faustmanlab.org/
https://www.inovio.com/
http://cprkc.com/
http://cprkc.com/
http://cprkc.com/
https://www.upenn.edu/
https://www.upenn.edu/
https://www.medicago.com/en/
https://www.gsk.com/en-gb/
https://www.dynavax.com/
https://www.medicago.com/en/
https://immunitybio.com/
https://nantkwest.com/
https://www.covaxx.com/
http://www.unitedbiomedical.com/
http://www.unitedbiomedical.com/
http://www.unitedbiomedical.com/
https://www.pfizer.com/
https://biontech.de/
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14.  EuCorVac-

19 

nanoparticle vaccine EuBiologics Phase 

1/2 

Eunpyeong St. 

Mary’s Hospital 

15.  Mambisa 

(CIGB 669) 

Protein subunit 

vaccine 

Finlay Institute of Vaccines Phase 

1/2 

Finlay Institute of 

Vaccines 

16.  IIBR-100 Recombinant 

vesicular stomatitis 

virus (rVSV) vaccine 

Israel Institute for Biological 

Research 

Phase 

1/2 

Hadassah Medical 

Center; Sheba 

Medical Center 

Hospital 

17.  No name 

announced 

SF9 cell vaccine 

candidate 

West China Hospital, Sichuan 

University 

Phase 

1/2 

West China 

Hospital, Sichuan 

University 

18.  Soberana 1 

and 2 

Monovalent/conjugate 

vaccine 

Finlay Institute of Vaccines Phase 

1/2 

Finlay Institute of 

Vaccines 

19.  VLA2001 Inactivated vaccine Valneva; National Institute for 

Health Research (NIHR) 

Phase 

1/2 

Multiple NIHR 

testing sites 

20.  No name 

announced 

Adjuvanted protein 

subunit vaccine 

CEPI Phase 

1/2 

N/A 

21.  AG0301-

COVID19 

DNA vaccine AnGes, Inc. Phase 

1/2 

AnGes, Inc.; 

Japan Agency for 

Medical Research 

and Development 

22.  GX-19N DNA vaccine Genexine Phase 

1/2 

N/A 

23.  ARCT-021 

(LUNAR-

COV19) 

Self-replicating RNA 

vaccine 

Arcturus Therapeutics and Duke-

NUS Medical School 

Phase 

1/2 

Duke-NUS 

Medical School, 

Singapore 

24.  No name 

announced 

Protein subunit 

vaccine 

Sanofi; GlaxoSmithKline Phase 

1/2 

Various 

25.  No name 

announced 

Inactivated vaccine Chinese Academy of Medical 

Sciences, Institute of Medical 

Biology 

Phase 

1/2 

West China 

Second University 

Hospital, Yunnan 

Center for Disease 

Control and 

Prevention 

26.  HDT-301 

(HGCO19) 

RNA vaccine University of Washington; 

National Institutes of Health 

Rocky Mountain Laboratories; 

HDT Bio Corp; Gennova 

Biopharmaceuticals 

Phase 

1/2 

N/A 

http://www.eubiologics.com/en/main/
https://www.anges.co.jp/en/
https://www.anges.co.jp/en/
http://www.genexine.com/
https://arcturusrx.com/
https://www.duke-nus.edu.sg/
https://www.duke-nus.edu.sg/
https://www.duke-nus.edu.sg/
https://www.duke-nus.edu.sg/
https://www.sanofi.com/
https://www.gsk.com/
https://newsroom.uw.edu/
https://www.niaid.nih.gov/about/rocky-mountain-laboratories
https://www.niaid.nih.gov/about/rocky-mountain-laboratories
https://www.hdt.bio/
https://gennova.bio/
https://gennova.bio/
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27.  AV-COVID-

19 

Dendritic cell vaccine Aivita Biomedical, Inc. Phase 

1b/2 

Rumah Sakit 

Umum Pusat Dr 

Kariadi 

28.  PTX-

COVID19-B 

mRNA-based vaccine Providence Therapeutics; 

Canadian government 

Phase 1 N/A 

29.  COVI-VAC Intranasal vaccine Codagenix; Serum Institute of 

India 

Phase 1 N/A 

30.  CORVax12 DNA vaccine 

(plasmid) 

OncoSec; Providence Cancer 

Institute 

Phase 1 Providence 

Portland Medical 

Center 

31.  MVA-

SARS-2-S 

Modified vaccinia 

virus ankara (MVA) 

vector vaccine 

candidate 

Universitätsklinikum Hamburg-

Eppendorf; German Center for 

Infection Research; Philipps 

University Marburg Medical 

Center; Ludwig-Maximilians - 

University of Munich 

Phase 1 University 

Medical Center 

Hamburg-

Eppendorf 

32.  COH04S1 Modified vaccinia 

virus ankara (MVA) 

vector vaccine 

candidate 

City of Hope Medical Center; 

National Cancer Institute 

Phase 1 City of Hope 

Medical Center 

33.  pVAC Multi-peptide vaccine 

candidate 

University Hospital Tuebingen Phase 1 University 

Hospital 

Tuebingen 

34.  AdimrSC-2f Protein subunit 

vaccine 

Adimmune Phase 1 Adimmune 

35.  bacTRL-

Spike 

Monovalent oral 

vaccine 

(bifidobacteria) 

Symvivo Phase 1 Symvivo 

Corporation 

36.  COVAX-19 Monovalent 

recombinant protein 

vaccine 

Vaxine Pty Ltd. Phase 1 Royal Adelaide 

Hospital 

37.  DelNS1-

2019-nCoV-

RBD-OPT1 

Replicating viral 

vector 

Xiamen University, Beijing 

Wantai Biological Pharmacy 

Phase 1 Jiangsu Provincial 

Centre For 

Disease Control 

and Prevention 

38.  GRAd-

COV2 

Adenovirus-based 

vaccine 

ReiThera; Leukocare; Univercells Phase 1 Lazzaro 

Spallanzani 

National Institute 

for Infectious 

Diseases 

https://www.providencetherapeutics.com/
http://www.adimmune.com.tw/en/
http://www.adimmune.com.tw/en/
https://www.symvivo.com/
https://www.symvivo.com/
https://www.symvivo.com/
http://vaxine.net/
https://www.reithera.com/
https://www.leukocare.com/
https://www.univercells.com/
https://eatris.eu/institutes/national-institute-for-infectious-diseases-lazzaro-spallanzani/
https://eatris.eu/institutes/national-institute-for-infectious-diseases-lazzaro-spallanzani/
https://eatris.eu/institutes/national-institute-for-infectious-diseases-lazzaro-spallanzani/
https://eatris.eu/institutes/national-institute-for-infectious-diseases-lazzaro-spallanzani/
https://eatris.eu/institutes/national-institute-for-infectious-diseases-lazzaro-spallanzani/
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39.  UQ-CSL 

V451 

Protein subunit 

vaccine 

CSL; The University of 

Queensland 

Phase 1 N/A 

40.  SCB-2019 Protein subunit 

vaccine 

GlaxoSmithKline, Sanofi, Clover 

Biopharmaceuticals, 

Dynavax and Xiamen Innovax; 

CEPI 

Phase 1 Linear Clinical 

Research 

(Australia) 

41.  VXA-CoV2-

1 

Recombinant vaccine 

(adenovirus type 5 

vector) 

Vaxart Phase 1 Vaxart 

42.  AdCOVID Intranasal vaccine Altimmune Phase 1 University of 

Alabama at 

Birmingham 

43.  AAVCOVID Gene-based vaccine Massachusetts Eye and Ear; 

Massachusetts General Hospital; 

University of Pennsylvania 

Pre-

clinical 

N/A 

44.  ChAd-

SARS-CoV-

2-S 

Adenovirus-based 

vaccine 

Washington University School of 

Medicine in St. Louis 

Pre-

clinical 

Washington 

University School 

of Medicine in St. 

Louis 

45.  HaloVax Self-assembling 

vaccine 

Voltron Therapeutics, Inc.; Hoth 

Therapeutics, Inc. 

Pre-

clinical 

MGH Vaccine 

and 

Immunotherapy 

Center 

46.  LineaDNA DNA vaccine Takis Biotech Pre-

clinical 

Takis Biotech 

47.  MRT5500 mRNA-based vaccine Sanofi, Translate Bio Pre-

clinical 

N/A 

48.  No name 

announced 

Ii-Key peptide 

COVID-19 vaccine 

Generex Biotechnology Pre-

clinical 

Generex 

49.  No name 

announced 

Protein subunit 

vaccine 

University of Saskatchewan 

Vaccine and Infectious Disease 

Organization-International 

Vaccine Centre 

Pre-

clinical 

University of 

Saskatchewan 

Vaccine and 

Infectious Disease 

Organization-

International 

Vaccine Centre 

50.  No name 

announced 

mRNA-based vaccine Chulalongkorn University’s 

Center of Excellence in Vaccine 

Research and Development 

Pre-

clinical 

 

51.  No name 

announced 

gp96-based vaccine Heat Biologics Pre-

clinical 

University of 

Miami Miller 

https://www.csl.com/
http://uq.edu.au/
http://uq.edu.au/
https://www.gsk.com/
https://www.sanofi.com/
http://www.cloverbiopharma.com/
http://www.cloverbiopharma.com/
https://www.dynavax.com/
https://www.linear.org.au/
https://www.linear.org.au/
https://www.linear.org.au/
https://vaxart.com/
https://vaxart.com/
https://altimmune.com/
https://www.uab.edu/home/
https://www.uab.edu/home/
https://www.uab.edu/home/
https://medicine.wustl.edu/
https://medicine.wustl.edu/
https://medicine.wustl.edu/
https://medicine.wustl.edu/
https://medicine.wustl.edu/
https://medicine.wustl.edu/
https://www.massgeneral.org/medicine/vic
https://www.massgeneral.org/medicine/vic
https://www.massgeneral.org/medicine/vic
https://www.massgeneral.org/medicine/vic
http://www.takisbiotech.it/index.php/en/
http://www.takisbiotech.it/index.php/en/
https://www.sanofi.com/
https://translate.bio/
https://www.generex.com/
https://www.generex.com/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
https://www.vido.org/
http://www.chulavrc.org/
http://www.chulavrc.org/
http://www.chulavrc.org/
https://www.heatbio.com/
https://med.miami.edu/
https://med.miami.edu/
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School of 

Medicine 

52.  No name 

announced 

Inactivated vaccine Shenzhen Kangtai Biological 

Products 

Pre-

clinical 

N/A 

53.  PittCoVacc Recombinant protein 

subunit vaccine 

(delivered through 

microneedle array) 

UPMC/University of Pittsburgh 

School of Medicine 

Pre-

clinical 

University of 

Pittsburgh 

54.  T-

COVIDTM 

Intranasal vaccine Altimmune Pre-

clinical 

N/A 

 

The biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapid evolution of technologies, fierce 

competition, and strong defense of intellectual property. Any product candidates that we successfully develop and 

commercialize will have to compete with existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future.  

The Company’s Accum technology enhances the technology of competitors who produce the raw material ADCs, 

vaccines, and others. As such, the primary competitors for the Company are those who develop new vaccine enhancer 

or ADC enhancer technologies. At the same time, we consider that the biggest advantage the Company has over its 

competitors is the Accum technology, which can be applied to a variety of competitor products (Vaccines, ADCs, 

enhancers) and potentially transform into strategic collaborations. 

While we believe that our Accum technology, rational approach to drug design, along with our scientific expertise, 

provide us with competitive advantages, a wide variety of institutions, including large biopharmaceutical companies, 

specialty biotechnology companies, academic research departments, and public and private research institutions, are 

actively developing potentially competitive products and technologies. 

 

The Company also competes with other biopharmaceutical companies whose broader aim is to discover novel 

chemotherapeutic drugs or drug delivery systems. As a result of this competition, the majority of which is with 

companies with greater financial resources, the Company may be unable to successfully discover, identify and license 

suitable product candidates. The Company also competes for financing with other biopharmaceutical companies, 

many of whom have more advanced businesses. The Company’s competitors include multinational pharmaceutical 

companies and specialized biotechnology companies, universities, and other research institutions. The Company will 

face the challenge of competing with companies of varying sizes and at varying stages of licensing and levels of 

development of related products in the pharmaceutical industry. Other companies may develop products targeting the 

same conditions that the Company may be focusing on, and such competing products may be superior to the 

Company’s potential products. 

 

More established companies may have a competitive advantage over the Company due to their greater size, capital 

resources, cash flows, and institutional experience. Compared to the Company, many of its competitors may have 

significantly greater financial, technical, and human resources at their disposal. Due to these factors, competitors may 

have an advantage in marketing their approved products and may obtain regulatory approval of their product 

candidates before the Company can, which may limit the Company’s ability to develop or commercialize its product 

candidates. Competitors may also develop drugs that are safer, more effective, more widely used, and less expensive, 

and may also be more successful in manufacturing and marketing their products. These advantages could materially 

impact the Company’s ability to develop and commercialize its products.  

 

We consider our most direct competitors to be Roche-Genentech, GSK, Sanofi, Innocore Pharma, Takara Bio, Seattle 

Genetics, Ascendia Pharma, and Precision NanoSystems. 

 

The pharmaceutical industry is facing a number of significant pressures, such as decreasing research and development 

productivity, increasing drug development costs, increasing patent protection loss of branded drugs, high regulatory 

https://med.miami.edu/
https://med.miami.edu/
http://en.biokangtai.com/
http://en.biokangtai.com/
https://www.upmc.com/coronavirus/vaccine
https://www.upmc.com/coronavirus/vaccine
https://www.pitt.edu/
https://www.pitt.edu/
https://altimmune.com/
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barriers, evolving payer requirements, lower return on investment, generic drug competition and post-market clinical 

trial result failures due to safety concerns. Pharmaceutical companies are being forced to find more efficient and cost 

effective ways to improve their research and development strategies.  

 

Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being 

concentrated among a smaller number of the Company’s competitors. Smaller and other early stage companies may 

also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established 

companies. These third parties also compete with the Company in recruiting and retaining qualified personnel, 

establishing clinical trial sites and subject registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies 

complementary to, or necessary for, the Company’s programs. There is no assurance that additional capital or other 

types of financing will be available to the Company if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be 

favourable to the Company. See “Risk Factors”. 

Regulatory Environment 

 

Drug products must be approved by the appropriate governing body before they can be sold in that country or area.  

Health Canada approves products for the Canadian market and the FDA approves products for the United States 

market. The European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) approves products for the European Union. While the process by 

which products are approved by Health Canada and the FDA are very similar, each regulatory body has its own unique 

requirements for a product. In both cases, the development of a product through to approval can be a lengthy process 

and, in some cases, can take over 10 years. While early studies conducted in one jurisdiction will usually be accepted 

in the other, further and somewhat modified studies may be required to have a product approved in another jurisdiction 

 

Canada Government Regulation 

 

In Canada, our product candidates and our research and development activities are primarily regulated by the Food 

and Drugs Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, which are enforced by Health Canada (including its Biologics 

and Genetic Therapies Directorate). Health Canada regulates, among other things, the research, development, testing, 

approval, manufacture, packaging, labeling, storage, recordkeeping, advertising, promotion, distribution, marketing, 

post-approval monitoring and import and export of pharmaceutical, including biologic, products. The drug approval 

process under Canadian laws requires licensing of manufacturing facilities, carefully controlled research and testing 

of products, government review and approval of experimental results prior to giving approval to sell drug products 

including biologic drug products. Regulators also typically require that rigorous and specific standards such as GMP, 

GLP and GCP are followed in the manufacture, testing and clinical development, respectively, of any drug product. 

The processes for obtaining regulatory approvals in Canada, along with subsequent compliance with applicable 

statutes and regulations, requires the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. For further information, 

see “Risk Factors.” 

 

The principal steps required for drug approval in Canada are as follows: 

 

Preclinical Toxicology Studies 

 

Non-clinical studies conducted in vitro and in animals to evaluate pharmacokinetics, metabolism and possible toxic 

effects provide evidence of the safety of the drug candidate prior to its administration to humans in clinical studies 

and throughout development. Such studies are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and GLP. 

 

Initiation of Human Testing 

 

In Canada, the process of conducting clinical trials with a new drug cannot begin until we have submitted a Clinical 

Trial Application, or CTA, and the required number of days has lapsed without objection from Health Canada. 

Biological drugs carry additional risks, as compared to traditional small molecule drugs, associated with complexity 

and variability in manufacturing that can contribute to increased lot-to-lot variation of the final product, and with the 

potential for adventitious agents. Therefore, the content requirements for the quality information for biological drugs 

to be used in clinical trials are different from those for standard small molecule pharmaceutical drugs (for example, 
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the inclusion of information on manufacturing facilities is required for biological drugs). In addition, it is necessary 

to have more stringent controls on the release of biologic drug lots used in authorized clinical trials. 

 

Similar regulations apply in Canada to a CTA as to an IND in the United States. If the CTA is deemed by Health 

Canada to be acceptable, a No Objection Letter, or NOL, would be issued. A Not Satisfactory Notice will be issued 

by Health Canada if significant deficiencies are identified or if timely responses to information requested have not 

been received. Once approved by the issuance of an NOL, two key factors influencing the rate of progression of 

clinical trials are the rate at which patients can be enrolled to participate in the research program and whether effective 

treatments are currently available for the disease that the drug is intended to treat. Patient enrollment is largely 

dependent upon the incidence and severity of the disease, the treatments available and the potential side effects of the 

drug to be tested and any restrictions for enrollment that may be imposed by regulatory agencies. For further 

information, see “Risk Factors.” 

 

Clinical Trials 

 

Similar regulations apply in Canada regarding clinical trials as in the United States. In Canada, Research Ethics 

Boards, or REBs, instead of IRBs, are used to review and approve clinical trial plans. Clinical trials involve the 

administration of an investigational new drug to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators, in 

most cases a physician, in accordance with current Good Clinical Practices, or cGCP, requirements, which include 

review and approval by REBs. Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the 

objectives of the trial, the trial procedures, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the efficacy criteria to 

be evaluated and a statistical analysis plan. Human clinical trials for new drugs are typically conducted in three 

sequential phases, Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3, as discussed above in the context of government regulation in the 

United States. 

 

The manufacture of investigational drugs for the conduct of human clinical trials is subject to current Good 

Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, requirements. Investigational drugs and active pharmaceutical ingredients imported 

into Canada are also subject to regulation by Health Canada relating to their labeling and distribution. Progress reports 

detailing the results of the clinical trials must be submitted at least annually to Health Canada and the applicable REBs, 

and more frequently if serious adverse events occur. Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials may not be completed 

successfully within any specified period, or at all. Furthermore, in Canada, Health Canada or the sponsor may suspend 

or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects are being 

exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an REB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its 

institution if the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with the REB’s requirements or if the drug has 

been associated with unexpected serious harm to subjects. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by an 

independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board 

or committee. This group regularly reviews accumulated data and advises the study sponsor regarding the continuing 

safety of trial subjects, potential trial subjects and the continuing validity and scientific merit of the clinical trial. A 

sponsor may also suspend or terminate a clinical trial based on evolving business objectives or competitive climate. 

 

New Drug Submission 

 

Upon successful completion of Phase 3 clinical trials, in Canada the company sponsoring a new drug then assembles 

all the preclinical and clinical data and other testing relating to the product’s pharmacology, chemistry, manufacture, 

and controls, and submits it to Health Canada as part of a New Drug Submission (“NDS”). The NDS is then reviewed 

by Health Canada for approval to market the drug. 

 

As part of the approval process, Health Canada will inspect the facility or the facilities at which the drug is 

manufactured. Health Canada will not approve the product unless compliance with cGMP—a quality system 

regulating manufacturing—is satisfactory and the NDS contains data that provide substantial evidence that the drug 

is safe and effective in the indication studied. In addition, before approving an NDS, Health Canada will typically 

inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP. 

 

The testing and approval process for an NDS requires substantial time, effort, and financial resources, and may take 

several years to complete. Biologic drugs, such as our candidates, differ from standard small molecule drugs in that 
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applicants must include more detailed chemistry and manufacturing information. This is necessary to help ensure the 

purity and quality of the product, for example to help ensure that it is not contaminated by an undesired microorganism. 

Data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing are not always conclusive and may be susceptible to varying 

interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Health Canada may not grant approval of an 

NDS on a timely basis, or at all. In Canada, NDSs are subject to user fees and these fees are typically increased 

annually to reflect inflation. 

 

Even if Health Canada approves a product candidate, it may limit the approved indications for use of the product 

candidate, require that contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in the product labeling, require that 

post-approval studies, including Phase 4 clinical trials, be conducted to further assess a drug’s safety after approval, 

require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the product after commercialization, or impose other conditions, 

including distribution restrictions or other risk management mechanisms. 

 

Biologic products in particular are monitored post-approval by being placed on a lot release schedule tailored to their 

potential risk, manufacturing, testing and inspection history to date. With higher risk biologics, each lot is tested before 

being released for sale in Canada. Moderate risk biologics are periodically tested at the discretion of Health Canada 

while manufacturers of low risk biologics usually only need to contact Health Canada regarding lots being sold or for 

providing certification of complete and satisfactory testing. Products are carefully scrutinized before they are placed 

in any level of the lot release process, and at any time the testing regime for a biologic may be altered. 

 

Health Canada may prevent or limit further marketing of a product based on the results of post-marketing studies or 

surveillance programs. After approval, some types of changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications, 

manufacturing changes, and additional labeling claims, are subject to further testing requirements, notification, and 

regulatory authority review and approval. Further, should new safety information arise, additional testing, product 

labeling or regulatory notification may be required. 

 

Canadian Biosimilars 

 

The terms “biosimilar biologic drug” and “biosimilar” are used by Health Canada to describe a biologic drug that 

enters the market subsequent to a version previously authorized in Canada and with demonstrated similarity to a 

reference biologic drug. Accordingly, a biosimilar, previously known in Canada as a subsequent entry biologic, or 

SEB, will in all instances be a subsequent entrant onto the Canadian market. 

 

Based on Health Canada guidance documents, a biosimilar can rely in part on prior information regarding safety and 

efficacy that is deemed relevant due to the demonstration of similarity to the reference biologic drug and which 

influences the amount and type of original data required. Generic drugs are chemically derived products that are 

pharmaceutically equivalent to innovative drugs, whereas biosimilars are products of a biologic nature that are similar 

to innovative biologics. According to Health Canada, it is not currently possible to demonstrate that two biologic drugs 

are pharmaceutically equivalent, and therefore the regulatory approval process for generics and biosimilars is different: 

biosimilars are approved using the standard NDS pathway with some allowances made for reduced safety and efficacy 

information set out in guidance documents, while generic drugs are approved using an abbreviated new drug 

submission pathway set in guidance and law under the Food and Drug Regulations. In part because it continues to be 

set out only in guidance and not law, the specific requirements in order to receive biosimilar approval are subject to 

some uncertainty. 

 

As discussed above, all biosimilars enter the market subsequent to a biologic drug product previously approved in 

Canada and to which the biosimilar is considered similar. As such, biosimilars are subject to existing laws and 

regulations outlined in the Patented Medicines (Notice of Compliance) Regulations and the Food and Drug 

Regulations, and related guidance documents. 

 

Similar to the Hatch-Waxman Act in the United States, Canada has the Patented Medicines (NOC) Regulations under 

the Patent Act which require a company that files a drug submission that references a patented product (for example, 

a biosimilar) to address any relevant patents listed on the Patent Register against the reference product, prior to being 

able to receive approval from Health Canada. The Canadian regime is similar to the United States regime, but a number 

of distinctions do exist. 
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Like the United States, Canada also has data protection, but again differences exist between the two jurisdictions. For 

example, Canada’s data protection applies to an “innovative drug,” which is defined as a drug that contains a medicinal 

ingredient not previously approved in a drug and that is not a variation of a previously approved medicinal ingredient 

such as a salt, ester, enantiomer, solvate or polymorph. If a product is deemed to be an innovate drug, it is eligible for 

an eight-year period of data protection (with an additional six-month pediatric extension in some circumstances). In 

general, biologics can be considered innovative drugs but typically biosimilars are not. 

 
United States Government Regulation 

 

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the “FDCA”), and its 

implementing regulations, and biologics under the FDCA and the Public Health Service Act, and its implementing 

regulations. FDA approval is required before any new unapproved drug or biologic or dosage form, including a new 

use of a previously approved drug, can be marketed in the United States. In some cases, changes to aspects of an 

approved drug product also require pre-approval prior to implementation of these changes. Drugs and biologics are 

also subject to other federal, state, and local statutes and regulations. If the Company fails to comply with applicable 

FDA or other requirements at any time during the product development process, clinical testing, the approval process 

or after approval, the Company may become subject to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could 

include the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications, license suspension or revocation, withdrawal of an 

approval, warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, 

civil monetary penalties or criminal prosecution. Any FDA enforcement action could have a material adverse effect 

on the Company. 

 

The process required by the FDA before drug products may be marketed in the United States generally involves the 

following: 

 

 completion of extensive preclinical laboratory tests and preclinical animal studies, some performed in 

accordance with the GLP regulations; 

 submission to the FDA of an IND, which must be reviewed by the FDA and become active before human 

clinical trials may begin and must be updated annually; 

 approval by an independent review board (“IRB”) or ethics committee representing each clinical site 

before each clinical trial may be initiated; 

 performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials conducted under Good Clinical 

Practices (“GCP”) to establish the safety and efficacy of the product candidate for each proposed 

indication; 

 preparation of and submission to the FDA of a New Drug Application (“NDA”) or Biologics License 

Application (“BLA”) after completion of all pivotal clinical trials; 

  a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of an NDA or BLA to file the application for 

review; 

  potential review of the product application by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate and if 

applicable; 

 satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities where the 

proposed product is produced to assess compliance with current GMP (“cGMP”); 

 a potential FDA audit of the preclinical research and clinical trial sites that generated the data in support 

of the NDA or BLA; and 

 FDA review and approval of an NDA or BLA prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the product 

in the United States. 

 

The preclinical research, clinical testing and approval process require substantial time, effort, and financial resources, 

and the Company cannot be certain that any approvals for the Company’s product candidates will be granted on a 

timely basis, if at all. An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational new drug 

product to humans in clinical trials. The central focus of an IND submission is on the general investigational plan and 

the protocol(s) for human clinical trials. The IND also includes results of animal studies assessing the toxicology, 

pharmacokinetics, pharmacology, and pharmacodynamic characteristics of the product; chemistry, manufacturing, 

and controls information; and any available human data or literature to support the use of the investigational new drug. 
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An IND must become effective before human clinical trials may begin in the US. An IND will automatically become 

effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises concerns or questions related to the 

proposed clinical trials. In such a case, the IND may be placed on clinical hold and the IND sponsor and the FDA 

must resolve any outstanding concerns or questions before clinical trials can begin. Accordingly, submission of an 

IND may or may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence. As drug product programs continue in 

development, clinical trial protocols, additional preclinical testing results, and manufacturing information is submitted 

with the IND to facilitate discussions with the FDA and approval of additional clinical trials. 
 

Clinical Trials 

 

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational new drug to human subjects under the supervision of 

qualified investigators in accordance with GCP, which include the requirement that all research subjects provide their 

informed consent for their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, 

among other things, the objectives of the study, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety, and the efficacy criteria 

to be evaluated. A protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the 

FDA as part of the IND. Additionally, approval must also be obtained from each clinical trial site’s IRB or ethics 

committee, before the trials may be initiated, and the IRB or ethics committee must monitor the trial until completed. 

All subjects must provide informed consent prior to participating in the trial. There are also requirements governing 

the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and clinical trial results to public registries. 

 

The clinical investigation of a drug is generally divided into three or four phases. Although the phases are usually 

conducted sequentially, they may overlap or be combined. 

 

 Phase I. The drug is initially introduced into healthy human subjects or, in some cases, patients with the target 

disease or condition. These studies are designed to evaluate the safety, tolerance, metabolism, 

pharmacokinetic and pharmacologic actions of the investigational new drug in humans, and the side effects 

associated with increasing doses. 

 Phase II. The drug is administered to a limited patient population to evaluate safety and optimal dose levels 

for safety and efficacy, identify possible adverse side effects and safety risks, and preliminarily evaluate 

efficacy. 

 Phase III. The drug is administered to an expanded patient population, generally at geographically dispersed 

clinical trial sites to generate sufficient data to statistically evaluate dose levels, clinical effectiveness and 

safety, to establish the overall benefit-risk relationship of the investigational new drug product, and to provide 

an adequate basis for physician labeling. 

 Phase IV. In some cases, the FDA may conditionally approve an NDA or BLA for a drug product with the 

sponsor’s agreement to conduct additional clinical trials after approval. In other cases, a sponsor may 

voluntarily conduct additional clinical trials after approval to gain more information about the drug. Such 

post-approval studies are typically referred to as Phase IV clinical trials. 

 

Clinical trial sponsors must also report to the FDA, within certain timeframes: (i) serious and unexpected adverse 

reactions, (ii) any clinically important increase in the rate of a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed in 

the protocol or investigator’s brochure, or (iii) any findings from other studies or animal testing that suggest a 

significant risk in humans exposed to the product candidate. The FDA, the IRB, the ethics committee or the clinical 

trial sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the 

research subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by 

an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring 

board or committee. This group provides authorization for whether or not a trial may move forward at designated 

check points based on access to certain data from the trial. 

 

The clinical trial process can take years to complete, and there can be no assurance that the data collected will support 

FDA approval or licensing of the product. Results from one trial are not necessarily predictive of results from later 

trials. The Company may also suspend or terminate a clinical trial based on evolving business objectives and/or 

competitive climate. 
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Submission of an NDA or BLA to the FDA 

 

Assuming successful completion of all required preclinical studies and clinical testing in accordance with all 

applicable regulatory requirements, detailed investigational new drug product information is submitted to the FDA in 

the form of an NDA or BLA requesting approval to market the product for one or more indications. Under federal 

law, the submission of most NDAs and BLAs is subject to an application user fee. An NDA or BLA must include all 

relevant data available from pertinent preclinical studies and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous results 

as well as positive findings, together with detailed information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, 

controls, and proposed labeling, among other things. Data comes from company-sponsored clinical trials intended to 

test the safety and effectiveness of a use of a product and may also come from several alternative sources, including 

clinical trials initiated by investigators. To support marketing approval, the data submitted must be sufficient in quality 

and quantity to establish the safety and effectiveness of the investigational new drug product to the satisfaction of the 

FDA. 

 

Once an NDA or BLA has been submitted, the FDA’s goal is to review the application within ten months after it 

accepts the application for filing, or, if the application relates to an unmet medical need in a serious or life-threatening 

indication, six months after the FDA accepts the application for filing. The review process is often significantly 

extended by the FDA’s requests for additional information or clarification. Before approving an NDA or BLA, the 

FDA typically will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve an 

application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP 

requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications. Additionally, 

before approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with 

GCP and related regulations. 

 

The FDA is required to refer an NDA or BLA for a novel drug (in which no active ingredient has been approved in 

any other application) to an advisory committee or explain why such referral was not made. Typically, an advisory 

committee is a panel of independent experts, including clinicians and other scientific experts, that reviews, evaluates 

and provides a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and the conditions thereof. The 

FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully 

when making decisions. 

 

The FDA’s Decision on an NDA or BLA 

 

After the FDA evaluates the NDA or BLA and conducts inspections of manufacturing facilities where the product will 

be produced, the FDA will issue either an approval letter or a complete response letter (“Complete Response Letter”). 

An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing information for specific 

indications. A Complete Response Letter indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete, and the 

application is not ready for approval. To satisfy deficiencies identified in a Complete Response Letter, additional 

clinical data and/or an additional Phase III clinical trial(s), and/or other significant, expensive and time-consuming 

requirements related to clinical trials, preclinical studies or manufacturing may be required for the drug product.  

 

Even if such additional information is submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDA or BLA does not 

satisfy the criteria for approval. The FDA could also approve the NDA or BLA with a risk evaluation and mitigation 

strategy, which could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such 

as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. The FDA may also conditionally 

approve a drug product subject to, among other things, changes to proposed labeling, development of adequate controls 

and specifications, or a commitment to conduct one or more post-market studies or clinical trials. Such post-market 

testing may include Phase IV clinical trials and surveillance to further assess and monitor the product’s safety and 

effectiveness after commercialization. New government requirements, including those resulting from new legislation, 

may be established during the review process, or the FDA’s policies may change, which could delay or prevent 

regulatory approval of the Company’s products under development. 
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European Union Government Regulation  
 

European Union Drug Development 

 

Similar to the United States, the various phases of preclinical and clinical research in the European Union (the “EU”) 

are subject to significant regulatory controls. Although the EU Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC has sought to 

harmonize the EU clinical trials regulatory framework,  setting out  common rules for the control and authorization of 

clinical trials in the EU, the EU Member States have transposed and applied the provisions of the Directive differently.  

This  has  led  to  significant  variations  in  the  member  state  regimes.  Under  the  current  regime, before a clinical 

trial can be initiated, it must be approved in each of the EU countries where the trial is to be conducted  by  two  

distinct  bodies:  the  National  Competent  Authority  (“NCA”),  and  one  or  more  Ethics Committees  (“ECs”). 

Under  the current  regime  all  suspected  unexpected  serious  adverse  reactions  to  the investigated drug that occur 

during the clinical trial have to be reported to the NCA and ECs of the Member State where they occurred.  

 

The EU clinical trials legislation currently is undergoing a transition process mainly aimed at harmonizing and 

streamlining  clinical-trial  authorization,  simplifying  adverse-event  reporting  procedures,  improving  the 

supervision of clinical trials and increasing their transparency. Recently enacted Clinical Trials Regulation EU No 

536/2014 ensures that the rules for conducting clinical trials in the EU will be identical. In the meantime, Clinical 

Trials Directive 2001/20/EC continues to govern all clinical trials performed in the EU. 

 

European Union Drug Review and Approval 

 

In the European Economic Area, or EEA, comprising the 28 Member States of the EU plus Norway, Iceland and   

Liechtenstein,   medicinal   products   can   only   be   commercialized   after   obtaining   a   Marketing Authorization, 

or MA. There are two types of marketing authorizations: 

 

The Community MA is issued by the European Commission through the Centralized Procedure, based on the opinion  

of  the  Committee  for  Medicinal  Products  for  Human  Use,  or  CHMP,  of  the  European  Medicines Agency,  or  

EMA,  and  is  valid  throughout  the  entire  territory  of  the  EEA.  The  Centralized  Procedure  is mandatory  for  

certain  types  of  products,  such  as  biotechnology  medicinal  products,  orphan  medicinal products  and  medicinal  

products  containing  a  new  active  substance  indicated  for  the  treatment  of  AIDS, cancer, neurodegenerative 

disorders, diabetes, auto-immune and viral diseases. The Centralized Procedure is optional for products containing a 

new active substance not yet authorized in the EEA, or for products that constitute a significant therapeutic, scientific 

or technical innovation or which are in the interest of public health in the EU. 

 

National  MAs,  which  are  issued  by  the  competent  authorities  of  the  Member  States  of  the  EEA  and  only 

cover  their  respective  territory,  are  available  for  products  not  falling  within  the  mandatory  scope  of  the 

Centralized Procedure. Where a product has already been authorized for marketing in a Member State of the  EEA,  

this  National  MA  can  be  recognized  in  another  Member  States  through  the  Mutual  Recognition Procedure. If 

the product has not received a National MA in any Member State at the time of application, it can be approved 

simultaneously in various Member States through the Decentralized Procedure. Under the Decentralized  Procedure  

an  identical  dossier  is  submitted  to  the  competent  authorities  of  each  of  the Member  States  in  which  the  MA 

is  sought,  one  of  which  is  selected  by  the  applicant  as  the  Reference Member  State, or  RMS.  The  competent  

authority  of the  RMS  prepares  a  draft  assessment  report,  a  draft summary of the product characteristics, or SPC, 

and a draft of the  labeling and package leaflet, which are sent to  the  other Member  States  (referred  to  as the 

Member  States  Concerned)  for their  approval.  If  the Member  States  Concerned  raise  no  objections,  based  on  

a  potential  serious  risk  to  public  health,  to  the assessment, SPC, labeling, or packaging proposed by the RMS, 

the product is subsequently granted a national MA in all the Member States (i.e., in the RMS and the Member States 

Concerned). 

 

Under the above described procedures, before granting the MA, the EMA or the competent authorities of the Member 

States of the EEA make an assessment of the risk-benefit balance of the product on the basis of scientific criteria 

concerning its quality, safety and efficacy. 

 

European Union New Chemical Entity Exclusivity 
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In the EU, new chemical entities, sometimes referred to as new active substances, qualify for eight years of data 

exclusivity upon marketing authorization and an additional two years of market exclusivity. The data exclusivity,  if  

granted,  prevents  regulatory  authorities  in  the  EU  from referencing the innovator’s data to assess a generic 

application for eight years, after which generic marketing authorization can be submitted, and the innovator’s data 

may be referenced, but not approved for two years. The overall ten year period will be extended to a maximum of 

eleven years if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the marketing authorization holder obtains an 

authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific  evaluation  prior  to  their  

authorization,  are  determined  to  bring  a  significant  clinical  benefit  in comparison with currently approved 

therapies. 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Selected Financial Information of the Company 

The following selected financial information has been derived from and is qualified in its entirety by the annual 

financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 (audited) and the interim financial statements 

of the Company for the six months ended December 31, 2020 (unaudited) and notes thereto included in this Prospectus, 

and should be read in conjunction with such financial statements and the related notes thereto, along with the MD&A 

included in Exhibit “A” of this Prospectus.  All financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 

As at  

December 31, 2020 

(unaudited) 

($) 

As at  

June 30, 2020 

(audited) 

($) 

As at  

June 30, 2019 

(audited) 

($) 

Total Assets 7,167,702 1,911,945 7,765 

Total Liabilities 75,596 48,351 7,839 

Total Equity (Deficiency) 7,092,106 1,863,594 (74) 

Revenue - - - 

Gross Profit - - - 

Loss and Comprehensive 

Loss for the Period 

483,760 673,182 1,946 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss Data  

 

 For the six 

months ended 

December 31, 

2020 

(unaudited) 

($) 

For the year 

ended 

June 30, 2020 

(audited) 

($) 

For the year 

ended 

June 30, 2019 

(audited) 

($) 

Expense…………………………………………… 483,760 673,182 41,946 

Interest income…………………………………… - - - 

Other income……………………………………. - - 40,000 

Foreign exchange loss……………………………. - - - 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period …. (483,760) (673,182) (1,946) 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

The MD&A of the Company for the years ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 and for the six months ended 

December 31, 2020 is attached to this Prospectus at Exhibit “A”. 

The MD&A of the Company should be read in conjunction with the respective financial statements and the 

accompanying notes thereto included in this Prospectus. Certain information contained in the MD&A constitutes 

forward-looking statements.  These statements relate to future events or to our future financial performance and 

involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, 

performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk 

Factors”. 

USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

Proceeds 

 

No proceeds will be raised, as no securities are being sold pursuant to this Prospectus. 

Available Funds 

The Company received net proceeds of approximately $3,322,200 from the Special Warrant Offering, after deducting 

finders’ fees of $360,000. The Company received net proceeds of $1,402,800 from the Unit Offering, after deducting 

finders’ fees of approximately $150,000.  As at March 31, 2021, the Company has approximately $6,500,000 in 

available funds, which includes the net proceeds of the Special Warrant Offering and the Unit Offering and 

approximately $2,175,000 in estimated working capital.  There have not been any significant changes to working 

capital since December 31, 2020.   

The Company had negative operating cash flow in its most recent financial year and may have negative operating cash 

flows in future periods.  Available funds, including the net proceeds from any financings completed by the Company, 

may also be used in part to fund any negative cash flow from operations of the Company. 

The Company intends to spend the available funds as follows:  

 

 Funds Available 

($) 

Working Capital as at March 31, 2021 

(includes net proceeds of $1,402,800 from the Unit Offering and net 

proceeds of $3,322,200 from the Special Warrant Offering)  

 6,500,000 

Total Funds Available  6,500,000 

Expenditures:  

Research and Development (External proof of concept in patient-

derived xenograft (PDX) breast cancer model)(1)  
 100,000 

Research and Development (Validation of two Accum-ADC and 

Accum-α(a)-ADC technology platform (1) 

 400,000 



 

 

 

 - 43 - 

 

 

 

Research and Development (Development of a COVID-19 vaccine 

candidate (Protein-based vaccine) (1) 

 250,000 

Research and Development (Development of cancer vaccine 

candidates (cell and protein-based) (1) 

 500,000 

Research and Development (Remaining ADC budget)(1)  250,000 

Research and Development (In addition to the primary business 

objectives) (1) 

 1,000,000 

Intellectual Property (Ongoing Costs)  100,000 

Intellectual Property (Acquisition and Development)  275,000 

Consultant Fees and Executive Officer Salaries(2)  419,675 

General and Administrative (Legal and Audit)  75,000 

General and Administrative (Public Company Costs)  50,000 

General and Administrative (Insurance, Office and Other)  100,000 

Marketing and Promotion  250,000 

Publications and Conferences  23,000 

Unallocated Working capital   2,707,325 

TOTAL  6,500,000 

Notes:  

(1)  A portion of the Research and Development line items above will be paid to related parties as per the Option and Right 

of First Refusal Agreement. The amount to be paid to such related parties will be approximately $75,000, which will be paid to 

WASSC pursuant to the Option and Right of First Refusal Agreement.  

(2)  The Consulting Fees and Executive Officer Salaries include the Plouffe Consulting Agreement, Meagher Consulting 

Agreement, Cesarone Consulting Agreement, Beaudoin Consulting Agreement and the Axiom Consulting Agreement. All of these 

payments will be paid to related parties of the Company.  

The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances 

however, where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Accordingly, while it is 

currently intended by management that the available funds will be expended as set forth above, actual expenditures 

may in fact differ from these amounts and allocations (see “Risk Factors”). 

See “Business Objectives and Milestones” for a discussion of the potential impact on the available funds from COVID-

19. 

Business Objectives and Milestones  

 

The Company’s primary business objective is to develop, validate and commercialize its Accum platform. The 

Company has developed a comprehensive research plan for developing its Accum platform for different therapeutic 

applications such as vaccines and ADCs to treat cancer and infectious diseases. For developing its Accum platform, 

the Company anticipates a research outlook of two years. The Company anticipates that the budget to achieve the 

Accum-Vaccine platform goal will be $250 000 for each of vaccine product development. With respect to ADCs, the 

Company will initially start with a single ADC as a proof-of-concept and will then evaluate its position with respect 

to proceeding to other ADCs. The Company anticipates that the budget to achieve this goal will initially be $250,000 

and an additional $250,000 for each of the types of ADCs of cancer the Company is targeting, resulting in an 

approximate research and development budget for ADCs of $1,500,000. 

 

In addition, the Company aims to advance its product development from pre-clinical stage to human clinical stage 

(i.e. Phase II clinical trials) and based on the success of such clinical trials, the Company plans to engage in licensing, 

partnership and/or acquisition discussions with other companies that have the resources to complete the development 
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and commercialization of the Company’s products. The Company intends to use its available funds to complete the 

development of its Accum platform, conduct further research and development, and for general working capital. 

For the vaccine-related projects, the Company aims to conduct pre-clinical studies using first an experimental antigen 

to set-up the parameters required to identify the dosing and best formulation capable of inducing potent immunity. 

Once this objective is achieved, the best identified conditions will be applied using one or two COVID-19-related 

antigens and one or two tumor-associated antigens. This would lead to the development and pre-clinical testing of 

viral and cancer vaccines prior to their continued development in the clinic. The Company anticipates that the research 

and development budget to achieve this goal will be ⁓ $1,500,000. 

The primary business objectives for the Company over the next 12 months are as follows: 

 

Businejectivess Business Objective Significant Events Time Period Costs related to Event 

External proof of 

concept in patient-

derived xenograft 

(PDX) breast cancer 

model  

 

To formulate and to characterize 

Accum-T-DM1 (Kadcyla) ADC 

 

2-4 months 

 

 

$30,000 

 

Conducting in vivo studies to assess 

the potency of the technology 

2-4 months $30,000 

External validation of the enhanced 

efficacy of Accum-T-DM1 

4 months $40,000 

 

Validation of two 

Accum-ADC and 

Accum-α(a)-ADC 

technology platform 

 

To formulate and characterize the 

ADC using the Accum technology 

10 months $150,000 

 

In vivo efficacy and toxicity 10 months $250,000 

Development of a 

COVID-19 vaccine 

candidate (Protein-

based vaccine) 

To formulate and to characterize the 

OVA antigen using the Accum 

technology 

 

4-6 months 

 

 

$150,000 
 

 

To test the in vivo immunogenicity 

of the COVID-19 vaccine 

4-6 months $100,000 

Development of cancer 

vaccine candidates (cell 

and protein-based) 

To formulate and to characterize the 

antigen using the Accum technology 

 

4-6 months 

 

 

$300,000 
 

 

To test the in vivo immunogenicity 

of the vaccine 

4-6 months $200,000 

The Company anticipates that it will have sufficient cash available to execute its business plan and to pay its operating 

and administrative costs for at least twelve months after Listing. 
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Impact of COVID-19 

The Company’s office in Vancouver continues to operate with COVID-19 safety protocols in place.  Team members 

are located in different geographical regions and continue to work remotely.  The Company’s lab service providers 

continue to operate with COVID-19 safety protocols in place.  To date, the Company has not experienced any 

significant delays in executing its planned activities as a result of COVID-19.  Certain lab materials have seen longer 

than normal shipping dates, but the Company continues to incorporate those considerations into its plans. Future 

disruptions caused by potential COVID-19 lockdowns or other restrictions could delay completion of the above 

primary business objectives over the next 12 months.  Any such disruptions would extend the timeline for those 

expenditures.  The Company believes it has sufficient working capital to continue throughout any such disruptions, 

should they occur.  Given that the Company is working on vaccine development, management believes that COVID-

19 may increase interest in the Company and its activities.  The Company continues to closely monitor the pandemic 

and continuously assess its potential impact. 

Unallocated Funds in Trust or Escrow 

Unallocated funds will be deposited in the Company’s bank account and added to the working capital of the Company. 

The Chief Financial Officer of the Company is responsible for the supervision of all financial assets of the Company. 

Based on the Company’s cash flow requirements, management will determine the appropriate level of liquidity 

required for operations and will draw down such funds as necessary. 

There may be circumstances, where for business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary in order for the 

Company to achieve its stated business objectives. 

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES DISTRIBUTED 

Authorized and Issued Share Capital 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Class A Common Shares without par value 

(the “Common Shares”), an unlimited number of Class A Special shares without par value (“Class A Special 

Shares”), an unlimited number of Class B Common shares without par value (“Class B Common Shares”), an 

unlimited number of Class B Special shares without par value (“Class B Special Shares”), an unlimited number of 

Class C Common shares without par value (“Class C Common Shares”), an unlimited number of Class C Special 

shares without par value (“Class C Special Shares”) and an unlimited number of Class D Special shares without par 

value (“Class D Special Shares”).  As of the date hereof, there are 28,661,774 Common Shares issued and 

outstanding, and no other classes of shares issued and outstanding. The Company expects to issue 6,137,000 Common 

Shares upon exercise of the Special Warrants pursuant the Special Warrant Offering.  

Class A Common Shares 

The holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at all meetings of shareholders, 

except meetings at which only holders of a specified class of shares (other than the Common Shares) are entitled to 

vote. Each Common Share entitles its holder to one (1) vote. Subject to the special rights and restrictions of the holders 

of the Class A Special Shares, the Class B Special Shares, the Class C Special Shares and Class D Special shares, the 

holders of the Common Shares, Class B Common Shares and Class C Common shares will be entitled to receive the 

remaining property of the Company upon dissolution, on a pari passu basis. 

Class A Special Shares  

The holders of the Class A Special Shares will be entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at all meetings of 

shareholders, except meetings at which only holders of a specified class of shares (other than the Class A Special 

Shares) are entitled to vote. Each Class A Special Share will entitle its holder to one (1) vote. 

Save and except for such dividends or distributions as are expressly permitted in the Articles, the holders of the Class 

A Special shares will not be entitled to further participation in any earnings or profits of the Company or in the value 

of its assets. Annual, non-cumulative dividends may be declared by the directors on the Class A Special Shares 

provided that the aggregate amount thereof will not be greater than 8% of the aggregate redemption value of all issued 
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and outstanding Class A Special Shares, and further provided that such dividends will only be payable if, as and when 

declared and at such times and in such manner as the directors may determine in their discretion. The holders of the 

Class A Special Shares will not be entitled to any dividends other than or in excess of the above dividends. 

The Company may redeem any Class A Special Share issued by it at a price equal to the redemption value thereof. At 

the time of payment of such redemption price, the Company will pay to the holder of said share the amount of any 

dividend declared thereon and unpaid. 

Class B Common Shares 

The Class B Common Shares rank pari passu in all respects with the Common Shares, save and except that subject 

to the provisions of the BCBCA, the holders of the Class B Common Shares will not, as such, have any right to 

receive notice of, attend or vote at meetings of shareholders. 

Class B Special Shares 

Subject to the provisions of the BCBCA, the holders of the Class B Special Shares will not, as such, have any right to 

receive notice of, attend or vote at meetings of shareholders. 

Save and except for such dividends or distributions as are expressly contemplated in the Articles, the holders of the 

Class B Special Shares will not be entitled to further participation in any earnings or profits of the Company or in the 

value of its assets. 

The Company may redeem any Class B Special Share issued by it at a price equal to the redemption value thereof. At 

the time of payment of such redemption price, the Company will pay to the holder of said share the amount of any 

dividend declared thereon and unpaid. 

Upon dissolution of the Company, the holders of the Class B Special Shares will be entitled to receive an amount per 

share equal to the redemption value thereof, together with any dividends declared thereon and unpaid, and no more, 

the whole in priority to the distribution of any property to the holders of the Common Shares, Class B Common Shares, 

Class C Common Shares and Class A Special Shares. 

Class C Common Shares 

The Class C Common Shares rank pari passu in all respects with the Common Shares and Class B Common shares, 

save and except that (a) subject to the provisions of the Act, the holders of the Class C Common Shares will not, as 

such, have any right to receive notice of, attend or vote at meetings of shareholders; and (b) the directors will not be 

obliged to declare dividends on the Class C Common Shares when declaring dividends on the Common Shares and 

Class B Common Shares. 

Class C Special Shares 

Subject to the provisions of the BCBCA, the holders of the Class C Special Shares will not, as such, have any right to 

receive notice of, attend or vote at meetings of shareholders. 

Save and except for such dividends or distributions as are expressly contemplated in the Articles, the holders of the 

Class C Special Shares will not be entitled to further participation in any earnings or profits of the Company or in the 

value of its assets. 

Annual, non-cumulative dividends may be declared by the directors on the Class C Special Shares provided that the 

aggregate amount thereof will not be greater than 9% of the aggregate redemption value of all issued and outstanding 

Class C Special Shares, and further provided that such dividends will only be payable if, as and when declared and at 
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such times and in such manner as the directors may determine in their discretion. The holders of the Class C Special 

Shares will not be entitled to any dividends other than or in excess of the above dividends. 

The Company may, and upon the demand of any holder thereof will, redeem any Class C Special Share issued by it 

at a price equal to the amount of the redemption value thereof. At the time of payment of such redemption price, the 

Company will pay to the holder amount of any dividend declared thereon and unpaid. 

Upon dissolution of the Company the holders of the Class C Special Shares will be entitled to receive an amount per 

share equal to the redemption value thereof, together with any dividends declared thereon and unpaid, and no more, 

the whole in priority to the distribution of any property to the holders of the Common Shares, Class B Common Shares, 

Class C Common Shares, Class A Special Shares and Class B Special Shares. 

Class D Special Shares 

Subject to the provisions of the BCBCA, the holders of Class D Special Shares will not, as such, have any right to 

receive notice of, attend or vote at meetings of shareholders. 

Monthly, non-cumulative dividends may be declared by the directors on the Class D Special Shares provided that the 

aggregate amount thereof will not be greater than 1% of the aggregate redemption value of all issued and outstanding 

Class D Special Shares, and further provided that such dividends will only be payable if, as and when declared and at 

such times and in such manner as the directors may determine in their discretion. The holders of the Class D Special 

Shares will not be entitled to any dividends other than or in excess of the above dividends. 

The Company may, and upon the demand of any holder thereof will, redeem any Class D Special Share issued by it 

at a price per share equal to the redemption value thereof. At the time of payment of such redemption price, the 

Company will pay to the holder of said share the amount of any dividend declared thereon and unpaid. 

Upon dissolution of the Company, the holders of the Class D Special Shares will be entitled to receive an amount per 

share equal to the redemption value thereof, together with any dividends declared thereon and unpaid, and no more, 

the whole in priority to the distribution of any of the property to the holders of any other class of shares. 

Dividends 

The directors may declare dividends on the Class A Common and Class B Common shares, or on the Class C Common 

shares, or on the Class A Special shares, or on the Class B Special shares, or on the Class C Special Shares, or on 

Class D Special shares, at such times, in such manner and in such amounts as they may determine in their discretion. 

The directors are not obliged to declare any dividend or, except as regards the Common Shares and the Class B 

Common Shares, to declare a dividend on one class of shares when a dividend is declared on another class of shares. 

Warrants 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company has the following warrants outstanding:  

(i) 2,588,000 Unit Warrants with each Unit Warrant entitling the holder to acquire one Common Share at a price of 

$1.25 per Common Share until the earlier of (a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) a period of 5 

years from the issue date of the Units, and (ii) 1,921,400 Finder’s Warrants, as follows: 1,071,400 Finder’s Warrants 

issued pursuant to the Private Placement, which are exercisable into Common Shares at $0.15 for a period of 36 

months after the Company becoming a Reporting Issuer and 850,000 Finder’s Warrants issued pursuant the Unit 

Offering and the Special Warrant Offering, which are exercisable into Common Shares at $0.60 until the earlier of (a) 

a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) December 24, 2025. 

The Company expects to issue approximately 6,137,000 Warrants upon deemed exercise of the Special Warrants on 

the Special Warrants Exercise Date. The Warrants will be represented by Warrant Certificates to be issued by the 

Company.  The following summary of certain provisions of the Warrants does not purport to be complete and is 

qualified in its entirety by reference to the provisions of the Warrant Certificates. 
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Each Warrant will be exercisable by the holder to acquire one Common Share (a “Warrant Share”) at a price of 

$1.25 per Warrant Share for a period equal to the shorter of (a) two years after the Listing Date, and (b) five years 

after the issue date of the Special Warrants. 

The number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants will be subject to standard anti-dilution 

provisions, including an adjustment in certain events including, without limitation, the subdivision or consolidation 

of the outstanding Common Shares, the issue of Common Shares or securities convertible into Common Shares by 

way of stock dividend or distribution, a dividend or distribution paid to all or substantially all of the holders of 

Common Shares, the issue of rights, options or warrants to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares in 

certain circumstances, and the distribution to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares of any other 

class of shares, rights, options or warrants, evidences of indebtedness or assets.  The number of Warrant Shares 

issuable upon exercise of Warrants will also be subject to standard anti-dilution adjustments upon share consolidations, 

share splits, spin-off events, rights issues and reorganizations. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Qualified Securities, consisting of the Common Shares and Warrants 

issuable upon the deemed exercise of the previously issued Special Warrants. The Special Warrants were sold to 

subscribers at a price of $0.60 per Special Warrant for aggregate gross proceeds of $3,682,200.   

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to 

list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock 

Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States of America (other than the 

Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by Plus Market Groups 

plc).  

The Company intends to apply to list its Common Shares on the CSE. Listing will be subject to the Company fulfilling 

all the listing requirements of the CSE. 

The Special Warrants and the underlying Common Shares, Warrants and Warrant Shares have not been and will not 

be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or under any state securities laws. This Prospectus does not constitute an 

offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the securities qualified for distribution hereunder within the 

United States or to U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act).  

The Special Warrants were issued pursuant to the terms of the Special Warrant Certificates representing the Special 

Warrants. The Special Warrant Certificates provide, among other things, that Special Warrantholders are entitled to 

receive in respect of each Special Warrant held, without additional consideration and without any further action on 

the part of the holder thereof, one Common Share and one Warrant.  The Special Warrants will be deemed exercised 

for Common Shares and Warrants on the Special Warrant Exercise Date.   

The Warrants will be represented by Warrant Certificates to be issued by the Company.  See “Description of the 

Securities Distributed – Warrants”.  

Certificates or DRS advices representing the Common Shares and Warrants to be issued upon deemed exercise of the 

Special Warrants will be available for delivery upon the deemed exercise of the Special Warrants. 

The Company is not currently a Reporting Issuer in any province or territory of Canada. 

For the purposes of this Prospectus, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Non-Offering Prospectus 

Agreement”) with Canaccord pursuant to which Canaccord has agreed to review this Prospectus and to undertake 

independent due diligence of the contents of this Prospectus for the purposes of executing the certificate of agent 

herein.  Under the terms of the Non-Offering Prospectus Agreement, subject to completing satisfactory additional due 

diligence and the delivery by the Company of certain required legal opinions, comfort letters and officer’s certificate, 

Canaccord has agreed to sign the Certificate of Agent which forms part of this Prospectus. As compensation for 

completing the required due diligence, pursuant to the terms of the Non-Offering Prospectus Agreement, the Company 

has agreed to pay Canaccord a fee of $100,000 plus applicable taxes.  The Company will also pay out-of-pocket 

expenses incurred by Canaccord.  The Non-Offering Prospectus Agreement also provides that the Company will 
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indemnify Canaccord and its directors, officers, employees, shareholders and agents against certain liabilities and 

expenses or will contribute to payments that Canaccord may be required to make in respect thereof.  

In connection with Canaccord’s assistance with finding purchasers for the Company’s offerings set out below, the 

Company issued the following finder’s warrants and Common Shares and paid to Canaccord the following cash fees:   
 

Offering 
Number of 

Finder’s 

Warrants 

Exercise Period Exercise 

Price  

Finder’s Fees Common 

Shares 

Private Placement  - 

First Tranche 

1,518,000 36 months following 

the Company 

becoming a 

Reporting Issuer 

$0.15 $227,700 N/A 

Private Placement  - 

Second Tranche 

420,000 36 months following 

the Company 

becoming a 

Reporting Issuer 

$0.15 $34,650 189,000(1) 

Private Placement  - 

Third  Tranche 

203,500 36 months following 

the Company 

becoming a 

Reporting Issuer 

$0.15 $13,431 113,960(1) 

Special Warrant 

Offering 

600,000 The earlier of (a) a 

period of two years 

from the Listing 

Date; and (b) 

December 24, 2025. 

$0.60 $360,000 N/A 

Unit Offering 250,000 The earlier of (a) a 

period of two years 

from the Listing 

Date; and (b) 

December 24, 2025. 

$0.60 $150,000 N/A 

Total  2,991,500 n/a n/a $785,781 302,960 

Note: 

(1) These Common Shares were issued at a deemed price of $0.15 per share. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The Company 

Consolidated Capitalization 

The following table sets forth the share and loan capital of the Company before and after giving effect to the deemed 

exercise of the Special Warrants.  The table should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the 

accompanying notes thereto included in this Prospectus. 

 

 

Amount Authorized 

or to be Authorized 

Outstanding as at the date of 

this Prospectus(1)(2) 

Outstanding After Giving  

Effect to the Special Warrant 

Offering(3) 

Common Shares Unlimited $4,256,891 

(28,661,774 Common Shares) 

$7,939,091 

(34,798,774 Common Shares) 
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Note: 

(1) At December 31, 2020, the Company had 28,657,774 Common Shares outstanding.  On January 25, 2021, the 

Company issued 4,000 Units, bringing the total Common Shares at the date of this Prospectus to 28,661,774. 

(2)  On an undiluted basis. The Company also has 1,350,000 Options, 2,588,000 Unit Warrants and 1,921,400 

Finder’s Warrants outstanding. 

(3) On an undiluted basis. Assumes the issuance of 6,137,000 Common Shares upon deemed exercise of 6,137,000 

Special Warrants. The Company also has 1,350,000 Options, 2,588,000 Unit Warrants and 1,921,400 Finder’s 

Warrants outstanding and will have 6,137,000 Warrants outstanding upon deemed exercise of the Special 

Warrants.  

Fully Diluted Share Capital 

The following table sets forth the anticipated fully diluted share capital of the Company after giving effect to 

the deemed exercise of the Special Warrants.  

 

Number of Common Shares 

Issued or Reserved for Issuance 

After Giving Effect to the 

Special Warrant Offering 

Percentage of issued and 

outstanding Common 

Shares After Giving Effect 

to the Special Warrant 

Offering (fully-diluted) 

Common Shares outstanding at the date of 

this Prospectus 

28,661,774 61.2% 

Common Shares to be issued upon deemed 

exercise of outstanding Special Warrants 

6,137,000 13.1% 

Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 

Warrants to be issued upon deemed exercise 

of Special Warrants 

6,137,000 13.1% 

Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 

Options 

1,350,000 2.9% 

Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 

Unit Warrants 

2,588,000 5.5% 

Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 

Finder’s Warrants 

1,921,400 4.1% 

Total: 46,795,174 

 

100% 

OPTIONS AND OTHER RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

Outstanding Options 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has 1,350,000 Options outstanding.  

Option Plan 

 

A Stock Option Plan was approved by the Company’s Board on January 5, 2021 (the “Stock Option Plan”) and shall 

come into effect when the Common Shares are listed on the Exchange. 

The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to provide the Company with a share related mechanism to enable the 

Company to attract, retain and motivate qualified directors, officers, employees and other service providers, to reward 
directors, officers, employees and other service providers for their contribution toward the long term goals of the 
Company and to enable and encourage such individuals to acquire shares of the Company as long term investments. 

The following information is intended to be a brief description of the Stock Option Plan and is qualified in its 
entirety by the full text of the Stock Option Plan: 
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(a) the Stock Option Plan provides that up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares from time

to time may be reserved for issue, less any common shares reserved for issuance under any other share

compensation arrangement. The Options are non-assignable and may be granted for a term not exceeding ten

years.

(b) the exercise price may not be lower than the greater of the closing market price of the common shares on

(a) the trading day prior to the date of grant of the Options; and (b) the date of grant of the Options.

Assignability of Options. All Options will be exercisable only by an optionee to whom they are granted and will not be 
assignable or transferable. 

Amendment of the Plan by the Board of Directors. 

The Board has the authority to do the following: 

1) oversee the administration of the Stock Option Plan in accordance with its terms;

2) appoint or replace the administrator of the Stock Option Plan from time to time;

3) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the

Stock Option Plan, including all questions relating to the market value;

4) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Stock Option Plan in such

manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Stock

Option Plan;

5) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Stock Option Plan;

6) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company

which may be granted to Option holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement

for purposes of the Stock Option Plan;

7) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:

a. determine the executives, employees or consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the

eligibility criteria set out in the Stock Option Plan;

b. determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option holder including, without limitation,

the Grant Date, Expiry Date, exercise price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with

the terms of any other Option);

c. subject to any necessary regulatory approvals and, in certain cases, consent of the Option holder,

amend the terms of any Options;

d. determine when Options shall be granted;

e. determine the number of Common Shares subject to each Option;

f. accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and

g. make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of

the Stock Option Plan.

Amendments to the Stock Option Plan requiring Regulatory Approvals 

Subject to any existing Regulatory Rules, the Company may from time to time amend any existing Option or the Stock 

Option Plan or the terms and conditions of any Option thereafter to be granted provided that where such amendment 

relates to an existing Option and it would: 

(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or

(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a

provision of the Stock Option Plan, the Company must also obtain the written consent of the Option

holder in question to such amendment. If at the time the exercise price of an Option is reduced the

Option holder is an insider of the Company, the Option holder must not exercise the option at the
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reduced exercise price until the reduction in exercise price has been approved by the disinterested 

shareholders of the Company, if required by the Exchange. 

Black-Out Period. The Stock Option Plan also contains a “black-out” provision. Should the Expiry Date for an Option 

fall within a blackout period, within or immediately after a blackout, the Option holder may elect for the term of such 

Option to be extended to the date which is ten (10) business days after the last day of the blackout; provided that the 

expiration date as extended will not in any event be beyond the later of: (i) December 31 of the calendar year in which 

the Option was otherwise due to expire; and (ii) the 15th day of the third month following the month in which the 

Option was otherwise due to expire. 

The Stock Option Plan will be the sole share option plan utilized by the Company for security-based compensation 

and long-term incentives. Any Option granted pursuant to a stock option plan previously adopted by the Board which 

was outstanding at the time the Stock Option Plan comes into effect shall be deemed to have been issued under the 

Stock Option Plan and shall, as of the date the Stock Option Plan comes into effect, be governed by the terms and 

conditions hereof. 

The aggregate maximum number of Common Shares that may be reserved for issuance under the Stock Option Plan 

is not to exceed 10% the total number of Common Shares of all classes of the Company issued and outstanding on a 

fully-diluted basis, being 3,479,877 Common Shares at the time Listing. 

The table below summarizes information about the Options expected to be outstanding prior to Listing:  

 

 Shares under Option Exercise Price Expiry Date 

Executive Officers(1) 850,000 $1.25 October 2023 

Directors(2) 
1,000,000 $1.25 October 2023 and 

January 2024 

Employees nil N/A N/A 

Consultants 50,000 $1.25 October 2023 

Notes: 

(1) Consists of Sébastien Plouffe, P. Joseph Meagher, Moutih Rafei, Simon Beaudoin and Carrie Cesarone. 

(2) Consists of Sébastien Plouffe, P. Joseph Meagher, Moutih Rafei, Raimar Löbenberg and Sarkis Meterissian.  
 

The full text of the Stock Option Plan is available upon written request made directly to the Company at its registered 

office located at 1680 – 200 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3L6. 

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

The Company has not declared any cash dividends or distributions for any of its securities and no such dividends or 

distributions are contemplated for the current financial year. 

 As of the date of this Prospectus, there are no restrictions that prevent the Company from paying dividends on its 

Common Shares. The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its shares and it is not contemplated 

that the Company will pay dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future. The Company currently intends to retain 

future earnings, if any, to finance the expansion of its business and does not anticipate paying dividends in the 

foreseeable future. Any future decision to pay dividends on the Company’s Common Shares will be made by the 

Board on the basis of the earnings, financial requirements and other conditions existing at such time.   

PRIOR SALES 

 

This table sets out particulars of the Common Shares that have been issued or sold within the 12 months prior to the 

date of this Prospectus. 
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Date of Issuance/Sale Security Type Number of Securities  Issue/Sale Price 

March 7, 2020 Common Shares 1,199,900(1) $0.005 

June 18, 2020 Common Shares 15,180,000(2) $0.15 

June 18, 2020 Common Shares 2,085,714(3) $0.15 

August 31, 2020 Common Shares 4,200,000(4) $0.15 

August 31, 2020 Common Shares 189,000(5) n/a 

October 9, 2020 Common Shares 2,035,000(6) $0.15 

October 9, 2020 Common Shares 113,960(7) n/a 

November 17, 2020 Common Shares 1,070,100(8) $0.15 

December 24, 2020 Common Shares 2,584,000(9) $0.60 

January 25, 2021 Common Shares 4,000(9) $0.60 

Notes:  

(1) Issued in debt settlement for services rendered, including principal work since inception. 

(2) Issued in connection with the First Tranche of the Private Placement.  

(3) Issued in connection with an assignment of IP rights from Socpra. 

(4) Issued in connection with the Second Tranche of the Private Placement.  

(5) Issued to finders in connection with the Second Tranche of the Private Placement. 

(6) Issued in connection with the Third Tranche of the Private Placement.  

(7) Issued to finders in connection with the Third Tranche of the Private Placement. 

(8) Issued in connection with the exercise of 1,070,100 Finder’s Warrants. 

(9) Issued pursuant to the Unit Offering. 

 

This table sets out particulars of securities exercisable for or exchangeable into Common Shares issued within the 12 

months prior to the date of this Prospectus.  

 

Date of Issuance Security Type Number of Securities Issue/Exercise Price  

June 18, 2020 Finder’s Warrants 683,100(1)  $0.15 

August 31, 2020 Finder’s Warrants 184,800(2) $0.15 

October 9, 2020 Options 700,000(3) $1.25 

October 9, 2020 Finder’s Warrants 203,500(4) $0.15 

October 23, 2020 Options 250,000(3) $1.25 

December 24, 2020 Special Warrants 6,000,000(5) $0.60 

December 24, 2020 Warrants 2,584,000(6) $1.25 

December 24, 2020 Finder’s Warrants 850,000(7) $0.60 

January 5, 2021 Options 400,000(3) $1.25 

January 25, 2021 Special Warrants 137,000(5) $0.60 

January 25, 2021 Warrants 4,000(6) $1.25 

Notes: 

(1) Issued in connection with the First Tranche of the Private Placement. The Finder’s Warrants issued in connection 

with the Private Placement are exercisable into Common Shares at $0.15 for a period of 36 months following the 
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Company becoming a Reporting Issuer.  1,518,000 Finder’s Warrants were originally issued and 834,900 were 

exercised on November 17, 2020. 

(2) Issued in connection with the Second Tranche of the Private Placement. The Finder’s Warrants issued in 

connection with the Private Placement are exercisable into Common Shares at $0.15 for a period of 36 months 

following the Company becoming a Reporting Issuer. 420,000 Finder’s Warrants were originally issued and 

235,200 were exercised on November 17, 2020. 

(3) Issued to certain directors and officers of the Company pursuant to consulting agreements. See “General 

Development of the Business and the Company - Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” and 

“Options and Other Rights to Purchase Securities”. 

(4) Issued in connection with the Third Tranche of the Private Placement. The Finder’s Warrants issued in connection 

with the Private Placement are exercisable into Common Shares at $0.15 for a period of 36 months following the 

Company becoming a Reporting Issuer. 

(5) Issued in connection with the Special Warrant Offering. Each Special Warrant will be deemed exercised in 

exchange for one Common Share and one Warrant on the earlier of the date that is (i) the third Business Day after 

a receipt for a final prospectus qualifying the distribution of the Common Shares issuable upon the conversion of 

the Special Warrants and (ii) 4 months and one day after the issue date of the Special Warrants.  The Company 

expects to issue 6,137,000 Common Shares and 6,137,000 Warrants upon conversion of the Special Warrants. 

See “Plan of Distribution” for a description of the terms of the Special Warrants. 

(6) Issued pursuant to the Unit Offering. Each Unit Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one Common Share at a 

price of $1.25 per Common Share until the earlier of (a) a period of two years from the Listing Date, and (b) five 

years from the issue date of the Units. 

(7) Issued pursuant to the Special Warrant Offering and the Unit Offering. The Finder’s Warrants issued in 

connection with the Special Warrant Offering and the Unit Offering are exercisable into Common Shares at $0.60 

until the earlier of (a) a period of two years from the Listing Date; and (b) December 24, 2025. 

 

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

Escrowed Securities 

 

CSE Escrow 

As of the date of this Prospectus, none of the Company’s securities are held in escrow or are subject to a 

contractual restriction on transfer, except as set out below under “Voluntary Escrow”. 

In connection with the proposed Listing on the CSE, the following Common Shares are expected to be 

subject to escrow upon completion of the listing on the CSE as shown in the following table:  

Designation of Class 

Number of securities 

held in escrow Percentage of class 

Common Shares 2,186,000 (1) 6.3%(2) 

Notes: 

(1) Common Shares (the “Escrowed Securities”) to be held in escrow and released over a 36-month period pursuant 

to an escrow agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”) between directors and officers of the Company and 

Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as escrow agent. The release of the Escrowed Securities under the 

Escrow Agreement is as follows: 10% on date of listing on the CSE and thereafter 15% released every six months 

over a 36-month period 

(2) Percentage is based on 34,798,774 Common Shares expected to be outstanding upon exercise of the Special 

Warrants and Listing on the CSE.  

Section 3.5 of National Policy 46-201 - Escrow for Initial Public Offerings provides that all securities of a 

company owned or controlled by principals will be escrowed at the time of the company’s initial public offering, 

unless the securities held by the principal or issuable to the principal upon conversion of convertible securities held 
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by the principal collectively represent less than 1% of the total issued and outstanding shares of the company after 

giving effect to the initial public offering. 

Directors and executive officers and certain shareholders of the Company (the “Escrow Shareholders”) 

have entered into the Escrow Agreement with the Company pursuant to which the Escrow Shareholders have agreed 

to deposit the securities of the Company which they hold with Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as escrow 

agent, until they are released in accordance with terms of their respective Escrow Agreements, CSE Policy and 

applicable securities law as follows: 

Release Date Amount of Securities to be Released 

On the date the Company’s securities are listed on the CSE 10% of Escrowed Securities 

6 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

12 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

18 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

24 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

30 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

36 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

Voluntary Escrow 

10,707,500 Common Shares held by 80 shareholders of the Company are subject to voluntary resale restrictions 

whereby such Common Shares will be released six months from Listing.   

2,085,714 Common Shares issued to Socpra in connection with an assignment of certain IP rights are subject to a 

voluntary escrow pursuant to which 10% of the Common Shares will be released from escrow upon Listing and then 

an additional 15% will be released every six months thereafter.  

 

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The Company 

As of the date of this Prospectus, 28,661,774 Common Shares are issued and outstanding.  

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Company, upon the deemed exercise of the Special 

Warrants, no persons are expected to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, 

Common Shares carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attaching to all the outstanding Common Shares. 

 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

Name, Occupation and Security Holdings  

The following table sets out the name, age, city of residence, position and the number and percentage of 

Common Shares which will be beneficially owned or controlled by each of the current directors and officers of the 

Company.  The directors of the Company are Sébastien Plouffe, P. Joseph Meagher, Moutih Rafei, Raimar Löbenberg 

and Sarkis Meterissian and the officers of the Company consist of Sébastien Plouffe (CEO), P. Joseph Meagher (CFO), 

Carrie Cesarone (Corporate Secretary), Simon Beaudoin (CTSO) and Moutih Rafei (VP Research and Development).  
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Name, Age and City 

of Residence Position 

Principal Occupations Held 

During the Last 5 Years 

Common Shares Owned After 

Giving Effect to the Special 

Warrant Offering  

   Number Percentage 

Sébastien Plouffe (1) 

Age 48  

Montreal, QC 

Chief Executive 

Officer and 

Director 

President and Chief Executive 

Officer of Sediamek Inc.  

       1,600,000 4.6% 

P. Joseph Meagher 

Age 36 

Vancouver, BC 

Chief Financial 

Officer and 

Director 

Chief Financial Officer for 

several publicly listed companies 

350,000 1% 

Carrie Cesarone 

Age 55 

Vancouver, BC 

Corporate 

Secretary 

Corporate Secretary for several 

publicly listed companies 

66,000 <1% 

Dr. Simon Beaudoin 

Age 37 

Montreal, QC 

CTSO Postdoctoral researcher and 

Investigator 

Nil - 

Dr. Moutih Rafei 

Age 39 

Vaudreuil-Dorion, 

QC 

VP Research 

and 

Development 

and Director 

Professor and Principal 

Investigator 

70,000 <1% 

Raimar Löbenberg (1)  

Age 55 

Edmonton, AB 

Director Professor at the Faculty of 

Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical 

Sciences at the University of 

Alberta 

100,000 <1% 

Sarkis Meterissian (1) 

Age 59 

Mont-Royal QC 

Director Professor of Surgery and 

Oncology and Director of the 

Breast Center of the MUHC at 

McGill University 

Nil - 

     

Notes: 

(1) Proposed member of audit committee. 

As of the date of this Prospectus, directors and officers of the Company, as a group, own or control or exercise 

direction over 2,186,000 Common Shares, being approximately 7.63% of the issued Common Shares.  

Directors and Officers – Biographies 

The following biographies provide information in respect of the directors and officers of the Company. 

Sébastien Plouffe – Age 48 - CEO and Director 

 Mr. Plouffe is an experienced finance professional and entrepreneur with over 25 years of experience in both 
capital markets and project development. He worked for more than 10 years as a VP Senior Investment Advisor with 
Canadian brokerages firms BMO Nesbitt Burns and Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management, from which he has 
accumulated considerable expertise in most aspects of raising and managing capital. Over the last 15 years, Mr. Plouffe 
was instrumental in the success of various Canadian and international private and public companies in sectors such as 
biotech, mining and technology. 



 

 

 

 - 57 - 

 

 

 

Mr. Plouffe has entered into a non-competition and non-disclosure agreement with the Company. It is 

expected that Mr. Plouffe will devote approximately 70-75% of his time to the business of the Company to effectively 

fulfill his duties as a CEO and Director.  

P. Joseph Meagher – Age 36 - CFO and Director 

Mr. Meagher has been a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA, CA) since 2008 and obtained the 

Chartered Director (C.Dir.) designation from The Directors College (a joint venture between McMaster University 

and The Conference Board of Canada) in 2017. He currently serves as the CFO for several publicly listed companies 

namely Gatling Exploration Inc., Pacton Gold Inc., Bessor Minerals Inc., Kanadario Gold Inc., and Huntsman 

Exploration Inc. Previous experience includes Staff Accountant and Manager. 

Mr. Meagher has entered into a non-competition and non-disclosure agreement with the Company. It is 

expected that Mr. Meagher will devote approximately 15-20% of his time to the business of the Company to effectively 

fulfill his duties as a CFO. 

Carrie Cesarone – Age 55 - Corporate Secretary 

Ms Cesarone has worked in the public company sector for the past 30 years. She was a paralegal for 

Vancouver securities lawyers and following that, has worked as an independent contractor for both public and private 

companies. She has served as a director, Corporate Secretary and CFO for a number of listed companies and continues 

to serve a Corporate Secretary for Pacton Gold Inc. and Huntsman Exploration Inc. Ms Cesarone holds a Bachelor of 

Arts degree from Simon Fraser University. 

Ms. Cesarone has entered into a non-competition and non-disclosure agreement with the Company. It is 

expected that Ms. Cesarone will devote approximately 15-20% of her time to the business of the Company to 

effectively fulfill her duties as Corporate Secretary.  

Dr. Simon Beaudoin – Age 37 – CTSO 

 Dr. Simon Beaudoin, CTSO & Accum Co-Founder, has a MSc and PhD in Biochemistry from the 

University of Sherbrooke. As co-found of Defence Technologies, Mr. Beaudoin’s knowledge in biochemistry, and 

molecular and cellular biology greatly contributed to the conceptualization, realization and valorization of the 

Accum™ technology platform. With expertise in the area of immuno-conjugation and, more particularly, in the 

development and optimization of antibody-drug conjugates (ADC) for anti-cancer applications, and radio-immuno-

conjugates for therapeutic and/or TEP imaging applications, his work has been covered in many scientific journals. 

Mr. Beaudoin is also the recipient of 15 peer-reviewed awards and scholarships. 

Mr. Beaudoin has entered into a non-competition and non-disclosure agreement with the Company. It is 

expected that Mr. Beaudoin will devote approximately 60-75% of his time to the business of the Company to 

effectively fulfill his duties as CTSO. 

Dr. Moutih Rafei – Age 39 - VP Research and Development and Director 

Dr. Moutih Rafei, VP Research & Development and Director, is an immuno-oncologist with profound 

knowledge and insight in the fields of T-cell development, stem cell biology, cancer immunotherapy and autoimmune 

diseases. Dr. Rafei obtained a PhD in Experimental Medicine at McGill University in 2009 followed by a post-doctoral 

training at Université de Montréal from 2009 to 2013.  Dr. Rafei became a leader in the development of immune-

related therapies for catastrophic illnesses and his research has uncovered many seminal discoveries. Dr Rafei received 

numerous awards and recognitions over the last 15 years. His research has resulted in over 22 high impact peer-

reviewed publications, 6 reviews, 2 book chapters, 1 monograph, and 5 patents. 

Dr. Rafei has entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Company. It is expected 

that Dr. Rafei will devote approximately 25-30% of his time to the business of the Company to effectively fulfill his 

duties as a VP Research and Development and Director. 

Dr. Raimar Löbenberg – Age 55 - Director 
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Dr. Löbenberg holds a Bachelor’s of Science degree in Pharmacy from the Johannes Gutenberg-University, 

Mainz, Germany and a PhD in Pharmaceutics from the Johann Wolfgang Goethe-University, Frankfurt, Germany. He 

joined the University of Alberta in 2000 where he is the founder and director of the Drug Development and Innovation 

Centre, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences. Dr. Löbenberg’s research interests are in biopharmaceutics 

to predict the oral performance of drugs and botanicals and inhalable nanoparticles to treat lung diseases such as lung 

cancer, tuberculosis or leishmanasis. He is a co-founder of RS Therapeutics Inc., a foam-based topical drug delivery 

company. 

Dr. Löbenberg’s recent notable positions include: President of the Canadian Society for Pharmaceutical 

Sciences 2014 to 2015; Vice Chair of the United States Pharmacopeia Dietary Supplement Expert Committee 2016 to 

2017; current member of the United States Pharmacopeia Dietary Supplement Expert Committee; current Vice Chair 

of the Specialty Committee of Traditional Chinese Medicine in Pharmaceutics of the World Foundation of Chinese 

Medicine Science; and current member of the Health Canada Scientific Advisory Committee on Pharmaceutical 

Sciences and Clinical Pharmacology and the Scientific Advisory Panel on Opioid Analgesic Abuse. 

Dr. Löbenberg has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Company. It is 

expected that Dr. Löbenberg will devote approximately 10-15% of his time to the business of the Company to 

effectively fulfill his duties as a Director.   

Dr. Sarkis Meterissian - Age 59 - Director 

Dr. Meterissian is a Professor of Surgery and Oncology (tenured), Director of the Breast Center of the 

MUHC and Head of the MUHC Breast Tumor Site Group. From 2007-2009 he was President of the Canadian Society 

of Surgical Oncology and from 2013 to 2015 he was President of Breast Surgery International. He has also served as 

the Medical Advisory Board co-Chair of the Quebec Breast Cancer Foundation since 2012. 

Dr. Meterissian is involved in a number of clinical and basic science research projects related to breast cancer. 

In 1999, along with Dr. Morag Park (the Director of the Goodman Cancer Center), he set-up the McGill Functional 

Genomics Group which includes an extensive solid and liquid tissue bank for breast cancer.  This Tumor Bank has 

led to a number of landmarks papers including the discovery of the Stromal-derived Protein Predictor (SDPP) 

published in Nature Medicine in 2008. He presently is involved in clinical research collaborations with the U de M 

Polytechnique Institute funded by NSERC and translational research projects with Dr. Luke McCaffrey of the 

Goodman.  

He is also on the Scientific Committee of the McPeak-Sirois group representing the MUHC.  This is a Clinical 

Trials Research Group bringing together the large cancer centers in the province. As part of this group he has recently 

set-up a Breast Cancer Metastases Registry supported by major pharma.  This registry will include, in a prospective 

fashion, clinical data on metastatic breast cancers from across the province and their management.   

Dr. Meterissian has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Company. It is 

expected that Dr. Meterissian will devote approximately 10-15% of his time to the business of the Company to 

effectively fulfill his duties as a Director.   

Committees 

The only committee of the Board is the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee of the Company consists of Sébastien 

Plouffe, Raimar Löbenberg and Sarkis Meterissian.  

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

No director or officer of the Company is, or has been within the past ten years, a director or officer of any other issuer 

that, while such person was acting in that capacity, was: 

(a) the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the issuer access to any 

statutory exemptions for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or 
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(b) was declared bankrupt or made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, made a proposal 

under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any 

proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or 

trustee appointed to hold the assets of that person. 

Carrie Cesarone was the CFO, Secretary and a director of Argentum Silver Corp. when it failed to file its annual 

audited financial statements and the related management’s discussion and analysis for the year ended June 30, 2015. 

On November 2, 2015, the British Columbia Securities Commission issued an order ceasing all trading by Ms. 

Cesarone of the securities of Argentum Silver Corp. The order was revoked on December 16, 2015. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

No director or officer of the Company has within the ten years before the date of this Prospectus, been subject to any 

penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or securities regulatory authority relating to trading in securities, promotion 

or management of a publicly traded issuer, theft or fraud.  

Individual Bankruptcies 

No director or officer of the Company is, or, within the ten years before the date of this Prospectus, has been declared 

bankrupt or made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy 

or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a 

receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that individual.   

Conflicts of Interest 

Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors and officers of the Company also holding positions as 

directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals who will be directors and officers of the Company 

have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses and companies on 

their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the directors and officers of the 

Company will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and 

remedies provided under British Columbia corporate law.  Directors who are in a position of conflict will abstain from 

voting on any matters relating to the conflicting company. 

 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

In this section “Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means each individual who acted as chief executive officer of 

the Company, or acted in a similar capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year (a “CEO”), 

each individual who acted as chief financial officer of the Company, or acted in a similar capacity, for any part of the 

most recently completed financial year (a “CFO”) and each of the three most highly compensated executive officers, 

other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, 

individually, more than CDN$150,000 as well as any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been 

provided except that the individual was not serving as an executive officer of the Company at the end of the most 

recently completed financial year. 

The Company 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

Sébastien Plouffe (CEO and Director) and P. Joseph Meagher (CFO and Director) are the Company’s only Named 

Executive Officers. 

Executive compensation is intended to be consistent with the Company’s business plans, strategies and goals while 

taking into account various factors and criteria, including competitive factors and the Company’s performance.  The 

Company’s executive compensation program is intended to provide an appropriate overall compensation package that 

permits the Company to attract and retain highly qualified and experienced senior executives and to encourage superior 
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performance by the Company.  The Company’s compensation policies are intended to motivate individuals to achieve 

and to award compensation based on corporate and individual results.  Compensation for the NEOs is intended to 

reflect a fair evaluation of overall performance. 

The Board has not appointed a compensation committee and the responsibilities relating to executive and director 

compensation, including reviewing and recommending director compensation, overseeing the Company’s 

compensation program, recommending compensation of the Company’s officers and employees, and evaluating the 

performance of officers generally and in light of annual goals and objectives, is performed by the Board as a whole.  

The Board also assumes responsibility for reviewing and monitoring the long-range compensation strategy for the 

Company’s senior management.  The Board reviews compensation of senior management on an annual basis.  

When determining individual compensation levels for the Company’s NEOs, a variety of factors will be considered 

including: the overall financial and operating performance of the Company, each NEO’s individual performance and 

contribution towards meeting corporate objectives and each NEO’s level of responsibility and length of service. 

The Board considers the following objectives when reviewing annual compensation: (i) retaining individuals critical 

to the growth and overall success of the Company; (ii) rewarding achievements of individuals; (iii) providing fair and 

competitive compensation; and (iv) compensating individuals based on their performance. 

The base salary review for each NEO is based on an assessment of factors such as current market conditions and 

particular skills, including leadership ability and management effectiveness, experience, responsibility and proven or 

expected performance.   

The Company has adopted a Stock Option Plan to assist the Company in attracting, retaining and motivating directors, 

officer, employees, consultants and contractors of the Company and of its affiliates and to closely align the personal 

interests of such service providers with the interests of the Company and its shareholders.  As of the date of this 

Prospectus, the Company has granted 1,350,000 Options.  See “Options and Other Rights to Purchase Securities.” 

The Company is aware that compensation practices can have unintended risk consequences. At the present time, the 

Board is satisfied that the current executive compensation program does not encourage the executives to expose the 

business to inappropriate risk. 

Summary Compensation Table 

The Company was not a Reporting Issuer at any time during the most recently completed period for which financial 

statements are available. Accordingly, the following table sets out information concerning the expected compensation 

to be paid to each NEO once the Company becomes a Reporting Issuer, effective as of date hereof, for the 12 month 

period after the Listing Date. 

 

Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Salary 

(CAD$) 

Share-

based 

Award

s 

(CAD$

) 

Option-

based 

Awards 

(CAD$) 

Non-equity Incentive 

Plan Compensation 

(CAD$) 

Pension 

Value  

(CAD$) 

All 

other 

Compen

-sation 

(CAD$)(

1) 

Total 

Compen-

sation 

(CAD$) 

    

Annual 

Incentive 

Plans 

Long-

term 

Incentiv

e Plans    

Sébastien 

Plouffe 

CEO and 

Director 

90,000 Nil 12,523 Nil Nil Nil Nil 12,523 
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Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Salary 

(CAD$) 

Share-

based 

Award

s 

(CAD$

) 

Option-

based 

Awards 

(CAD$) 

Non-equity Incentive 

Plan Compensation 

(CAD$) 

Pension 

Value  

(CAD$) 

All 

other 

Compen

-sation 

(CAD$)(

1) 

Total 

Compen-

sation 

(CAD$) 

    

Annual 

Incentive 

Plans 

Long-

term 

Incentiv

e Plans    

P. Joseph 

Meagher 
CFO and 

Director 

72,000 Nil 6,261 Nil Nil Nil Nil 6,261 

Incentive Plan Awards 

Option grants will be used to align executive interests with those of the shareholders of the Company and will be based 

on the executive’s performance, level of responsibility, as well as the number and exercise price of Options previously 

issued to the executive as part of the overall aggregate total compensation package. Options may be granted on an 

annual basis in connection with the review of executives’ compensation packages, or upon hire or promotion and as 

special recognition for extraordinary performance.   

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Company does not anticipate that it will have a pension, retirement or similar plan. 

Termination of Employment and Change of Control Benefits 

As summarized further below, we have written consulting agreements with each of our NEOs entitling the NEO to 

compensation payments in the event of a termination resulting from a change in control. 

Sébastien Plouffe – Pursuant to the terms of the Executive Consulting Agreement entered into among the Company, 

Sediamek and Sébastien Plouffe on September 18, 2020, Mr. Plouffe is entitled to be paid the equivalent of 3 months 

in consulting fees (being an aggregate sum of $22,500) in the event of a termination, by either Mr. Plouffe or the 

Company, as a result of a change in control.  

P. Joseph Meagher – Pursuant to the terms of the Executive Consulting Agreement entered into among the Company, 

Meagher Consulting and P. Joseph Meager on September 18, 2020, Mr. Meagher is entitled to be paid the equivalent 

of 3 months in consulting fees (being an aggregate sum of $18,000) in the event of a termination, by either Mr. 

Meagher or the Company, as a result of a change in control.  

Director Compensation 

Non-executive directors of the Company are not expected to be paid fees for the year following the Listing Date. 

Directors will be entitled to receive options in accordance with the terms of the Stock Option Plan. The timing, 

amounts, exercise price of those future option-based awards are not yet determined. Directors of the Company will be 

reimbursed for any out-of-pocket travel expenses incurred in order to attend meetings of the Board, committees of the 

Board or meetings of the shareholders of the Company. It is anticipated that the Company will obtain customary 

insurance for the benefit of its directors and that the Company will enter into indemnification agreements with each 

director and officer. 
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INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The Company 

As of the date of this Prospectus, no director or executive officer of the Company or any associate thereof, is indebted 

to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or has been at any time during the preceding financial year.   

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee’s Mandate 

The Board will adopt a Charter of the Audit Committee, a copy of which is attached to this Prospectus as 

Exhibit “B” setting forth the responsibilities, powers and operations of the Audit Committee consistent with NI 52-

110. The principal duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee will be to assist the Board in discharging the 

oversight of:  

 the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and accounting and financial processes and the audits 

of our financial statements;   

 the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;   

 the Company’s external auditors’ qualifications and independence;   

 the work and performance of the Company’s financial management and its external auditors; and 

 the Company’s system of disclosure controls and procedures and system of internal controls regarding 

finance, accounting, legal compliance, and risk management established by management and the Board.   

It is anticipated that the Audit Committee will have access to all books, records, facilities, and personnel and 

may request any information about the Company as it may deem appropriate. It will also have the authority to retain 

and compensate special legal, accounting, financial and other consultants, or advisors to advise the Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee is also expected to review and approve all related-party transactions and prepare reports for the 

Company’s Board on such related-party transactions as well as be responsible for the pre-approval of all non-audit 

services to be provided by the Company’s auditors.  

Composition of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee of the Company is to consist of Raimar Löbenberg (Chair), Sébastien Plouffe and Sarkis 

Meterissian. Of the members of the Audit Committee, Raimar Löbenberg and Sarkis Meterissian are independent. 

Sébastien Plouffe (CEO) will be a non-independent member of the Audit Committee. In accordance with section 

6.1.1(3) NI 52-110 relating to the composition of the audit committee for venture issuers, a majority of the members 

of the Audit Committee will not be executive officers, employees or control persons of the Company.  

All members of the Audit Committee are considered to be financially literate as required by section 1.6 of NI 52-110.  

For a summary of the experience and education of the Audit Committee members see “Directors and Officers – 

Biographies”.  

Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

The Company is relying on the exemptions provided for “venture issuers” in section 6.1 of NI 52-110 with respect to 

Part 3 – Composition of the Audit Committee and Part 5 – Reporting Obligations. 

External Auditor Service Fees 

The Audit Committee has reviewed the nature and amount of the non-audit services provided by Crowe Mackay LLP 

to ensure auditor independence.  The following table sets out the aggregate fees billed by Crowe Mackay LLP for the 

audit fees and the tax fees for the two most recently completed fiscal years for each category of fees described:  

 



 

 

 

 - 63 - 

 

 

 

Time Period Audit Fees(1) Audit Related Fees(2) Tax Fees(3) All Other Fees(4) 

Fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 6,000 Nil Nil Nil 

Fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 11,000 8,500 500 Nil 

Notes: 

(1) “Audit Fees” includes fees necessary to perform the annual audit of the Company’s financial statements.   

(2) “Audit-Related Fees” include services that are traditionally performed by the auditor.  These audit-related 

services include reviewing interim financial statements and disclosure documents related to financings and 

other attest services required by legislation or regulation, such as comfort letters, consents, reviews of securities 

filings and statutory audits.  

(3) “Tax Fees” include fees for all tax services other than those included in “Audit Fees” and “Audit-Related 

Fees”.  This category includes fees for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice.  Tax planning and tax 

advice includes assistance with tax audits and appeals, tax advice related to mergers and acquisitions, and 

requests for rulings or technical advice from tax authorities. 

(4) “All Other Fees” include all other non-audit services, the aggregate fees billed for products and services, other 

than the services reported under Notes (1), (2) and (3) above.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Corporate governance refers to the policies and structure of the Board, whose members are elected by and are 

accountable to the shareholders of the Company.  Corporate governance encourages establishing a reasonable degree 

of independence of the Board from executive management and the adoption of policies to ensure the Board recognizes 

the principles of good management.  The Board is committed to sound corporate governance practices, as such 

practices are both in the interests of shareholders and help to contribute to effective and efficient decision-making.  

Board of Directors 

Directors are considered to be independent if they have no direct or indirect material relationship with the Company.  

A “material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the opinion of the Board, be reasonably expected to interfere 

with the exercise of a director’s independent judgment.  

The Board facilitates its exercise of independent judgement in carrying out its responsibilities by carefully examining 

issues and consulting with outside counsel and other advisors in appropriate circumstances.  The Board requires 

management to provide complete and accurate information with respect to the Company’s activities and to provide 

relevant information concerning the industry in which the Company operates in order to identify and manage risks.  

The Board is responsible for monitoring the Company’s senior officers, who in turn are responsible for the 

maintenance of internal controls and management information systems.  

The Board consists of Sébastien Plouffe, P. Joseph Meagher, Moutih Rafei, Raimar Löbenberg and Sarkis Meterissian. 

The independent directors are Raimar Löbenberg and Sarkis Meterissian. Sébastien Plouffe, the CEO of the Company, 

P. Joseph Meagher, the CFO of the Company, and Moutih Rafei, VP Research and Development of the Company, are 

non-independent directors.  

Directorships 

The following director of the Company is currently a director of other reporting issuers (or equivalent in a foreign 

jurisdiction): 

Name Name of Reporting Issuer 

Raimar Löbenberg XPhyto Therapeutics Corp. 
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Orientation and Continuing Education 

When new directors are appointed to the Board, they receive an orientation, commensurate with their previous 

experience on the Company’s business and on the responsibilities of directors. 

Meetings of the Board may also include presentations by the Company’s management to give the directors additional 

insight into the Company’s business. 

Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing corporate 

legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an individual 

directors’ participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to ensure 

that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company.  Further, the 

Company’s auditor has full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee at all times to discuss the audit of the 

Company’s financial statements and any related findings as to the integrity of the financial reporting process.  

Nomination of Directors 

The Board will consider its size each year when it considers the number of directors to recommend to the shareholders 

for election at the annual meeting of shareholders, taking into account the number required to carry out the Board’s 

duties effectively and to maintain a diversity of views and experience. 

The Board does not have a nominating committee, and these functions are currently performed by the Board as a 

whole; however, if there is a change in the number of directors required by the Company, this policy will be reviewed. 

Compensation 

The Board is responsible for determining compensation for the officers, employees and non-executive directors of the 

Company. The Board annually reviews all forms of compensation paid to officers, employees and non-executive 

directors, both with regard to the expertise and experience of each individual and in relation to general industry 

standards.  See “Executive Compensation”.   

Other Committees of the Board of Directors 

The Board has no committees other than the Audit Committee.  

Assessments 

The Board monitors the adequacy of information given to directors, communication between the Board and 

management, and the strategic direction and processes of the Board and Audit Committee.  

RISK FACTORS 

Risks Relating to the Company’s Business 

 

Limited Operating History 

The Company has a very limited history of operations and is considered a start-up company. As such, the 

Company is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, 

limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and lack of revenues.  There is no assurance that 

the Company will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of the Company’s 

success must be considered in light of its early stage of operations. 
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The Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from the expectations of 

the Company’s management. 

 

The Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from management’s 

expectations. The Company has experienced some changes in its operating plans and certain delays in its plans. As a 

result, the Company’s net loss and cash flow may differ materially from the Company’s projected net loss and cash 

flow. The process for estimating the Company’s net loss and cash flow requires the use of judgment in determining 

the appropriate assumptions and estimates. These estimates and assumptions may be revised as additional information 

becomes available and as additional analyses are performed. In addition, the assumptions used in planning may not 

prove to be accurate, and other factors may affect the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. 

 

The Company may not be successful in its efforts to identify, license or discover additional product candidates. 

 
Although a substantial amount of the Company’s effort will focus on the continued research and pre-clinical 

testing, potential approval and commercialization of its existing product candidates, the success of its business also 

depends in part upon its ability to identify, license or discover additional product candidates. The Company’s research 

programs or licensing efforts may fail to yield additional product candidates for clinical development for a number of 

reasons, including but not limited to the following: 

 
• the Company’s research or business development methodology or search criteria and process may be 

unsuccessful in identifying potential product candidates;  

• the Company may not be able or willing to assemble sufficient resources to acquire or discover 

additional product candidates; 

• the Company’s product candidates may not succeed in pre-clinical or clinical testing; 

• the Company’s product candidates may be shown to have harmful side effects or may have other 

characteristics that may make the products unmarketable or unlikely to receive marketing approval; 

• competitors may develop alternatives that render the Company’s product candidates obsolete or less 

attractive; 

• product candidates the Company develops may be covered by third parties’ patents or other 

exclusive rights; 

• the market for a product candidate may change during the Company’s program so that such a 

product may become unreasonable to continue to develop; 

• a product candidate may not be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at an acceptable 

cost or at all; and 

• a product candidate may not be accepted as safe and effective by patients, the medical community or 

third-party payors. 

 
If any of these events occurs, the Company may be forced to abandon its development efforts to identify, 

license or discover additional product candidates, which would have a material adverse effect on its business and could 

potentially cause the Company to cease operations. Research programs to identify new product candidates require 

substantial technical, financial and human resources. The Company may focus its efforts and resources on potential 

programs or product candidates that ultimately prove to be unsuccessful. 

 

There is no assurance that the Company will turn a profit or generate immediate revenues. 

 

 There is no assurance as to whether the Company will be profitable, earn revenues, or pay dividends. The 

Company has incurred and anticipates that it will continue to incur substantial expenses relating to the development 

and initial operations of its business. The payment and amount of any future dividends will depend upon, among 

other things, the Company’s results of operations, cash flow, financial condition, and operating and capital 

requirements. There is no assurance that future dividends will be paid, and, if dividends are paid, there is no assurance 

with respect to the amount of any such dividends. 
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The Company as a going concern 

 

The continued operation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the Company’s ability to 

generate positive cash flows and/or obtain additional financing sufficient to fund continuing activities and acquisitions. 

While the Company continues to review its operations in order to identify strategies and tactics to increase revenue 

streams and financing opportunities, there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in such efforts; if the 

Company is not successful, it may be required to significantly reduce or limit operations, or no longer operate as a 

going concern. It is also possible that operating expenses could increase in order to grow the business. If the Company 

does not significantly increase its revenue to meet these increased operating expenses and/or obtain financing until its 

revenue meets these operating expenses, its business, financial condition and operating results could be materially 

adversely affected. The Company cannot be sure when or if it will ever achieve profitability and, if it does, it may not 

be able to sustain or increase that profitability. 

 

The Company’s intellectual property and licences thereto 

 

The Company’s success will depend in part on its ability to protect and maintain its intellectual property 

rights and its licenses. No assurance can be given that the license or rights used by the Company will not be challenged, 

invalidated, infringed or circumvented, nor that the rights granted thereunder will provide competitive advantages to 

the Company. It is not clear whether the pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents. There is no 

assurance that the Company will be able to enter into licensing arrangements, develop or obtain alternative technology 

in respect of patents issued to third parties that incidentally cover its production processes. Moreover, the Company 

could potentially incur substantial legal costs in defending legal actions which allege patent infringement or by 

instituting patent infringement suits against others. The Company’s commercial success also depends on the Company 

not infringing patents or proprietary rights of others and not breaching the exclusive license granted to the Company. 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to maintain such licenses that it may require to conduct its 

business or that such licences have been obtained at a reasonable cost. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the 

Company will be able to remain in compliance with its licenses. Consequently, there may be a risk that such licenses 

may be withdrawn with no compensation or penalties to the Company. 

 

The Company faces product liability exposure, which, if not covered by insurance, could result in significant 

financial liability. 

The risk of product liability is inherent in the research, development, manufacturing, marketing and use of 

pharmaceutical products. Product candidates and products that we may commercially market in the future may cause, 

or may appear to have caused, injury or dangerous drug reactions, and expose the Company to product liability claims. 

These claims might be made by patients who use the product, healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies, 

corporate collaborators or others selling such products. If the Company’s product candidates during clinical trials were 

to cause adverse side effects, the Company may be exposed to substantial liabilities. Regardless of the merits or 

eventual outcome, product liability claims or other claims related to the Company’s product candidates may result in: 

• decreased demand for our products due to negative public perception; 

• injury to our reputation; 

• withdrawal of clinical trial participants or difficulties in recruiting new trial participants; 

• initiation of investigations by regulators; 

• costs to defend or settle related litigation; 

• a diversion of management’s time and resources; 

• substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients; 

• product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions; 

• loss of revenues from product sales; and 

• the inability to commercialize any of product candidates, if approved. 

The Company intends to obtain clinical trial insurance once a clinical trial is initiated.  However, the 

insurance coverage may not be sufficient to reimburse the Company for any expenses or losses it may suffer. Insurance 
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coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and, in the future, the Company, or any of its collaborators, may not be 

able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts or at all to protect against losses due 

to liability. Even if the Company’s agreements with any future collaborators entitle it to indemnification against 

product liability losses, such indemnification may not be available or adequate should any claim arise. The Company’s 

inability to obtain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against product liability claims 

could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of its product candidates. If a successful product liability claim or series 

of claims is brought against the Company for uninsured liabilities or in excess of insured liabilities, its assets may not 

be sufficient to cover such claims and its business operations could be impaired. 

Should any of the events described above occur, this could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 

business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We are very early in our development efforts. If we are unable to advance our product candidates through 

clinical development, obtain regulatory approval and ultimately commercialize our product candidates, or if we 

experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed. 

 

We are very early in our development efforts. Our most advanced product, Accum, is still in the early stages of 

preclinical development. Our ability to generate product revenues, which we do not expect will occur for many 

years, if ever, will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more of 

our product candidates. The success of our product candidates will depend on several factors, including the 

following: 

 

• successful completion of preclinical studies; 

• successful initiation of clinical trials; 

• successful patient enrollment in, and completion, of clinical trials; 

• receipt and related terms of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities; 

• obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product 

candidates; 

• making and maintaining arrangements with third-party manufacturers, or establishing manufacturing 

capabilities, for both clinical and commercial supplies of our product candidates; 

• establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and successfully launching commercial sales 

of our products, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others; 

• acceptance of our products, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party 

payors; 

• effectively competing with other cancer therapies; 

• obtaining and maintaining third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement; and 

• maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of our products following regulatory approval. 

Our business is highly dependent on our lead product candidate, Accum, and we must complete preclinical studies 

and clinical testing before we can seek regulatory approval and begin commercialization of any of our other product 

candidates. If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval for, and successfully commercialize Accum, our business 

may be materially harmed and such failure may affect the viability of our other product candidates. 

 

There is no guarantee that any of our product candidates will proceed in preclinical or clinical development 

or achieve regulatory approval. The process for obtaining marketing approval for any product candidate is very long 

and risky and there will be significant challenges for us to address in order to obtain marketing approval as planned 

or at all. 

 

There is no guarantee that the results obtained in planned preclinical studies or our Phase 1 clinical trial of 

Accum or other future clinical trials will be sufficient to obtain regulatory approval. In addition, if our lead product 

candidate encounters safety or efficacy problems, developmental delays, regulatory issues, or other problems, our 

development plans and business related to our other current or future product candidates could be significantly harmed. 

A failure of our lead product candidate may affect the ability to obtain regulatory approval to continue or conduct 

clinical programs for our other or future product candidates. Further, competitors who are developing products with 
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similar technology may experience problems with their products that could identify problems that would potentially 

harm our business. 

 

Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes, and results of earlier 

studies and trials may not be predictive of future clinical trial results. If our preclinical studies and clinical trials 

are not sufficient to support regulatory approval of any of our product candidates, we may incur additional costs 

or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of such product candidate. 

 

We cannot be certain that our preclinical study and clinical trial results will be sufficient to support regulatory 

approval of our product candidates. Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its 

outcomes are inherently uncertain. Human clinical trials are expensive and difficult to design and implement, in part 

because they are subject to rigorous regulatory requirements. Our clinical trials may not be conducted as planned or 

completed on schedule, if at all, and failure can occur at any time during the preclinical study or clinical trial process. 

Despite promising preclinical or clinical results, any product candidate can unexpectedly fail at any stage of preclinical 

or clinical development. The historical failure rate for product candidates in our industry is high. 

 

We may experience delays in obtaining Health Canada’s authorization to initiate clinical trials. Additionally, 

we cannot be certain that preclinical studies or clinical trials for our product candidates will begin on time, not require 

redesign, enroll an adequate number of subjects on time, or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be 

delayed or terminated for a variety of reasons. 

 

If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those 

that we currently contemplate, if we are unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or 

other testing, if the results of these trials or tests are not positive or are not as positive as we expect or if there are 

safety concerns, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected and we may incur significant 

additional costs. Accordingly, our clinical trial costs are likely to be significantly higher than those for more 

conventional therapeutic technologies or drug product candidates. We could also experience delays if physicians 

encounter unresolved ethical issues associated with enrolling patients in clinical trials of our product candidates in 

lieu of prescribing existing treatments that have established safety, efficacy, potency and purity profiles. We could 

also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the IRBs of the institutions in which such 

clinical trials are being conducted, by Health Canada or by another regulatory authority. 

 

If we experience delays in the completion, or termination, of any preclinical study or clinical trial of our 

product candidates, the commercial prospects of our product candidates may be harmed, and our ability to generate 

revenues from any of these product candidates will be delayed or not realized at all. In addition, any delays in 

completing our preclinical studies or clinical trials may increase our costs, slow down the development of our product 

candidates and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenues. Any of 

these occurrences may significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects. In addition, many of the 

factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to 

the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates. If one or more of our product candidates generally prove 

to be ineffective, unsafe or commercially unviable, our entire product pipeline and technology would have little, if 

any, value, which would have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations 

and prospects. 

 

We expect to develop Accum, and potentially future product candidates, in combination with other therapies, which 

exposes us to additional risks. 

 

We intend to develop Accum, and may develop future product candidates, for use in combination with one 

or more currently approved cancer therapies. Even if any product candidate we develop was to receive marketing 

approval or be commercialized for use in combination with other existing therapies, we would continue to be subject 

to the risks that Health Canada, the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities could revoke approval of the therapy 

used in combination with our product candidate or that safety, efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues could arise 

with these existing therapies. Combination therapies are commonly used for the treatment of cancer, and we would be 

subject to similar risks if we develop any of our product candidates for use in combination with other drugs or for 
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indications other than cancer. This could result in our own products being removed from the market or being less 

successful commercially. 

 

We may also evaluate Accum or any other future product candidates in combination with one or more other 

cancer therapies that have not yet been approved by Health Canada, the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities. 

We will not be able to market and sell Accum or any product candidate we develop in combination with any such 

unapproved cancer therapies that do not ultimately obtain marketing approval. 

 

If Health Canada or similar foreign regulatory authorities do not approve these other drugs or revoke their 

approval of, or if safety, efficacy, manufacturing, or supply issues arise with, the drugs we choose to evaluate in 

combination with Accum or any product candidate we develop, we may be unable to obtain approval of or market 

Accum or any product candidate we develop. 

 

Our preclinical studies and clinical trial may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety, potency and purity of any 

of our product candidates, which would prevent or delay development, regulatory approval and commercialization. 

 

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of our product candidates, including our lead 

product candidate, we must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive preclinical studies and clinical trials 

that our product candidates are both safe and effective for use in each target indication. Preclinical studies and clinical 

trials are expensive and can take many years to complete, and their outcomes are inherently uncertain. Failure can 

occur at any time during the preclinical study and clinical trial processes, and, because our product candidates are in 

an early stage of development, there is a high risk of failure and we may never succeed in developing marketable 

products. 

 

Any preclinical studies or clinical trials that we may conduct may not demonstrate the safety, potency and 

purity necessary to obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates. If the results of our ongoing or future 

preclinical studies and clinical trials are inconclusive, if we do not meet the clinical endpoints with statistical and 

clinically meaningful significance, or if there are safety concerns associated with our product candidates, we may be 

prevented or delayed in obtaining marketing approval for such product candidates. In some instances, there can be 

significant variability in results between different preclinical studies and clinical of the same product candidate due to 

numerous factors, including changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the 

patient populations, changes in and adherence to the clinical trial protocols and the rate of dropout among clinical trial 

participants. 

 

In addition, any future clinical trials that may be completed for Accum or other product candidates, we cannot 

guarantee that Health Canada will interpret the results as we do, and more trials could be required before we submit 

our product candidates for approval. To the extent that the results of the trials are not satisfactory to Health Canada to 

support a marketing application, approval of our product candidates may be significantly delayed or prevented entirely, 

or we may be required to expend significant additional resources, which may not be available to us, to conduct 

additional trials in support of potential approval of our product candidates. 

 

The results of preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of future results. Initial success 

in our ongoing clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when these trials are completed or in later-

stage trials. 

 

The results of preclinical studies may not be predictive of the results of clinical trials, and the results of any 

early-stage clinical trials we commence may not be predictive of the results of the later-stage clinical trials. In addition, 

initial success in clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when such trials are completed. There can be 

no assurance that any of our current or future clinical trials will ultimately be successful or support further clinical 

development of any of our product candidates. There is a high failure rate for drugs and biologics proceeding through 

clinical trials. 

 

A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant 

setbacks in clinical development even after achieving promising results in earlier studies, and any such setbacks in 

our clinical development could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results. Moreover, 
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preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses and many companies that 

believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies or clinical trials nonetheless failed to 

obtain Health Canada approval or approval from foreign regulatory authorities. 

 

Interim, “top-line” and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time 

may change as more patient data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that 

could result in material changes in the final data. 

 

From time to time, we may publish interim, “top-line” or preliminary data from our clinical trials, which is 

based on a preliminary analysis of then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject 

to change following a full analysis of all data related to the particular trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, 

calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the opportunity to 

fully and carefully evaluate all data. Data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or 

more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become 

available. Interim, “top-line” or preliminary data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may 

result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, 

interim, “top-line,” and preliminary data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. Adverse 

differences between interim, “top-line” or preliminary data and final data could significantly harm our reputation and 

business prospects. 

 

In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is 

distilled from a large body of raw data and you or others may not agree with what we determine is the material or 

otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosures, and any information we determine not to disclose may 

ultimately be deemed significant with respect to future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding 

a particular drug, product candidate or our business. If the interim, “top-line,” or preliminary data that we report differ 

from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to 

obtain approval for and commercialize our product candidates, our business, prospects, financial condition and results 

of operations may be harmed. 

 

COVID-19 may materially and adversely affect our business and financial results. 

 

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, which causes the disease known as COVID-19, was 

reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 coronavirus has spread globally. In March 2020, 

the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic.  

 

The effects of COVID-19 could disrupt our business and delay any future clinical trials, the magnitude of 

which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other limitations on our ability to conduct 

our business in the ordinary course. These and similar, and perhaps more severe, disruptions in our operations could 

negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations, including our ability to obtain financing. 

Quarantines, shelter-in-place and similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other 

restrictions on the conduct of business operations could occur, related to COVID-19 or other infectious diseases could 

impact personnel at third-party manufacturing facilities or the availability or cost of materials, which would disrupt 

our supply chain. 

 

In addition, any future clinical trials have been and may be further affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, 

including: 

• delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in the clinical trial, including patients may not be able to 

comply with clinical trial protocols if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt healthcare 

services; 

• delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators 

and clinical site staff; 

• diversion or prioritization of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials and towards 

the COVID-19 pandemic, including the diversion of hospitals serving as our clinical trial sites and 
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hospital staff supporting the conduct of our clinical trials, who, as healthcare providers, may have 

heightened exposure to COVID-19 and adversely impact our clinical trial operations; 

• interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, due to limitations on 

travel imposed or recommended by federal, state or provincial governments, employers and others; and 

• limitations in employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our clinical trials, 

including because of sickness of employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact 

with large groups of people. 
 

Disruptions at Health Canada and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health 

concerns could hinder their ability to hire, retain or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent 

new or modified products and services from being developed, approved or commercialized in a timely manner, 

which could negatively impact our business. 

 

The ability of the Health Canada to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, 

including government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of 

user fees, statutory, regulatory, and policy changes and other events that may otherwise affect Health Canada’s ability 

to perform routine functions. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, 

government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the 

political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Disruptions at Health Canada and other agencies may 

also slow the time necessary for new biologics to be reviewed and/or approved or cleared by necessary government 

agencies, which would adversely affect our business.  

 

If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns Health Canada or other regulatory 

authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities, it could significantly 

impact the ability of Health Canada or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process regulatory 

submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, 

it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which 

could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

 

Exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar may negatively affect the Company’s 

earnings cash flows. 

The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar. The Company may incur expenses in Canadian 

dollars and U.S. dollars. As a result, we are exposed to the risks that the Canadian dollar may devalue relative to the 

U.S. dollar,or, if the Canadian dollar appreciates relative to the U.S. dollar, that the inflation rate in Canada may 

exceed such rate of devaluation of the Canadian dollar, or that the timing of such devaluation may lag behind inflation 

in Canada. The Company cannot predict any future trends in the rate of inflation in Canada or the rate of devaluation, 

if any, of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar. 

If patent laws or the interpretation of patent laws change, the Company’s competitors may be able to develop and 

commercialize our discoveries. 

Important legal issues remain to be resolved as to the extent and scope of available patent protection for 

biopharmaceutical products and processes in Canada, and other important markets outside Canada, such as Europe or 

the United States. As such, litigation or administrative proceedings may be necessary to determine the validity, scope 

and ownership of certain of our and others’ proprietary rights. Any such litigation or proceeding may result in a 

significant commitment of resources in the future and could force the Company to do one or more of the following: 

cease selling or using any of its future products that incorporate a challenged intellectual property, which would 

adversely affect its revenue; obtain a license or other rights from the holder of the intellectual property right alleged 

to have been infringed or otherwise violated, which license may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all; and 

redesign its future products to avoid infringing or violating the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may 

be time-consuming or impossible to do. In addition, changes in patent laws in Canada and other countries may result 

in allowing others to use its discoveries or develop and commercialize our products. The Company cannot provide 

assurance that the patents it obtains will afford it significant commercial protection. 
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The Company may not be able to enforce its intellectual property rights throughout the world. This risk is 

exacerbated because it expects that one or more of its product candidates will be manufactured and used in a 

number of foreign countries. 

The laws of foreign countries may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of 

Canada. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property 

rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. This risk is exacerbated for the Company because it expects that future product 

candidates could be manufactured and used in a number of foreign countries. 

The legal systems of some countries, particularly developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of 

patents and other intellectual property protection, especially those relating to life sciences. This could make it difficult 

to stop the infringement or other misappropriation of the Company’s intellectual property rights. For example, several 

foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In 

addition, some countries limit the enforceability of patents against third parties, including government agencies or 

government contractors. In these countries, patents and trade secrets may provide limited or no benefit. 

Most jurisdictions in which the Company intends to apply for patents have patent protection laws similar to 

those of Canada, but some of them do not. For example, the Company may do business in the future in countries that 

may not provide the same or similar protection as that provided in Canada. Additionally, due to uncertainty in patent 

protection law, the Company has not filed applications in many countries where significant markets exist. 

Proceedings to enforce patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert the 

Company’s efforts and attention from other aspects of its business. Accordingly, efforts to protect intellectual property 

rights in such countries may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by courts in Canada, 

the U.S., and foreign countries may affect our ability to obtain adequate protection for the Company’s technology and 

the enforcement of its intellectual property. 

The Company continues to sell shares for cash to fund operations, capital expansion, mergers and acquisitions 

that will dilute the current shareholders.  

 

There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to achieve its business objectives. The continued 

development of the Company will require additional financing. The failure to raise such capital could result in the 

delay or indefinite postponement of current business objectives or the Company going out of business. There can be 

no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, the 

terms of such financing will be favourable to the Company.  

 

If additional funds are raised through issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing shareholders 

could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities issued could have rights, preferences and privileges 

superior to those of holders of Common Shares. The Company’s articles permit the issuance of an unlimited number 

of Common Shares, and shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further issuance. The 

directors of the Company have discretion to determine the price and the terms of issue of further issuances. In addition, 

from time to time, the Company may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the shares of other companies. These 

transactions may be financed wholly or partially with debt, which may temporarily increase the Company’s debt 

levels above industry standards. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating 

to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for the 

Company to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. The 

Company may require additional financing to fund its operations to the point where it is generating positive cash 

flows. Negative cash flow may restrict the Company’s ability to pursue its business objectives.  

 

If you purchase the Common Shares in an offering, you will experience substantial and immediate dilution, 

because the price that you pay will be substantially greater than the net tangible book value per share of the Common 

Shares that you acquire. This dilution is due in large part to the fact that the Company’s earlier investors will have 

paid substantially less than a public offering price when they purchased the Common Shares. 

 

Negative Cash Flow From Operations  
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The Company has negative operating cash flow. The Company cannot guarantee if it will have positive cash 

flow from operating activities in future periods. The Company cannot provide any assurance that it will achieve 

sufficient revenues to achieve or maintain profitability or positive cash flow from operating activities. If the Company 

does not achieve or maintain profitability or positive cash flow from operating activities, then there could be a material 

adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operation and the Company may need 

to deploy a portion of its working capital to fund such negative operating cash flows or seek additional sources of 

funding, of which there is no assurance that any required funding will be obtained.  

 

In the event that cash flow from operations do not adequately support the fixed costs of the Company, the 

Company will then be required to re-evaluate its planned expenditures, reallocate its total resources and may require 

future financings in such a manner as the Board of Directors and management deem to be in the Company’s best 

interest. This may result in a substantial reduction of the scope of the Company’s existing and planned operations. 

The presence of these conditions may indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 

regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

The Company’s officers and directors may be engaged in a range of business activities resulting in conflicts of 

interest.  

 

 The Company may be subject to various potential conflicts of interest because some of its officers and 

directors may be engaged in a range of business activities. In addition, the Company’s executive officers and directors 

may devote time to their outside business interests, so long as such activities do not materially or adversely interfere 

with their duties to the Company. In some cases, the Company’s executive officers and directors may have fiduciary 

obligations associated with these business interests that interfere with their ability to devote time to the Company’s 

business and affairs and that could adversely affect the Company’s operations. These business interests could require 

significant time and attention of the Company’s executive officers and directors.  

 In addition, the Company may become involved in other transactions which conflict with the interests of its 

directors and officers who may from time to time deal with persons, firms, institutions or Companies with which the 

Company may be dealing, or which may be seeking investments similar to those desired by it. The interests of these 

persons could conflict with those of the Company. In addition, from time to time, these persons may be competing 

with the Company for available investment opportunities. Conflicts of interest, if any, will be subject to the procedures 

and remedies provided under applicable laws. In particular, if such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the 

Company’s directors, a director who has such a conflict will abstain from voting for or against the approval of such 

participation or such terms. In accordance with applicable laws, the directors of the Company are required to act 

honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. 

In certain circumstances, the Company’s reputation could be damaged.  

 

 Damage to the Company’s reputation can be the result of the actual or perceived occurrence of any number 

of events, and could include any negative publicity, whether true or not. The increased usage of social media and other 

web-based tools used to generate, publish and discuss user-generated content and to connect with other users has made 

it increasingly easier for individuals and groups to communicate and share opinions and views regarding the Company 

and its activities, whether true or not. Although the Company believes that it operates in a manner that is respectful to 

all stakeholders and that it takes care in protecting its image and reputation, the Company does not ultimately have 

direct control over how it is perceived by others. Reputation loss may result in decreased investor confidence, 

increased challenges in developing and maintaining community relations and an impediment to the Company’s overall 

ability to advance its projects, thereby having a material adverse impact on financial performance, financial condition, 

cash flows and growth prospects. 

Negative Operating Cash Flow 

The Company’s business has incurred losses since its inception.  Although the Company expects to become 

profitable, there is no guarantee that will happen, and the Company may never become profitable. The Company 

currently has a negative operating cash flow and may continue to have a negative operating cash flow for the 

foreseeable future. To date, the Company has not generated any revenues and a large portion of the Company’s 
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expenses are fixed, including expenses related to facilities, equipment, contractual commitments and personnel. As a 

result, the Company expects for its net losses from operations to improve. The Company’s ability to generate 

additional revenues and potential to become profitable will depend largely on its ability to manufacture and market its 

products and services. There can be no assurance that any such events will occur or that the Company will ever become 

profitable. Even if the Company does achieve profitability, the Company cannot predict the level of such profitability. 

If the Company sustains losses over an extended period of time, the Company may be unable to continue its business. 

Need for additional financing 

The Company believes that it will have sufficient capital to operate its business for at least 12 months 

following Listing. However, it is possible that costs associated with the operation of the Company’s business will 

exceed its projections depending on the timing of future operating and capital expenses. Assuming the Company’s 

existing funds sustain its operations for this period, the Company believes that it may thereafter require additional 

capital for additional product development, sales and marketing operations, other operating expenses and for general 

corporate purposes to fund growth in the Company’s markets. The Company does not know how much additional 

funding it may require. The Company may therefore be required to seek other sources of financing in the future, which 

sources (assuming it is able to locate such alternative sources of financing) may be on terms less favorable to the 

Company than those in the Special Warrant Offering. Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to shareholders, 

and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. If additional funds are raised through the issuance 

of equity securities, the percentage ownership of the shareholders of the Company will be reduced, shareholders may 

experience additional dilution in net book value per share, or such equity securities may have rights, preferences or 

privileges senior to those of the holders of the Common Shares. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable 

terms, the Company may be unable to develop or enhance its products and services, take advantage of future 

opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on its business, 

financial condition and operating results, or the Company may be forced to cease operations. 

Uncertainty of Use of Proceeds 

Although the Company has set out its intended use of proceeds available to it, these intended uses are 

estimates only and may be subject to change.  While management does not contemplate any material variation, 

management does retain broad discretion in the application of such proceeds.  The failure by the Company to apply 

these funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, including the Company’s 

ability to achieve its stated business objectives. 

 

If the Company has a material weakness in its internal controls over financial reporting, investors could lose 

confidence in the reliability of its financial statements, which could result in a decrease in the value of its 

securities. 

 

One or more material weaknesses in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting could occur 

or be identified in the future. In addition, because of inherent limitations, the Company’s internal controls over 

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements, and any projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 

of internal controls to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 

in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the Company’s policies or procedures may deteriorate. If the 

Company fails to maintain the adequacy of its internal controls, including any failure or difficulty in implementing 

required new or improved controls, its business and results of operations could be harmed, the Company may not be 

able to provide reasonable assurance as to its financial results or meet its reporting obligations and there could be a 

material adverse effect on the price of its securities. 

Risks Relating to the Common Shares 

Market Price of Common Shares and Volatility  

The Common Shares do not currently trade on any exchange or stock market. Securities of companies with 

a small market capitalization have experienced substantial volatility in the past, often based on factors unrelated to the 

companies’ financial performance or prospects. These factors include macroeconomic developments in North 

America and globally, as well as market perceptions of the attractiveness of particular industries. Factors unrelated to 
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the Company’s performance that may affect the price of the Common Shares include the following: the extent of 

analytical coverage available to investors concerning the Company’s business may be limited if investment banks 

with research capabilities do not follow the Company; lessening in trading volume and general market interest in the 

Common Shares may affect an investor’s ability to trade significant numbers of Common Shares; the size of the 

Company’s public float may limit the ability of some institutions to invest in Common Shares; and a substantial decline 

in the price of the Common Shares that persists for a significant period of time could cause the Common Shares, if 

listed on an exchange, to be delisted from such exchange, further reducing market liquidity. As a result of any of these 

factors, the market price of the Common Shares at any given point in time may not accurately reflect the Company’s 

long-term value. Securities class action litigation often has been brought against companies following periods of 

volatility in the market price of their securities. The Company may in the future be the target of similar litigation. 

Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and damages and divert management’s attention and resources. 

The fact that no market currently exists for the Common Shares may affect the pricing of the Common Shares in the 

secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices and the liquidity of the Common Shares. 

The market price of the Common Shares is affected by many other variables which are not directly related to 

the Company’s success and are, therefore, not within the Company’s control.  These include other developments that 

affect the breadth of the public market for the Common Shares, the release or expiration of lock-up or other transfer 

restrictions on the Common Shares, and the attractiveness of alternative investments.  The effect of these and other 

factors on the market price of the Common Shares is expected to make the Common Share price volatile in the future, 

which may result in losses to investors. 

No Established Market 

Although the Company has applied for the listing of the Common Shares on the CSE, there is currently no 

market through which the Company’s securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell the Common 

Shares purchased under this Prospectus. An active public market for the Common Shares might not develop or be 

sustained after this Offering.  Even if a market develops, there is no assurance that the price of the Common Shares 

offered under this Prospectus, which has been determined by negotiations between the Company and representatives 

of the Agent, will reflect the prevailing market price of the Common Shares following this Offering. If an active public 

market for the Common Shares does not develop, the liquidity of a shareholder’s investment may be limited, and the 

Common Share price may decline below the initial public offering price. 

Dividends 

The Company intends to retain earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of the Company’s 

business and does not intend to pay cash dividends on the Common Shares in the foreseeable future. The payment of 

future cash dividends, if any, will be reviewed periodically by the Board and will depend upon, among other things, 

conditions then existing including earnings, financial condition and capital requirements, restrictions in financing 

agreements, business opportunities and conditions and other factors.   

The Company will be subject to additional regulatory burden resulting from its public listing on the CSE.  

The Company has not been subject to the continuous and timely disclosure requirements of Canadian 

securities laws or other rules, regulations and policies of the CSE or any other stock exchange. In anticipation of 

Listing, the Company is working with its legal, accounting and financial advisors to identify those areas in which 

changes should be made to its financial management control systems to manage its obligations as a public company. 

These areas include corporate governance, corporate controls, disclosure controls and procedures and financial 

reporting and accounting systems. The Company has made, and will continue to make, changes in these and other 

areas, including its internal controls over financial reporting. However, the Company cannot assure purchasers of 

Common Shares that these and other measures that it might take will be sufficient to allow it to satisfy its obligations 

as a public company on a timely basis. In addition, compliance with reporting and other requirements applicable to 

public companies will create additional costs for the Company and will require the time and attention of management. 

The Company cannot predict the amount of the additional costs that it might incur, the timing of such costs or the 

impact that management’s attention to these matters will have on its business. 
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Dilution 

Future sales or issuances of equity securities could decrease the value of the Common Shares, dilute 

shareholders’ voting power and reduce future potential earnings per Common Share.  The Company intends to sell 

additional equity securities in subsequent offerings (including through the sale of securities convertible into Common 

Shares) and may issue additional equity securities to finance its operations, development, exploration, acquisitions or 

other projects.  The Company cannot predict the size of future sales and issuances of equity securities or the effect, if 

any, that future sales and issuances of equity securities will have on the market price of the Common Shares.  Sales 

or issuances of a substantial number of equity securities, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely 

affect prevailing market prices for the Common Shares. With any additional sale or issuance of equity securities, 

investors will suffer dilution of their voting power and may experience dilution in the Company’s earnings per 

Common Share. 

PROMOTERS 

Sébastien Plouffe is a Promoter of the Company. Mr. Plouffe currently holds 1,600,000 Common Shares of 

the Company, such that he will hold 4.6% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares after giving effect to the 

Special Warrant Offering. For further information on the security holdings and consideration received by the Promoter 

see “Directors and Officers” and “Executive Compensation.”   

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

The Company is not a party to any material legal proceedings and the Company does not know of any such 

proceedings that are contemplated.  

REGULATORY ACTIONS 

The Company does not know of any: 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court relating to provincial and territorial securities 

legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three years preceding the date of this Prospectus; 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company necessary for 

the prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities being 

distributed; and 

(c) settlement agreements the Company entered into before a court relating to provincial and territorial securities 

legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three years preceding the date of this 

Prospectus. 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Except as disclosed above under the heading “Executive Compensation”, no Insider, director or executive 

officer of the Company and no associate or affiliate of any director, executive officer or Insider has any material 

interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three years before the date of the prospectus that has materially 

affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company. 

AUDITORS 

The Company’s independent auditor is Crowe Mackay LLP, located at 1100 - 1177 W Hastings St, 

Vancouver, BC V6E 4T5. 

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT 

Prior to filing the final prospectus, the Company intends to appoint Computershare Trust Company of Canada 

as the Transfer Agent and registrar for the Company’s common shares at its office located at 510 Burrard St, Third 

Floor, Vancouver, BC V6C 3B9.  
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

There are no contracts of the Company, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, 

that are material to the Company, other than: 

(a) the Stock Option Plan, as described under “Options and Other Rights to Purchase Securities”; 

(b) the Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement, as described under “Three Year History”; 

(c) the Option and Right of First Refusal Agreement, as described under “Three Year History”; 

(d) the Plouffe Consulting Agreement, as described under “Employment, Consulting and Management 

Agreements”; 

(e) the Meagher Consulting Agreement, as described under “Employment, Consulting and Management 

Agreements”; 

(f) the Cesarone Consulting Agreement, as described under “Employment, Consulting and Management 

Agreements”; 

(g) the Beaudoin Consulting Agreement, as described under “Employment, Consulting and Management 

Agreements”; 

(h) the Axiom Consulting Agreement, as described under “Employment, Consulting and Management 

Agreements”; and 

(i) the Non-Offering Prospectus Agreement, as described under “Plan of Distribution”. 

EXPERTS AND INTERESTS OF EXPERTS 

Certain matters relating to the Special Warrant Offering will be passed upon on behalf of the Company by 

McMillan LLP. As of the date of this Prospectus, McMillan LLP beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, in the 

aggregate, less than 1% of the outstanding securities of the Company.   

The independent auditor of the Company is Crowe Mackay LLP.  Crowe Mackay LLP is independent with 

respect to the Company within the meaning of the Code of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional 

Accountants of British Columbia.   

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

There are no material facts relating to the Company or the Special Warrant Offering other than as disclosed 

herein that are necessary to be disclosed for this Prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material 

facts. 

PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw 

from an agreement to purchase securities.  This right may be exercised within two Business Days after receipt or 

deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further 

provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages if the prospectus and any 

amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission 

or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the 

purchaser’s province or territory.  The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation 

of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser. 

In an offering of special warrants, investors are cautioned that the statutory right of action for damages for a 

misrepresentation contained in the prospectus is limited, in certain provincial securities legislation, to the price at 

which the special warrants are offered to the public under the prospectus offering. This means that, under the securities 
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legislation of certain provinces, if the purchaser pays additional amounts upon exercise of the security, those amounts 

may not be recoverable under the statutory right of action for damages that applies in those provinces. The purchaser 

should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of 

this right of action for damages or consult with a legal adviser. 

CONTRACTUAL RIGHT OF ACTION FOR RESCISSION 

The Company has granted to each holder of Special Warrants a contractual right of recession of the 

prospectus-exempt transaction under which the Special Warrants were initially acquired.  The contractual right of 

rescission provides that if a holder of Special Warrants who acquires Common Shares on exercise of the Special 

Warrants as provided for in this Prospectus is, and becomes, entitled under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction 

to the remedy of rescission because of this Prospectus or an amendment to this Prospectus containing a 

misrepresentation: (a) the holder is entitled to rescission of both the holder’s exercise of its Special Warrant and the 

Special Warrant Offering under which the Special Warrant was initially acquired, (b) the holder is entitled in 

connection with the rescission to a full refund of all consideration paid to the Company and on the acquisition of the 

Special Warrants, and (c) if the holder is a permitted assignee of the interest of the original Special Warrant subscriber, 

the holder is entitled to exercise the rights of rescission and a refund as if the holder was the original subscriber.   

The contractual rights of action described above are in addition to and without derogation from any other 

right or remedy that a purchaser of Special Warrants may have at law. 
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www.crowemackay.ca

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Directors of Defence Therapeutics Inc.

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Defence Therapeutics Inc. ("the Company"), which comprise the
statements of financial position as at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 and the statements of comprehensive
loss, changes in equity (deficiency) and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit. 

"Crowe MacKay LLP"

Chartered Professional Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
January 5, 2021
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Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Statements of Financial Position
June 30,
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2020 2019

Assets

Current

Cash $ 1,865,927 $ 766

Prepaids - 6,999

1,865,927 7,765

Intangible Assets (note 7) 46,018 -

$ 1,911,945 $ 7,765

Liabilities

Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 48,351 $ 7,839

Shareholders’ Equity (Deficiency)

Share Capital (note 9) 2,396,829 100

Share-based Payments Reserve (note 9) 140,121 -

Deficit (673,356) (174)

1,863,594 (74)

$ 1,911,945 $ 7,765

Subsequent Events (note 12)

Approved on behalf of the Board:

    “Sebastien Plouffe” "Joseph Meagher”
……………………………… Director          ……………………………… Director
    Sebastien Plouffe Joseph Meagher

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the Years Ended June 30,
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2020 2019

Expenses

Accounting and legal $ 51,961 $ 4,840

Consulting fees 7,600 35,000

Office and general 185 2,106

Research and lab fees (note 7) 433,451 -

Share-based compensation (notes 8 and 9) 179,985 -

(673,182) (41,946)

Other Item

Other income (note 7) - 40,000

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the Year $ (673,182) $ (1,946)

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share $ (0.71) $ (19.46)

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding –
Basic and Diluted 943,207 100

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficiency)
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Share Capital
Number of 

Class A 
Common 

Shares Share Capital
Share-Based 

Payments Reserve
Retained 

Earnings (Deficit) Total

Balance, June 30, 2018 100 $ 100 $ - $ 1,772 $ 1,872

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year - - - (1,946) (1,946)

Balance, June 30, 2019 100 100 - (174) (74)

Shares issued for services 1,199,900 179,985 - - 179,985

Shares issued for intellectual property agreement 2,085,714 312,857 - - 312,857

Private placement 15,180,000 2,277,000 - - 2,277,000

Share issue costs - (373,113) 140,121 - (232,992)

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year - - - (673,182) (673,182)

Balance, June 30, 2020 18,465,714 $ 2,396,829 $ 140,121 $ (673,356) $ 1,863,594

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended June 30,
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2020 2019

Operating Activities

Net loss for the year $ (673,182) $ (1,946)

Items not involving cash

Shares issued for services 179,985 -

Shares issued for intellectual property agreement 312,857 -

Changes in non-cash working capital

Prepaids 6,999 (6,999)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 40,512 5,798

Cash Used in Operating Activities (132,829) (3,147)

Investing Activity

Purchase of intangible assets (46,018) -

Cash Used in Investing Activity (46,018) -

Financing Activities

Shares issued for cash 2,277,000 -

Share issue costs (232,992) -

Cash Provided by Financing Activities 2,044,008 -

Inflow (Outflow) of Cash 1,865,161 (3,147)

Cash, Beginning of Year 766 3,913

Cash, End of Year $ 1,865,927 $ 766

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cash Flows

Income tax paid $ - $ -

Interest paid $ - $ -

Fair value of finder’s warrants issued $ 140,121 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

5

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Defence Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated as Accum Therapeutics Inc. on July 18, 2017, 
under the laws of the province of Quebec. The Company changed its name to Defence Therapeutics Inc. on 
March 26, 2020 and was continued into British Columbia on July 10, 2020. Its principal business activity is
the development of anti-body drug conjugates (ADCs) that improve the efficacy and safety of nano and 
protein-based pharmaceuticals used in the treatment of cancer. The Company’s head office address and 
registered and records office is 1680 – 200 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3L6.

2. GOING CONCERN

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going 
concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be 
able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.

The Company’s ability to continue its operations and to realize assets at their carrying value is dependent upon 
its ability to generate positive cash flows and/or obtain additional financing sufficient to fund its development 
and operating costs. The Company may be able to generate working capital to fund its operations by raising 
additional capital through equity markets. However, there is no assurance it will be able to raise funds in the 
future. Subsequent to the year-end, the Company closed private placements for net proceeds of approximately 
$5,500,000.  Based on its current plans, budgeted expenditures, and cash requirements, the Company has 
sufficient cash to finance its current plans for at least 12 months from the date the financial statements are 
issued. These financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments required to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements.

If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for these financial statements then adjustments may be 
necessary in the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the statement of financial 
position classifications used. Such adjustments could be material.

In early March 2020, there was a global outbreak of coronavirus (COVID-19). The effects of COVID-19 could 
delay any future clinical trials, the magnitude of which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the 
restrictions and other limitations on the Company’s ability to conduct business in the ordinary course. These 
and similar, and perhaps more severe, disruptions to operations could negatively impact the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations, including the ability to obtain financing. 

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

These financial statements were reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved and authorized for issue 
by the Board of Directors on January 5, 2021.



Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

6

3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)

b) Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments, which are measured at fair value, as explained in the significant accounting policies (note 4).
These financial statements have been prepared under the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow 
information.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout by the Company for purposes of these 
financial statements. 

a) Intangible assets

Intangible assets consist of intellectual property, including patent applications. Intangible assets with finite 
useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Intangible assets are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life, being the life of the patent applications,
which is twenty years from the date of application, once the patent has been granted.

b) Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment tests on intangible assets with indefinite useful economic lives are undertaken annually. Other 
non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amount may not be recoverable and at least annually. Where the carrying value of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, 
the asset is written down accordingly.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is 
carried out on the asset's cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of assets in which the asset 
belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets. The Company has one cash-generating unit for which impairment testing is 
performed.

An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss, except to the extent they reverse gains previously 
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income/loss.

c) Financial instruments

All financial assets not classified at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”) are measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). On initial recognition, the 
Company can irrevocably designate a financial asset at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch.



Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

7

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c) Financial instruments (continued)

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated at FVTPL:

 It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial asset to collect the 
contractual cash flows associated with the financial asset instead of selling the financial asset for 
a profit or loss; and

 Its contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the statement of financial position. 
Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is based on their classification. Financial assets and 
liabilities classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with changes in those fair values recognized in 
profit or loss for the period. Financial assets and financial liabilities classified as amortized cost are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial assets classified 
as FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses recognized in other 
comprehensive income/loss. When the financial instrument is sold, the cumulative gain or loss remains 
in accumulated other comprehensive income/loss and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Cash is classified as FVTPL.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as amortized cost.

Fair value hierarchy

Fair value measurements of financial instruments are required to be classified using a fair value hierarchy 
that reflects the significance of inputs used in making the measurements. The levels of the fair value 
hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

d) Income taxes

Income tax expense consisting of current and deferred tax expense is recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income (loss). Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for 
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period-end, adjusted for amendments to tax 
payable with regard to previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities and the related deferred income tax expense or recovery are recognized 
for deferred tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying 
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is
realized or the liability settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in profit or loss in the period that substantive enactment occurs.



Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d) Income taxes (continued)

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it 
probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, the deferred tax asset is reduced. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company 
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

e) Share capital

Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net assets of the Company. Financial 
instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the 
definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company’s common shares, stock options, share 
purchase warrants and flow-through shares are classified as equity instruments.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

The Company has adopted the residual method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants 
issued as private placement units. Under this method, the proceeds are allocated first to share capital based 
on the fair value of the common shares at the time the units are priced and any residual value is allocated 
to the warrants reserve.

The fair value of the common shares is based on the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date. 
The fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded in equity reserves. Upon expiry, the fair value is 
transferred to deficit.

f) Research and development

Expenditures on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new or technical knowledge 
and understanding, are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved 
products and processes. Development expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be 
measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic 
benefits are probable, and the Company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development 
and has the ability to use or sell the asset. The expenditures capitalized include the costs of materials, 
direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use and 
borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Other development expenditures are recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred.



Defence Therapeutics Inc.
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.)
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

g) Share-based payments

The Company grants share options to acquire common shares of the Company to directors, officers, 
employees and consultants. The fair value of share-based payments to employees is measured at grant 
date, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and is recognized over the vesting period for 
employees using the graded method. Fair value of share-based payments for non-employees is recognized 
and measured at the date the goods or services are received based on the fair value of the goods or services 
received. If it is determined that the fair value of goods and services received cannot be reliably measured, 
the share-based payment is measured at the fair value of the equity instruments issued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. 

For both employees and non-employees, the fair value of share-based payments is recognized as an 
expense with a corresponding increase in share-based payments reserve. The amount recognized as 
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options expected to vest. Consideration received on the 
exercise of stock options is recorded in share capital and the related share-based payment in share-based 
payments reserve is transferred to share capital. 

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of 
the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to profit or loss over 
the remaining vesting period.

Where a grant of options is cancelled and settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when 
vesting conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an 
acceleration of vesting and recognizes the amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services 
received over the remainder of the vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation 
is accounted for as the repurchase of an equity interest, except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair 
value of the equity instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognized 
as an expense. The amounts recorded in reserves for unexercised share options are transferred to deficit
upon their expiry or cancellation.

h) Earnings (loss) per share

The Company presents basic earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing 
the income (loss) attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the period. The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating 
diluted earnings (loss) per share. Under this method the dilutive effect on earnings per share is calculated 
on the use of the proceeds that could be obtained upon exercise of options, warrants and similar 
instruments. It assumes that the proceeds of such exercise would be used to purchase common shares at 
the average market price during the period. However, the calculation of diluted loss per share excludes 
the effects of various conversions and exercise of options and warrants that would be anti-dilutive.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i) New accounting standard adopted during the year 

IFRS 16 Leases

Initial adoption

On July 1, 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16, which specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognize, 
measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring 
lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is twelve months or less or 
the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with 
IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, International 
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 17 Leases. The standard was issued in January 2016 and is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.

The Company has elected to apply IFRS 16 using a modified retrospective approach, which does not 
require restatement of prior period financial information. Modified retrospective application recognizes 
the cumulative effect of IFRS 16 as an adjustment to opening deficit at July 1, 2019 and applies the 
standard prospectively. The Company has determined that at July 1, 2019, adoption of IFRS 16 did not 
result in the recognition of a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset nor a lease obligation.

Ongoing recognition and measurement 

On the date that the leased asset becomes available for use, the Company recognizes a ROU asset and a 
corresponding lease obligation. Interest expense associated with the lease obligation is charged to the 
statement of income/loss over the lease period with a corresponding increase to the lease obligation. The 
lease obligation is reduced as payments are made against the principal portion of the lease. The ROU 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
Depreciation of the ROU asset is recognized in depreciation expense. 

j) New accounting standard issued but not yet effective

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)

The amendments to IAS 1 provide a more general approach to the classification of liabilities based on the 
contractual arrangements in place at the reporting date.  The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2023.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 
amendments.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In 
the future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive 
income/loss in the year of the change, if the change affects that year only, or in the year of the change and 
future years, if the change affects both. 

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant risk of 
causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the financial 
statements within the next fiscal year are discussed below.

a) Income taxes 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain. The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax 
audit issues based on the Company’s current understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable 
that an adjustment will be made, the Company records its best estimate of the tax liability, including the 
related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes they have adequately 
provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially 
different outcome than the amount included in the tax liabilities. 

In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which a deductible temporary difference 
can be utilized. This is deemed to be the case when there are sufficient taxable temporary differences 
relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity that are expected to reverse in the same 
year as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference, or in years into which a tax loss 
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. However, utilization of the tax losses 
also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped. 

b) Going concern risk assessment

The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern requires significant judgment. 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going 
concern, as disclosed in note 2.

c) Impairment of intangible assets

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for intangible assets and impairment of the 
capitalized expenditures requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic 
benefits will flow to the Company, which may be based on assumptions about future events or 
circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. If, 
after expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 
expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in profit or loss in the year the new 
information becomes available.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments are agreements between two parties that result in promises to pay or receive cash or
equity instruments. The Company classifies its financial instruments as follows: cash is classified as FVTPL;
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, as amortized cost. The carrying values of these instruments
approximate their fair values due to their short term to maturity.

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial asset measured at fair value by level within the fair
value hierarchy:

June 30, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash $ 1,865,927 $ - $ - $ 1,865,927

June 30, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash $   766 $ - $ - $ 766

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

 Credit risk;
 Liquidity risk; and
 Market risk.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party
by failing to discharge an obligation. The Company manages credit risk, in respect of cash, by placing it
at major Canadian financial institutions. The Company has minimal credit risk.

b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquid funds to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The contractual
financial liabilities of the Company as of June 30, 2020 equal $48,351. All of the liabilities presented as
accounts payable are due within 30 days of the reporting date.

c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates,
will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimizing the return on capital.

i) Currency risk – The Company has no funds held in a foreign currency, and as a result, is not exposed
to significant currency risk on its financial instruments at period-end.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c) Market risk (continued)

ii) Interest rate risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rates. Interest earned on cash is at nominal interest rates, and therefore, 
the Company does not consider interest rate risk to be significant. The Company has no interest-
bearing financial liabilities.

iii) Other price risk – Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate 
risk. The Company is not exposed to significant other price risk.

d) Capital management

The Company considers its capital to be comprised of shareholders’ equity.

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Company may attempt to issue new shares. Although the Company has been successful at raising 
funds in the past through the issuance of share capital, it is uncertain whether it will continue this method 
of financing due to the current difficult market conditions.

In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares expenditure 
budgets that are updated as necessary depending on various factors, including successful capital
deployment and general industry conditions. 

Management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis to ensure that the above objectives are met. 
There have been no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the years ended 
June 30, 2020 and 2019. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AGREEMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

On May 12, 2017, prior to the incorporation of the Company, a precursor entity to the Company and a former
principal of the Company, entered into an Intellectual Property Assignment and Royalty Agreement (the 
“Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement”) with TransferTech Sherbrooke, a limited liability 
partnership (“TTS”) and Jeffrey Victor Leyton (“Leyton”), a professor at the Universite de Sherbrooke. The 
Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement assigns Leyton’s invention known as “Novel 
Immunoconjugates with cholic acid nuclear localization sequence peptide and uses thereof” (the “Accum 
Invention”) and any related intellectual property to the Company.

On May 20, 2020, the Company and TTS entered into an Amended and Restated Intellectual Property 
Assignment and Royalty Agreement (the “Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement”), which amends 
and restates the Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement, assigning the Accum Invention and any 
related intellectual property to the Company in exchange for consideration as follows:

 $25,000 upon completion of the agreement (paid); and
 The issuance of 2,085,714 Common Shares of the Company (issued and valued at $312,857).
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7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Company must also make milestone payments related to the Accum Invention and any related or derivate 
inventions as follows:

 $10,000 within 30 days of the completion of the first non-rodent positive toxicology study;
 $25,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 1 patient;
 $50,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 2 patient;
 $100,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 3 patient; and
 $250,000 within 30 days of the first regulatory approval from a relevant registration authority.

In addition, the Company must pay a royalty of 3% calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities 
involving the Accum Invention, and 4% calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities involving 
any related or derivative inventions.

The Company was also required to enter into a research contract for a minimum of $45,000 (completed).

The Company has determined that the cash and share consideration paid for the Amended IP Assignment and 
Royalty Agreement, along with the costs of the research contract, do not qualify as development costs.  
Accordingly, the amounts have been expensed to research and lab fees.

The Company has capitalized the following amounts as intangible assets:

Intellectual 
Property

Cost

Balance at June 30, 2018 and 2019 $ -

Patent costs 46,018

Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 46,018

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company received $40,000 as part of an agreement to assign the 
Accum Invention to another company. That agreement was not completed. The Company recognized the 
$40,000 as other income during the year ended June 30, 2019.

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

These amounts of key management compensation are included in the amounts shown on the statement of 
comprehensive income (loss):

Year Ended
June 30, 2020

Year Ended 
June 30, 2019

Share-based compensation $ 15,000 $ -

There were no other related party transactions for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. 

There were no related party balances as at June 30, 2020 or 2019.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL

a) Authorized

 Unlimited Class A Common Shares, voting, participating, without par value (“Common Shares”);
 Unlimited Class A Special Shares, voting, non-participating, non-cumulative, redeemable, without 

par value;
 Unlimited Class B Common Shares, non-voting, participating, without par value;
 Unlimited Class B Special Shares, non-voting, non-participating, redeemable, without par value;
 Unlimited Class C Common Shares, non-voting, participating, without par value;
 Unlimited Class C Special Shares, non-voting, non-participating, non-cumulative, redeemable, 

without par value; and
 Unlimited Class D Special Shares, non-voting, non-participating, non-cumulative, redeemable 

without par value.

b) Issued and outstanding

During the year ended June 30, 2020

On March 7, 2020, the Company issued 1,199,900 Common Shares valued at $179,985 for services 
provided by consultants and former key management.

On June 18, 2020, the Company issued 2,085,714 Common Shares valued at $312,857 in relation to an 
intellectual property agreement (note 7).

On June 18, 2020, the Company closed the first tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds of 
$2,277,000. The Company issued 15,180,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company 
paid finder’s fees of $227,700 and issued 1,518,000 finder’s warrants valued at $140,121 (note 9(c)). 
Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of the Company at a price of $0.15 for a 
period of 36 months following the date the Company becomes a reporting issuer in any province or 
territory. The Company incurred other share issue costs of $5,292.

During the year ended June 30, 2019

There were no changes to the issued and outstanding Common Shares during the year ended June 30, 
2019.

c) Finder’s warrants

Finder’s warrant transactions and the number of finder’s warrants outstanding are summarized as follows:

Year Ended June 30, 2020 Year Ended June 30, 2019

Number of 
Warrants

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price
Number of 
Warrants

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year - $     - - $     -

Issued 1,518,000    0.15 -      -

Outstanding, end of year 1,518,000 $   0.15 - $     -
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

c) Finder’s warrants (continued)

The following finder’s warrants were outstanding and exercisable:

Expiry Date

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual 

Life in Years Exercise Price June 30, 2020

36 months after the Company 
becomes a reporting issuer N/A $ 0.15 1,518,000

N/A 1,518,000

The Company applies the fair value method using the Black-Scholes option pricing model in accounting 
for its finder’s warrants issued. During the year ended June 30, 2020, 1,518,000 (2019 - nil) finder’s
warrants were issued with a fair value of $760,390 (2019 - $nil).

The fair value of each finder’s warrant issued was calculated using the following weighted average
assumptions:

Year Ended
June 30, 2020

Year Ended 
June 30, 2019

Expected life (years) 3.00 N/A

Risk-free interest rate 0.32% N/A

Annualized volatility 100% N/A

Dividend yield N/A N/A

Stock price at grant date $ 0.15 N/A

Exercise price $ 0.15 N/A

Weighted average grant date fair value $ 0.09 N/A

Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions regarding volatility. The Company 
has estimated the volatility of the share price based on comparable start up companies’ volatilities.

d) Stock options

The Company has a stock option plan to grant incentive stock options to directors, officers, employees and 
consultants. Under the plan, the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be subject to option at any 
one time may not exceed 10% of the issued Common Shares of the Company as of that date, including 
options granted prior to the adoption of the plan. Options granted may not exceed a term of 10 years. All 
options vest when granted unless they are otherwise specified by the Board of Directors. 

There were no transactions under the Company’s stock option plan for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 
2019.
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10. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE

The Company has one operating segment, being research and development. All of the Company’s assets are 
located in Canada.

11. INCOME TAXES 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with reported taxes is as follows:

Year Ended
June 30, 2020

Year Ended 
June 30, 2019

Loss before income taxes $ (673,182) $ (1,946)

Statutory income tax rate 27.00% 27.00%

Income tax (benefit) computed at statutory tax rate (182,000) (1,000)

Non-deductible items 49,000 -

Non-capital loss carried back - 1,000

Unrecognized benefit of deferred income tax assets 133,000 -

Income tax expense (recovery) $ - $ -

The significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities 
at June 30, 2020 and 2019 are presented below:

Year Ended
June 30, 2020

Year Ended
June 30, 2019

Non-capital losses carried forward $ 146,000 $ -

Share issue costs 50,000 -

196,000 -

Unrecognized deferred income tax assets (196,000) -

Net deferred income tax assets $ - $ -

The Company has non-capital losses of $540,000 available for carry-forward to reduce future years' income
for income tax purposes. The losses expire in 2040.

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

a) On August 31, 2020, the Company closed the second tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds 
of $630,000. The Company issued 4,200,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company 
paid finder’s fees of $34,650 and issued 189,000 finder’s shares (valued at $28,350) and 420,000 finder’s 
warrants. Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of the Company at a price of $0.15 
for a period of 36 months following the date the Company becomes a reporting issuer in any province or 
territory.
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12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

b) On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into consulting agreements with its CEO, CFO, Corporate 
Secretary and Chief Technical Scientific Officer. The consulting agreements have indefinite terms and 
monthly fees totalling $25,760. In the event the agreements are terminated by the Company or the 
consultants as a result of a change in control, the Company would be required to pay a total of $77,280 
to the consultants.

c) On October 9, 2020, the Company closed the third and final tranche of a private placement for gross 
proceeds of $305,250. The Company issued 2,035,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The 
Company paid finder’s fees of $13,431 and issued 113,960 finder’s shares (valued at $17,094) and 
203,500 finder’s warrants. Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of the Company 
at a price of $0.15 for a period of 36 months following the date the Company becomes a reporting issuer 
in any province or territory.

d) On October 9, 2020, the Company granted 700,000 stock options to officers, directors and consultants. 
The stock options have an exercise price of $1.25 and expire on October 9, 2023.

e) On October 23, 2020, the Company granted 250,000 stock options to officers, directors and consultants. 
The stock options have an exercise price of $1.25 and expire on October 23, 2023.

f) On December 1, 2020, the Company entered into an option and right of first refusal agreement to acquire 
intellectual property.  In order to acquire the intellectual property, the Company paid $25,000 and must 
make additional payments as follows:

 Up to $200,000 in development costs;
 $75,000 upon completion of the acquisition;
 A minimum of $200,000 related to a service agreement for continuing development to be entered 

into between the Company and the vendor at a future date; and
 $100,000 upon submission of a patent for the intellectual property.

The Company’s Chief Scientific Officer is an officer of the vendor.

g) On December 24, 2020, the Company closed a private placement and issued 6,000,000 special warrants 
at a price of $0.60 per special warrant, for gross proceeds of $3,600,000.  The Company also issued 
2,584,000 units at a price of $0.60 per unit, for gross proceeds of $1,550,400.  The special warrants are 
deemed to be exercised into one Common Share of the Company and one share purchase warrant on the 
earlier of three business days after the Company receives a prospectus receipt and April 25, 2021.  Each 
warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to 
the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange 
(“CSE”) and December 24, 2025.  The units consist of one Common Share and one share purchase 
warrant, with each warrant being exercisable into one Common Share of the Company at a price of $1.25 
for a period equal to the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and 
December 24, 2025.  The Company paid finder’s fees of $510,000 and issued 850,000 finder’s warrants.
Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of the Company at a price of $0.60 for a 
period equal to the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and December 
24, 2025.  
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12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

g) (continued)

The Company intends to file a prospectus in the province of British Columbia in order to qualify the
distribution of the Company’s common shares and special warrants, and to list its common shares on the
CSE.  As of January 5, 2021, no prospectus has been filed and no listing application has been made with
the CSE.

h) On January 5, 2021, the Company granted 400,000 stock options to directors. The stock options have an
exercise price of $1.25 and expire on January 5, 2024.

i) Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Company received $160,515 on the exercise of 1,070,100 finder’s
warrants.
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION AND MATERIAL ASSUMPTIONS  

 

This report on results for the year ended June 30, 2020 contains forward-looking information, including forward-looking 

information about Defence Therapeutic Inc.’s (formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.) (the "Company") operations, estimates, 

and research and development.  

 

Forward-looking information is generally signified by words such as “forecast”, “projected”, “expect”, “anticipate”, 

“believe”, “will”, “should” and similar expressions. This forward-looking information is based on assumptions that the 

Company believes were reasonable at the time such information was prepared, but assurance cannot be given that these 

assumptions will prove to be correct, and the forward-looking information in this report should not be unduly relied upon. 

The forward-looking information and the Company’s assumptions are subject to uncertainties and risks and are based on a 

number of assumptions made by the Company, any of which may prove to be incorrect.  

 

GENERAL  

 

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 

Company for the year ended June 30, 2020 should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements as at June 30, 

2020. This MD&A is effective January 5, 2021. Additional information relating to the Company is available on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com.  

 

The Company has prepared its audited financial statements for year ended June 30, 2020 in Canadian dollars and in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 

The Company was incorporated as Accum Therapeutics Inc. on July 18, 2017, under the laws of the province of Quebec. The 

Company changed its name to Defence Therapeutics Inc. on March 26, 2020 and was continued into British Columbia on 

July 10, 2020. Its principal business activity is the development of anti-body drug conjugates (ADCs) that improve the 

efficacy and safety of nano and protein-based pharmaceuticals used in the treatment of cancer. The Company’s head office 

address and registered and records office is 1680 – 200 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3L6. 

 

BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY 

 

On May 12, 2017, prior to the incorporation of the Company, a precursor entity to the Company and a former principal of the 

Company entered into an Intellectual Property Assignment and Royalty Agreement (the “Original IP Assignment and Royalty 

Agreement”) with TransferTech Sherbrooke, a limited liability partnership (“TTS”) and Jeffrey Victor Leyton (“Leyton”), a 

professor at the Universite de Sherbrooke. The Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement assigns Leyton’s invention 

known as “Novel Immunoconjugates with cholic acid nuclear localization sequence peptide and uses thereof” (the “Accum 

Invention”) and any related intellectual property to the Company. 

 

On May 20, 2020, the Company and TTS entered into an Amended and Restated Intellectual Property Assignment and 

Royalty Agreement (the “Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement”), which amends and restates the Original IP 

Assignment and Royalty Agreement, assigning the Accum Invention and any related intellectual property to the Company in 

exchange for consideration as follows: 

 

• $25,000 upon completion of the agreement (paid); and 

• The issuance of 2,085,714 common shares of the Company (issued and valued at $312,857). 

 

The Company must also make milestone payments related to the Accum Invention and any related or derivate inventions as 

follows: 

 

• $10,000 within 30 days of the completion of the first non-rodent positive toxicology study; 

• $25,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 1 patient; 
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• $50,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 2 patient; 

• $100,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 3 patient; and 

• $250,000 within 30 days of the first regulatory approval from a relevant registration authority. 

 

In addition, the Company must pay a royalty of 3% calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities involving the 

Accum Invention, and 4% calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities involving any related or derivative 

inventions. 

 

The Company was also required to enter into a research contract for a minimum of $45,000 (completed). 

 

The Company has determined that the cash and share consideration paid for the Amended IP Assignment and Royalty 

Agreement, along with the costs of the research contract, do not qualify as development costs.  Accordingly, the amounts 

have been expensed to research and lab fees. 

 

The Company has capitalized the following amounts as intangible assets: 

 

   

Intellectual 

Property 

       
Cost       

       
Balance at June 30, 2018 and 2019     $ - 

 Patent costs      46,018 

       
Balance at June 30, 2020     $ 46,018 

 

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company received $40,000 as part of an agreement to assign the Accum Invention 

to another company. That agreement was not completed. The Company recognized the $40,000 as other income during the 

year ended June 30, 2019. 

 

The Accum Invention includes patents as set out below:  

 

Patent Application Number Region Application Date Publication Date 

CA3017950Al Canada March 15, 2017 September 21, 2017 

US2019007787 A1 United States March 15, 2017 March 14, 2019 

JP20195I2545A Japan March 15, 2017 May 16, 2019 

IL26 l 765D0 Israel September 13, 2018 October 31, 2018 

AU2017233725AI Australia March 15, 2017 October 25, 2018 

EP3430060Al Europe March 15, 2017 January 23, 2019 

 

As of the date of this MD&A, all the patent applications are pending.  The Company will commence amortization of the 

intellectual property if and when the patents are granted. 

 

On December 1, 2020, the Company entered into an option and right of first refusal agreement to acquire intellectual property.  

In order to acquire the intellectual property, the Company paid $25,000 and must make additional payments as follows: 

 

• Up to $200,000 in development costs; 

• $75,000 upon completion of the acquisition; 

• A minimum of $200,000 related to a service agreement for continuing development to be entered into between the 

Company and the vendor at a future date; and 

• $100,000 upon submission of a patent for the intellectual property. 

 

The Company’s Chief Scientific Officer is an officer of the vendor. 
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On December 24, 2020, the Company closed a private placement and issued 6,000,000 special warrants at a price of $0.60 

per special warrant, for gross proceeds of $3,600,000.  The Company also issued 2,584,000 units at a price of $0.60 per unit, 

for gross proceeds of $1,550,400.  The special warrants are deemed to be exercised into one common share of the Company 

and one share purchase warrant on the earlier of three business days after the Company receives a prospectus receipt and 

April 25, 2021.  Each warrant is exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to 

the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and December 

24, 2025.  The units consist of one common share and one share purchase warrant, with each warrant being exercisable into 

one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to the shorter of two years after the Company’s 

shares are listed on the CSE and December 24, 2025.  The Company paid finder’s fees of $510,000 and issued 850,000 

finder’s warrants. Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of $0.60 for a period 

equal to the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and December 24, 2025. 

 

The Company intends to file a prospectus in the province of British Columbia in order to qualify the distribution of the 

Company’s common shares and special warrants, and to list its common shares on the CSE.  As of January 5, 2021, no 

prospectus has been filed and no listing application has been made with the CSE. 

 

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

 

 

June 30, 2020 

$ 

June 30, 2019 

$ 

June 30, 2018 

$ 

Revenue - - - 

Net income (loss) (673,182) (1,946) 1,772 

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share (0.71) (19.46) 17.72 

Total assets 1,911,945 7,765 3,913 

Long-term debt - - - 

Dividends - - - 

 

The June 30, 2018 and 2019 fiscal years had small net income and net loss amounts.  For those two fiscal years, the Company 

incurred some consulting fees, offset by recoveries and other income.  The Company had minimal cash and working capital.  

Late in the 2020 fiscal year, the Company issued shares for services and for the Amended IP Assignment and Royalty 

Agreement, which was a substantial portion of the net loss.  The Company also closed the first tranche of a private placement 

for cash, which was the primary reason for the increase in total assets.  Year-to-year variances were not the result of any 

discontinued operations, changes in accounting policies or significant dispositions.  

 

SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION 

 

Results for the eight most recently completed quarters are summarized below. 

 

For the Quarter Periods Ended June 30, 

2020 

$ 

March 31, 

2020 

$ 

December 31, 

2019 

$ 

September 30, 

2019 

$ 

Total revenue Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Net loss for the period (471,507) (192,270) (2,869) (6,536) 

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.27) (0.61) (28.69) (65.36) 

Total assets 2,345,397 28,836 110 1,229 

Total non-current liabilities Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil 
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For the Quarter Periods Ended June 30, 

2019 

$ 

March 31, 

2019 

$ 

December 31, 

2018 

$ 

September 30, 

2018 

$ 

Total revenue Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Net income (loss) for the period (9,861) (5,019) 12,952 (18) 

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per 

share (98.61) (50.19) 129.52 (0.18) 

Total assets 7,765 17,787 22,806 3,895 

Total non-current liabilities Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil 

 

There is minimal seasonality in the Company’s business.  A discussion of the factors that have caused variations over the 

quarters is as follows: 

 

• For the June 30, 2019 fiscal year (quarter periods ended September 30, 2018 to June 30, 2019), the Company incurred 

some consulting fees, offset by recoveries and other income.  The Company also had minimal cash and working 

capital.   

• This trend continued for the quarter periods ended Septmeber 30, 2019 and December 31, 2019.   

• In the quarter period ended March 31, 2020, the Company issued shares for services, which was the majority of the 

net loss for the period.  The Company still had minimal cash and working capital.   

• During the quarter period ended June 30, 2020, the Company issued shares for the Amended IP Assignment and 

Royalty Agreement, which was included in net loss.  The Company also closed the first tranche of a private 

placement for cash, which was the primary reason for the increase in total assets.   

 

OPERATIONS 

 

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company reported a net loss of $471,507 (2019 - $9,861). The Company’s 

loss included expenditures as follows: 

 

• Accounting and legal of $37,944 (2019 - $4,840) increased due to legal and audit fees as the Company began work 

towards a public listing in 2020; 

• Consulting fees of $nil (2019 - $5,000) decreased, as the Company had limited cash available for consultants until 

late in 2020; 

• Office and general of $112 (2019 - $21) remained consistent period to period; and 

• Research and lab fees of $433,451 (2019 - $nil) consisted primarily of the cash and shares paid in relation to the 

acquisition of the Accum technology. 

 

During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company reported a net loss of $673,182 (2019 – $1,946), including other income 

of $nil (2019 - $40,000). The Company’s loss included expenditures as follows: 

 

• Accounting and legal of $51,961 (2019 - $4,840) increased due to legal and audit fees as the Company began work 

towards a public listing in 2020; 

• Consulting fees of $7,600 (2019 - $35,000) decreased, as the Company had limited cash available for consultants 

until late in 2020; 

• Office and general of $185 (2019 - $2,106) was lower due to limited cash available for most of 2020;  

• Research and lab fees of $433,451 (2019 - $nil) consisted primarily of the cash and shares paid in relation to the 

acquisition of the Accum technology; and 

• Share-based compensation of $179,985 (2019 - $nil) related to 1,199,900 common shares issued to consultants and 

former key management for services.  

 

Other income for the year ended June 30, 2019 of $40,000 was the result of funds advanced to the Company for an agreement 

to assign the Accum Invention to another company.  The agreement was not completed. 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 

The Company’s cash at June 30, 2020 was $1,865,927 (2019 - $766). The working capital was $1,817,576 at June 30, 2020 

(2019 – deficiency of $74). 

 

During the year-ended June 30, 2020 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company has issued shares for cash as follows: 

 

• On June 18, 2020, the Company closed the first tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds of $2,277,000. 

The Company issued 15,180,000 common shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company paid finder’s fees of 

$227,000 and issued 1,518,000 finder’s warrants valued at $140,121. 

• On August 31, 2020, the Company closed the second tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds of $630,000. 

The Company issued 4,200,000 common shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company paid finder’s fees of 

$34,650 and issued 189,000 finder’s shares (valued at $28,350) and 420,000 finder’s warrants. 

• On October 9, 2020, the Company closed the third and final tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds of 

$305,250. The Company issued 2,035,000 common shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company paid finder’s 

fees of $13,431 and issued 113,960 finder’s shares (valued at $17,094) and 203,500 finder’s warrants.  

• On December 24, 2020, the Company closed a private placement and issued 6,000,000 special warrants at a price 

of $0.60 per special warrant, for gross proceeds of $3,600,000.  The Company also issued 2,584,000 units at a price 

of $0.60 per unit, for gross proceeds of $1,550,400.  The Company paid finder’s fees of $510,000 and issued 850,000 

finder’s warrants.  

• Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Company received $160,515 on the exercise of 1,070,100 finder’s warrants. 

 

The Company will need to raise additional financing following the 2021 fiscal year in order to continue research and for 

development of its intellectual property.  

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

These amounts of key management compensation are included in the amounts shown on the statement of comprehensive 

income (loss): 

 

 

Year Ended 

June 30, 2020 

Year Ended  

June 30, 2019 

     
Share-based compensation $ 15,000 $ - 

 

There were no other related party transactions for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.  

 

There were no related party balances as at June 30, 2020 or 2019. 

 

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

 

On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into consulting agreements with its CEO, CFO, Corporate Secretary and Chief 

Technical Scientific Officer. The consulting agreements have indefinite terms and monthly fees totalling $25,760. In the 

event the agreements are terminated by the Company or the consultants as a result of a change in control, the Company would 

be required to pay a total of $77,280 to the consultants. 

 

On October 9, 2020, the Company granted 700,000 stock options to officers, directors and consultants. The stock options 

have an exercise price of $1.25 and expire on October 9, 2023. 
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On October 23, 2020, the Company granted 250,000 stock options to officers, directors and consultants. The stock options 

have an exercise price of $1.25 and expire on October 23, 2023. 

 

On January 5, 2021, the Company granted 400,000 stock options to directors. The stock options have an exercise price of 

$1.25 and expire on January 5, 2024. 

 

Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Company issued common shares and special warrants, and entered into an option and right 

of first refusal agreement as described in Liquidity and Capital Resources and Business of the Company. 

 

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

 

The Company considers its capital to be comprised of shareholders’ equity. 

 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 

risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue 

new shares. Although the Company has been successful at raising funds in the past through the issuance of share capital, it is 

uncertain whether it will continue this method of financing due to the current difficult market conditions. 

 

In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares expenditure budgets that are updated 

as necessary depending on various factors, including successful capital deployment and general industry conditions.  

 

Management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis to ensure that the above objectives are met. There have been no 

changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. The Company 

is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS 

 

As at June 30, 2020, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The 

carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their fair values. 

 

Fair value 

 

The Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with an established hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs in 

valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows: 

 

 Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. 

 Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial asset measured at fair value by level within the fair value hierarchy: 

 

June 30, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Cash  $ 1,865,927 $                 - $                  - $ 1,865,927 

 

June 30, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Cash  $           766 $                 - $                  - $           766 
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Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 

discharge an obligation. The Company manages credit risk, in respect of cash, by placing it at major Canadian financial 

institutions. The Company has minimal credit risk.  

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquid funds to meet its 

liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 

the Company’s reputation. The contractual financial liabilities of the Company as of June 30, 2020 equal $48,351. All of the 

liabilities presented as accounts payable are due within 30 days of the reporting date. 

 

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the 

Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 

manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on capital.  

 

i) Currency risk – The Company has no funds held in a foreign currency, and as a result, is not exposed to significant 

currency risk on its financial instruments at period-end.  

 

ii) Interest rate risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 

interest rates. Interest earned on cash is at nominal interest rates, and therefore, the Company does not consider interest 

rate risk to be significant. The Company has no interest-bearing financial liabilities. 

 

iii) Other price risk – Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate due to changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate risk. The Company is not exposed 

to significant other price risk. 
 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

 

Income taxes  

 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 

undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company 

recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s current understanding of the 

tax law. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Company records its best estimate of the tax 

liability, including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes they have adequately 

provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially different outcome 

than the amount included in the tax liabilities.  

 

In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which a deductible temporary difference can be utilized. This is deemed to be the 

case when there are sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 

entity that are expected to reverse in the same year as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference, or in years 

into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. However, utilization of the tax losses 

also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped.  
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Going concern risk assessment 

 

The Company’s ability to continue its operations and to realize assets at their carrying value is dependent upon its ability to 

generate positive cash flows and/or obtain additional financing sufficient to fund its development and operating costs. The 

Company may be able to generate working capital to fund its operations by raising additional capital through equity markets. 

However, there is no assurance it will be able to raise funds in the future. Subsequent to the year-end, the Company closed 

private placements for net proceeds of approximately $5,500,000.  Based on its current plans, budgeted expenditures, and 

cash requirements, the Company has sufficient cash to finance its current plans for at least 12 months from the date the 

financial statements are issued.  The financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments required to realize its assets 

and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those reflected in the 

accompanying financial statements. 

 

If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for the financial statements then adjustments may be necessary in the 

carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the statement of financial position classifications used. 

Such adjustments could be material. 

 

Impairment of intangible assets 
 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for intangible assets and impairment of the capitalized expenditures 

requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which may be 

based on assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information 

becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 

expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in profit or loss in the year the new information becomes 

available. 

 

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARD ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

 

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)  
 
The amendments to IAS1 provide a more general approach to the classification of liabilities based on the contractual 

arrangements in place at the reporting date.  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2023.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the amendments. 
 

SHARE CAPITAL 

 

The Company had the following securities issued and outstanding: 

 

 January 5, 

2021 

June 30, 

2020 

June 30, 

2019 

Common shares 28,657,774 18,465,714 100 

Special warrants 6,000,000 - - 

Warrants 4,505,400 1,518,000 - 

Stock options 1,350,000 - - 

Fully diluted shares 40,513,174 19,983,714 100 

 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 

Limited operating history 

 

The Company has a very limited history of operations and is considered a start-up company. As such, the Company is subject 

to many risks common to such enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to 

personnel, financial and other resources, and lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in 
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achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of the Company’s success must be considered in light of 

its early stage of operations. 

 

The Company’s officers and directors may be engaged in a range of business activities resulting in conflicts of interest 

 
The Company may be subject to various potential conflicts of interest as some of its officers and directors may be engaged 

in a range of business activities. In addition, the Company’s executive officers and directors may devote time to their outside 

business interests, so long as such activities do not materially or adversely interfere with their duties to the Company. In some 

cases, the Company’s executive officers and directors may have fiduciary obligations associated with these business interests 

that interfere with their ability to devote time to the Company’s business and affairs and that could adversely affect the 

Company’s operations. These business interests could require significant time and attention of the Company’s executive 

officers and directors.  

 

In addition, the Company may become involved in other transactions that conflict with the interests of its directors and officers 

who may from time to time deal with persons, firms, institutions or companies with which the Company may be dealing, or 

which may be seeking investments similar to those desired by it. The interests of these persons could conflict with those of 

the Company. In addition, from time to time, these persons may be competing with the Company for available investment 

opportunities. Conflicts of interest, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies provided under applicable laws. In 

particular, if such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Company’s directors, a director who has such a conflict will 

abstain from voting for or against the approval of such participation or such terms. In accordance with applicable laws, the 

directors of the Company are required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. 

 

The Company’s intellectual property and licenses thereto 

 

The Company’s success will depend in part on its ability to protect and maintain its intellectual property rights and its licenses. 

No assurance can be given that the license or rights used by the Company will not be challenged, invalidated, infringed or 

circumvented, nor that the rights granted thereunder will provide competitive advantages to the Company. It is not clear 

whether the pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents. There is no assurance that the Company will be 

able to enter into licensing arrangements, develop or obtain alternative technology in respect of patents issued to third parties 

that incidentally cover its production processes. Moreover, the Company could potentially incur substantial legal costs in 

defending legal actions that allege patent infringement or by instituting patent infringement suits against others. The 

Company’s commercial success also depends on the Company not infringing patents or proprietary rights of others and not 

breaching the exclusive license granted to the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to maintain 

such licenses that it may require to conduct its business or that such licenses have been obtained at a reasonable cost. 

Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to remain in compliance with its licenses. Consequently, 

there may be a risk that such licenses may be withdrawn with no compensation or penalties to the Company. 

 

If patent laws or the interpretation of patent laws change, the Company’s competitors may be able to develop and 

commercialize its discoveries 

 

Important legal issues remain to be resolved as to the extent and scope of available patent protection for biopharmaceutical 

products and processes in Canada, and other important markets outside Canada, such as Europe or the United States. As such, 

litigation or administrative proceedings may be necessary to determine the validity, scope and ownership of certain of the 

Company’s and others’ proprietary rights. Any such litigation or proceeding may result in a significant commitment of 

resources in the future and could force the Company to do one or more of the following: cease selling or using any of its 

future products that incorporate a challenged intellectual property, which would adversely affect its revenue; obtain a license 

or other rights from the holder of the intellectual property rights alleged to have been infringed or otherwise violated, which 

license may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all; and redesign its future products to avoid infringing or violating the 

intellectual property rights of third parties, which may be time-consuming or impossible to do. In addition, changes in patent 

laws in Canada and other countries may result in allowing others to use its discoveries or develop and commercialize its 

products. The Company cannot provide assurance that the patents it obtains will afford it significant commercial protection. 
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The Company may not be able to enforce its intellectual property rights throughout the world. This risk is exacerbated 

as it expects that one or more of its product candidates will be manufactured and used in a number of foreign countries 

 

The laws of foreign countries may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of Canada. Many 

companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign 

jurisdictions. This risk is exacerbated for the Company as it expects that future product candidates could be manufactured, 

and used in a number of foreign countries. 

 

The legal systems of some countries, particularly developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other 

intellectual property protection, especially those relating to life sciences. This could make it difficult to stop the infringement 

or other misappropriation of the Company’s intellectual property rights. For example, several foreign countries have 

compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, some countries limit 

the enforceability of patents against third parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these 

countries, patents and trade secrets may provide limited or no benefit. 

 

Most jurisdictions in which the Company intends to apply for patents have patent protection laws similar to those of Canada, 

but some of them do not. For example, the Company may do business in the future in countries that may not provide the same 

or similar protection as that provided in Canada. Additionally, due to uncertainty in patent protection law, the Company has 

not filed applications in many countries where significant markets exist. 

 

Proceedings to enforce patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert the Company’s efforts 

and attention from other aspects of its business. Accordingly, efforts to protect intellectual property rights in such countries 

may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by courts in Canada, the US, and foreign countries 

may affect the Company’s ability to obtain adequate protection for the Company’s technology and the enforcement of its 

intellectual property. 

 

COVID-19 may materially and adversely affect the Company’s business and financial results 

 
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, which causes the disease known as COVID-19, was reported to have 

surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread globally. In March 2020, the World Health Organization 

declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic.  

 

The effects of COVID-19 could disrupt the Company’s business and delay any future clinical trials, the magnitude of which 

will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other limitations on the Company’s ability to conduct 

its business in the ordinary course. These and similar, and perhaps more severe, disruptions in the Company’s operations 

could negatively impact the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations, including its ability to obtain 

financing. Quarantines, shelter-in-place and similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other 

restrictions on the conduct of business operations could occur, related to COVID-19 or other infectious diseases could impact 

personnel at third-party manufacturing facilities or the availability or cost of materials, which would disrupt the Company’s 

supply chain. 

 

In addition, any future clinical trials have been and may be further affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, including: 

 

• Delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in the clinical trial, including patients that may not be able to comply with 

clinical trial protocols if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt healthcare services; 

• Delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators and 

clinical site staff; 

• Diversion or prioritization of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials and towards the 

COVID-19 pandemic, including the diversion of hospitals serving as the Company’s clinical trial sites and hospital 

staff supporting the conduct of the clinical trials, who, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to 

COVID-19 and adversely impact the clinical trial operations; 

• Interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, due to limitations on travel imposed 

or recommended by federal, state or provincial governments, employers and others; and 
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• Limitations in employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of the Company’s clinical trials, 

including due to sickness of employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact with large groups 

of people. 

 

Preclinical studies, clinical trials, licensing, regulations and products 

 

The Company is also exposed to risks related to preclinical studies, clinical trials, licensing, regulations and products as 

follows: 

 

• The Company may not be successful in its efforts to identify, license or discover additional product candidates; 

• The Company faces product liability exposure, which, if not covered by insurance, could result in significant 

financial liability; 

• If the Company is unable to advance product candidates through clinical development, obtain regulatory approval 

and ultimately commercialize product candidates, or if the Company experiences significant delays in doing so, 

business will be materially harmed; 

• The Company’s business is highly dependent on its lead product candidate, Accum, and it must complete preclinical 

studies and clinical testing before it can seek regulatory approval and begin commercialization of any of its other 

product candidates. If the Company is unable to obtain regulatory approval for, and successfully commercialize 

Accum, its business may be materially harmed and such failure may affect the viability of its other product 

candidates; 

• Any product candidates that the Company successfully develops and commercializes will have to compete with 

existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future; 

• Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes, and results of earlier 

studies and trials may not be predictive of future clinical trial results. If preclinical studies and clinical trials are not 

sufficient to support regulatory approval of any of the Company’s product candidates, it may incur additional costs 

or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of such product candidate; 

• The Company expects to develop Accum, and potentially future product candidates, in combination with other 

therapies, which exposes it to additional risks; 

• The Company’s preclinical studies and clinical trial may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety, potency and 

purity of any of its product candidates, which would prevent or delay development, regulatory approval and 

commercialization; 

• The results of preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of future results. Initial success 

in the Company’s ongoing clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when these trials are completed 

or in later-stage trials; 

• Interim, “top-line” and preliminary data from clinical trials that the Company announces or publishes from time to 

time may change as more patient data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that 

could result in material changes in the final data; and 

• Disruptions at Health Canada and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns 

could hinder their ability to hire, retain or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new or 

modified products and services from being developed, approved or commercialized in a timely manner, which could 

negatively impact the Company’s business. 
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Defence Therapeutics Inc. 
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.) 
Condensed Interim Statements of Financial Position 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

December 31, 

2020 

(unaudited) 

June 30, 

2020 

(audited) 

     

Assets     

     

Current     

 Cash $ 7,077,195 $ 1,865,927 

 Sales tax receivable  14,342  - 

 Prepaids  30,147  - 

     

  7,121,684  1,865,927 

Intangible Assets (note 7)  46,018  46,018 

     

 $ 7,167,702 $ 1,911,945 

     

Liabilities     

     

Current     

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 75,596 $ 48,351 

     

Shareholders’ Equity     

     

Share Capital (note 9)  4,254,491  2,396,829 

Special Warrants (note 9)  3,600,000  - 

Share-based Payments Reserve (note 9)  394,731  140,121 

Deficit  (1,157,116)  (673,356) 

     

  7,092,106  1,863,594 

     

 $ 7,167,702 $ 1,911,945 

 

Going Concern (note 2) 

Commitments (note 11) 

Subsequent Events (note 12) 
 

Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 

    “Sebastien Plouffe”       "Joseph Meagher” 

……………………………… Director          ……………………………… Director 

      Sebastien Plouffe         Joseph Meagher 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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Defence Therapeutics Inc. 
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.) 
Condensed Interim Statements of Comprehensive Loss 

(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

Three Months 

Ended 

December 31, 

2020 

Three Months 

Ended 

December 31, 

2019 

Six Months 

Ended 

December 31, 

2020 

Six Months 

Ended 

December 31, 

2019 

         

Expenses         

 Accounting and legal $ 81,683 $ 1,750 $ 107,355 $ 1,750 

 Advertising and promotion  43,710  -  43,710  - 

 Consulting fees (note 8)  18,000  1,100  18,000  7,600 

 Management fees (note 8)  42,745  -  51,368  - 

 Office and general  1,891  19  1,915  55 

 Research and lab fees (note 8)  224,482  -  231,668  - 

 Share-based compensation (notes 8 

and 9)  29,744  -  29,744  - 

         

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss 

for the Period $ (442,255) $ (2,869) $ (483,760) $ (9,405) 

         

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share $ (0.02) $ (28.69) $ (0.02) $ (94.05) 

         

Weighted Average Number of 

Common Shares Outstanding – 

Basic and Diluted  24,178,280  100  22,699,377  100 

         

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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Defence Therapeutics Inc. 
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.) 
Condensed Interim Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficiency) 

(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Share Capital      

 

Number of 

Class A 

Common 

Shares Share Capital 

Special 

Warrants 

Share-based 

Payments 

Reserve Deficit Total 

            

Balance, June 30, 2019 100 $ 100 $ - $ - $ (174) $ (74) 

 Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period -  -  -  -  (9,405)  (9,405) 

            

Balance, December 31, 2019 100  100  -  -  (9,579)  (9,479) 

 Shares issued for services 1,199,900  179,985  -  -  -  179,985 

 Shares issued for intellectual property agreement 2,085,714  312,857  -  -  -  312,857 

 Private placement 15,180,000  2,277,000  -  -  -  2,277,000 

 Share issue costs -  (373,113)  -  140,121  -  (232,992) 

 Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period -  -  -  -  (663,777)  (663,777) 

            

Balance, June 30, 2020 18,465,714  2,396,829  -  140,121  (673,356)  1,863,594 

 Private placements 8,819,000  2,485,650  3,600,000  -  -  6,085,650 

 Share issue costs 302,960  (887,280)  -  323,643  -  (563,637) 

 Shares issued on exercise of warrants 1,070,100  160,515  -  -  -  160,515 

 Fair value transferred on exercise of warrants -  98,777  -  (98,777)  -  - 

 Share-based compensation -  -  -  29,744  -  29,744 

 Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period -  -  -  -  (483,760)  (483,760) 

            

Balance, December 31, 2020 28,657,774 $ 4,254,491 $ 3,600,000 $ 394,731 $ (1,157,116) $ 7,092,106 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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Defence Therapeutics Inc. 
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.) 
Condensed Interim Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Six Months Ended December 31, 

(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 2020 2019 

   

Operating Activities     

 Net loss for the period $ (483,760) $ (9,405) 

 Item not involving cash     

 Share-based compensation  29,744  - 

 Changes in non-cash working capital     

 Sales tax receivable  (14,342)  - 

 Prepaids  (30,147)  6,999 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  27,245  1,750 

     

Cash Used in Operating Activities  (471,260)  (656) 

     

Financing Activities     

 Shares issued for cash  2,646,165  - 

 Special warrants issued for cash   3,600,000  - 

 Share issue costs   (563,637)  - 

     

Cash Provided by Financing Activities  5,682,528  - 

     

Inflow (Outflow) of Cash  5,211,268  (656) 

Cash, Beginning of Period  1,865,927  766 

     

Cash, End of Period $ 7,077,195 $ 110 

     

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cash Flows     

 Income tax paid $ - $ - 

 Interest paid $ - $ - 

 Fair value of finder’s warrants issued $ 323,643 $ - 

 Fair value transferred on exercise of warrants $ 98,777 $ - 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 

 



Defence Therapeutics Inc. 
(formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.) 
Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements  

For the Six Months Ended December 31, 2020 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS  

 

Defence Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated as Accum Therapeutics Inc. on July 18, 2017, 

under the laws of the province of Quebec. The Company changed its name to Defence Therapeutics Inc. on 

March 26, 2020 and was continued into British Columbia on July 10, 2020. Its principal business activity is 

the development of anti-body drug conjugates (ADCs) that improve the efficacy and safety of nano and 

protein-based pharmaceuticals used in the treatment of cancer. The Company’s head office address and 

registered and records office is 1680 – 200 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3L6. 

 

2. GOING CONCERN 

 

These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 

applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable 

future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations. 
 

The Company’s ability to continue its operations and to realize assets at their carrying value is dependent upon 

its ability to generate positive cash flows and/or obtain additional financing sufficient to fund its development 

and operating costs. The Company may be able to generate working capital to fund its operations by raising 

additional capital through equity markets. However, there is no assurance it will be able to raise funds in the 

future. Based on its current plans, budgeted expenditures and cash requirements, the Company has sufficient 

cash to finance its current plans for at least twelve months from the date the financial statements are issued. 

These condensed interim financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments required to realize its 

assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from 

those reflected in the accompanying condensed interim financial statements. 

 

If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for these condensed interim financial statements then 

adjustments may be necessary in the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the 

statement of financial position classifications used. Such adjustments could be material. 

 

In early March 2020, there was a global outbreak of coronavirus (COVID-19). The effects of COVID-19 could 

delay any future clinical trials, the magnitude of which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the 

restrictions and other limitations on the Company’s ability to conduct business in the ordinary course. These 

and similar, and perhaps more severe, disruptions to operations could negatively impact the Company’s 

business, financial condition and results of operations, including the ability to obtain financing.  

 

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

a) Statement of compliance 

 

The condensed interim financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 

International Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting. 

 

The condensed interim financial statements of the Company should be read in conjunction with the 

Company’s June 30, 2020 audited financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

These condensed interim financial statements were reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved and 

authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 2, 2021. 
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued) 

 

b) Basis of measurement 

 

These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for 

certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair value, as explained in the significant accounting 

policies (note 4). These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared under the accrual basis 

of accounting, except for cash flow information. 

 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared, for all periods presented, following the 

same accounting policies and methods of computation as described in note 4 to the audited financial statements 

for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

 

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In 

the future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions.  

 

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive 

income/loss in the year of the change, if the change affects that year only, or in the year of the change and 

future years, if the change affects both.  

 

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies  

 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant risk of 

causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the financial 

statements within the next fiscal year are discussed below. 

 

a) Income taxes  

 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many 

transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate 

tax determination is uncertain. The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax 

audit issues based on the Company’s current understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable 

that an adjustment will be made, the Company records its best estimate of the tax liability, including the 

related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes they have adequately 

provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially 

different outcome than the amount included in the tax liabilities.  

 

In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which a deductible temporary difference 

can be utilized. This is deemed to be the case when there are sufficient taxable temporary differences 

relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity that are expected to reverse in the same 

year as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference, or in years into which a tax loss 

arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. However, utilization of the tax losses 

also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped.  
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued) 

 

b) Going concern risk assessment 

 

The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern requires significant judgment. 

The condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 

applicable to a going concern, as disclosed in note 2. 

 

c) Impairment of intangible assets 

 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for intangible assets and impairment of the 

capitalized expenditures requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic 

benefits will flow to the Company, which may be based on assumptions about future events or 

circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. If, 

after expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 

expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in profit or loss in the year the new 

information becomes available. 

 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty  

 

The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty that 

have a significant risk of resulting in material adjustments to the financial statements.  

 

a) Fair value of stock options and finder’s warrants granted 

 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value the stock options and finder’s 

warrants granted during the period. The Black-Scholes model was developed for use in estimating the 

fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. The model requires 

management to make estimates that are subjective and may not be representative of actual results. 

Changes in assumptions can materially affect estimates of fair values. 

 

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Financial instruments are agreements between two parties that result in promises to pay or receive cash or 

equity instruments. The Company classifies its financial instruments as follows: cash is classified as fair value 

through profit or loss; and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, as amortized cost. The carrying values of 

these instruments approximate their fair values due to their short term to maturity. 

 

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial asset measured at fair value by level within the fair 

value hierarchy: 

 

December 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Cash  $ 7,077,195 $                 - $                  - $ 7,077,195 

 

June 30, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Cash  $ 1,865,927 $                 - $                  - $ 1,865,927 
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

 

• Credit risk; 

• Liquidity risk; and 

• Market risk. 

 

a) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation. The Company manages credit risk, in respect of cash, by placing it 

at major Canadian financial institutions. The Company has minimal credit risk.  

 

b) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 

have sufficient liquid funds to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 

without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The contractual 

financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2020 equal $75,596. All of the liabilities 

presented as accounts payable are due within 30 days of the reporting date. 

 

c) Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, 

will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 

market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, 

while optimizing the return on capital.  

 

i) Currency risk – The Company has no funds held in a foreign currency, and as a result, is not exposed 

to significant currency risk on its financial instruments at period-end.  

 

ii) Interest rate risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of 

changes in market interest rates. Interest earned on cash is at nominal interest rates, and therefore, 

the Company does not consider interest rate risk to be significant. The Company has no interest-

bearing financial liabilities. 

 

iii) Other price risk – Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate 

risk. The Company is not exposed to significant other price risk. 
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

 

d) Capital management 

 

The Company considers its capital to be comprised of shareholders’ equity. 

 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 

the Company may attempt to issue new shares. Although the Company has been successful at raising 

funds in the past through the issuance of share capital, it is uncertain whether it will continue this method 

of financing due to the current difficult market conditions. 

 

In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares expenditure 

budgets that are updated as necessary depending on various factors, including successful capital 

deployment and general industry conditions.  

 

Management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis to ensure that the above objectives are met. 

There have been no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the six months 

ended December 31, 2020. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AGREEMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

On May 12, 2017, prior to the incorporation of the Company, a precursor entity to the Company and a former 

principal of the Company, entered into an Intellectual Property Assignment and Royalty Agreement (the 

“Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement”) with TransferTech Sherbrooke, a limited liability 

partnership (“TTS”), and Jeffrey Victor Leyton (“Leyton”), a professor at the Universite de Sherbrooke. The 

Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement assigns Leyton’s invention known as “Novel 

Immunoconjugates with cholic acid nuclear localization sequence peptide and uses thereof” (the “Accum 

Invention”) and any related intellectual property to the Company. 

 

On May 20, 2020, the Company and TTS entered into an Amended and Restated Intellectual Property 

Assignment and Royalty Agreement (the “Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement”), which amends 

and restates the Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement, assigning the Accum Invention and any 

related intellectual property to the Company in exchange for consideration as follows: 

 

• $25,000 upon completion of the agreement (paid); and 

• The issuance of 2,085,714 common shares of the Company (issued and valued at $312,857). 

 

The Company must also make milestone payments related to the Accum Invention and any related or 

derivative inventions as follows: 

 

• $10,000 within 30 days of the completion of the first non-rodent positive toxicology study; 

• $25,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 1 patient; 

• $50,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 2 patient; 

• $100,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 3 patient; and 

• $250,000 within 30 days of the first regulatory approval from a relevant registration authority. 

 

In addition, the Company must pay a royalty of 3% calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities 

involving the Accum Invention, and 4% calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities involving 

any related or derivative inventions. 
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7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AGREEMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 

 

The Company was also required to enter into a research contract for a minimum of $45,000 (completed). 

 

The Company has determined that the cash and share consideration paid for the Amended IP Assignment and 

Royalty Agreement, along with the costs of the research contract, do not qualify as development costs. 

Accordingly, the amounts have been expensed to research and lab fees. 

 

The Company has capitalized the following amounts as intangible assets: 

 

   

Intellectual 

Property 

       
Cost       

       
Balance at June 30, 2018 and 2019     $ - 

 Patent costs      46,018 

       
Balance at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2020     $ 46,018 

 

On December 1, 2020, the Company entered into an option and right of first refusal agreement to acquire 

intellectual property. In order to acquire the intellectual property, the Company paid $25,000 and must make 

additional payments as follows: 

 

• Up to $200,000 in development costs; 

• $75,000 upon completion of the acquisition; 

• A minimum of $200,000 related to a service agreement for continuing development to be entered 

into between the Company and the vendor at a future date; and 

• $100,000 upon submission of a patent for the intellectual property. 

 

The Company’s Chief Technical Scientific Officer is an officer of the vendor. The Company has determined 

the costs do not qualify as development costs. Accordingly, the amounts have been expensed to research and 

lab fees. 

 

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

These amounts of key management compensation are included in the amounts shown on the condensed interim 

statements of comprehensive loss: 

 

 

Six Months 

Ended 

December 31, 

2020 

Six Months 

Ended 

 December 31, 

2019 

     
Consulting fees $ 18,000 $ - 

Management fees  51,368  - 

Research and lab fees  20,631  - 

Share-based compensation  28,178  - 

 $ 118,177 $ - 
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 

 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company entered into various consulting agreements 

that included key management (note 11). 

 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company paid research and lab fees of $105,362 (2019 - 

$nil) to companies in which management and directors are principals. 

 

There were no related party balances as at December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020. 

 

9. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

a) Authorized 
 

• Unlimited Class A Common Shares, voting, participating, without par value (“Common Shares”); 

• Unlimited Class A Special Shares, voting, non-participating, non-cumulative, redeemable, without 

par value; 

• Unlimited Class B Common Shares, non-voting, participating, without par value; 

• Unlimited Class B Special Shares, non-voting, non-participating, redeemable, without par value; 

• Unlimited Class C Common Shares, non-voting, participating, without par value; 

• Unlimited Class C Special Shares, non-voting, non-participating, non-cumulative, redeemable, 

without par value; and 

• Unlimited Class D Special Shares, non-voting, non-participating, non-cumulative, redeemable 

without par value. 

 

b) Issued and outstanding 

 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020 

 

On August 31, 2020, the Company closed the second tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds 

of $630,000. The Company issued 4,200,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company 

paid finder’s fees of $34,650 and issued 189,000 finder’s shares (valued at $28,350) and 420,000 finder’s 

warrants valued at $38,758 (note 9(c)). Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of 

the Company at a price of $0.15 for a period of 36 months following the Company becomes a reporting 

issuer in any province or territory. 

 

On October 9, 2020, the Company closed the third and final tranche of a private placement for gross 

proceeds of $305,250. The Company issued 2,035,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The 

Company paid finder’s fees of $13,431 and issued 113,960 finder’s shares (valued at $17,094) and 

203,500 finder’s warrants valued at $18,770 (note 9(c)). Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one 

Common Share of the Company at a price of $0.15 for a period of 36 months following the Company 

becomes a reporting issuer in any province or territory. The Company incurred other share issue costs of 

$5,556. 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 

 

b)  Issued and outstanding (continued) 

 

On December 24, 2020, the Company closed a private placement and issued 6,000,000 special warrants 

at a price of $0.60 per special warrant, for gross proceeds of $3,600,000. The Company also issued 

2,584,000 units at a price of $0.60 per unit, for gross proceeds of $1,550,400. The special warrants are 

deemed to be exercised into one Common Share of the Company and one share purchase warrant on the 

earlier of three business days after the Company receives a prospectus receipt and April 25, 2021. Each 

warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to 

the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange 

(“CSE”) and December 24, 2025. The units consist of one Common Share and one share purchase 

warrant, with each warrant being exercisable into one Common Share of the Company at a price of $1.25 

for a period equal to the shorter of 24 months after the Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and 

December 24, 2025. The Company paid finder’s fees of $510,000 and issued 850,000 finder’s warrants 

valued at $266,115 (note 9(c)). Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of the 

Company at a price of $0.60 for a period of 24 months following the date the Company becomes a 

reporting issuer in any province or territory. 

 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company received $160,515 on the exercise of 

1,070,100 finder’s warrants. The Company transferred $98,777 from the share-based payments reserve 

to share capital in relation to the exercise. 

 

During the year ended June 30, 2020 

 

On March 7, 2020, the Company issued 1,199,900 Common Shares valued at $179,985 for services 

provided by consultants and former key management. 

 

On June 18, 2020, the Company issued 2,085,714 Common Shares valued at $312,857 in relation to an 

intellectual property agreement (note 7). 

 

On June 18, 2020, the Company closed the first tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds of 

$2,277,000. The Company issued 15,180,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company 

paid finder’s fees of $227,700 and issued 1,518,000 finder’s warrants valued at $140,121 (note 9(c)). 

Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one Common Share of the Company at a price of $0.15 for a 

period of 36 months following the date the Company becomes a reporting issuer in any province or 

territory. The Company incurred other share issue costs of $5,292. 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 

 

c) Warrants 

 

Warrant transactions and the number of warrants outstanding are summarized as follows: 

 

 

Six Months Ended 

December 31, 2020 

Year Ended 

June 30, 2020 

 

Number of 

Warrants 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

Number of 

Warrants 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

     
Outstanding, beginning of period 1,518,000 $ 0.15 - $     - 

Issued 4,057,500 $ 0.94 1,518,000 $ 0.15 

Exercised (1,070,100) $ 0.15 - $     - 

     
Outstanding, end of period 4,505,400 $ 0.87 1,518,000 $ 0.15 

 

The following warrants were outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2020: 

 

Expiry Date 

Weighted Average 

Remaining Contractual 

Life in Years Exercise Price December 31, 2020 

    
24 months after the Company 

becomes a reporting issuer N/A $ 0.60 850,000 

36 months after the Company 

becomes a reporting issuer N/A $ 0.15 1,071,400 

The shorter of 24 months after the 

Company’s shares are listed on 

the CSE and December 24, 

2025 

N/A $ 1.25 2,584,000 

    
 N/A  4,505,400 

 

The Company applies the fair value method using the Black-Scholes option pricing model in accounting 

for its finder’s warrants issued. During the six months ended December 31, 2020, 1,473,500 (year ended 

June 30, 2020 - 1,518,000) finder’s warrants were issued with a fair value of $323,643 (year ended 

June 30, 2020 - $140,121). 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 

 

c)  Warrants (continued) 

 

The fair value of each finder’s warrant issued was calculated using the following weighted average 

assumptions: 

 

 

Six Months Ended 

December 31, 2020 

Year Ended 

June 30, 2020 

   
Expected life (years) 2.42 3.00 

Risk-free interest rate 0.27% 0.32% 

Annualized volatility 100% 100% 

Dividend yield N/A N/A 

Stock price at grant date $ 0.41 $ 0.15 

Exercise price $ 0.41 $ 0.15 

Weighted average grant date fair value $ 0.22 $ 0.09 

 

Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions regarding volatility. The Company 

has estimated the volatility of the share price based on comparable start up companies’ volatilities. 

 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company transferred $98,777 (year ended June 30, 

2020 - $nil) from the share-based payments reserve to share capital as 1,070,100 finder’s warrants were 

exercised (year ended June 30, 2020 - nil).  

 

d) Stock options  

 

The Company has a stock option plan to grant incentive stock options to directors, officers, employees and 

consultants. Under the plan, the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be subject to option at any 

one time may not exceed 10% of the issued common shares of the Company as of that date, including options 

granted prior to the adoption of the plan. Options granted may not exceed a term of 10 years. All options 

vest when granted unless they are otherwise specified by the Board of Directors. 

 

Stock option transactions and the number of stock options outstanding are summarized as follows: 

 

 

Six Months Ended 

December 31, 2020 

Year Ended 

June 30, 2020 

 

Number of 

Warrants 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

Number of 

Warrants 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

     
Outstanding, beginning of period - $      - - $      - 

Issued 950,000 $ 1.25 - $      - 

     
Outstanding, end of period 950,000 $ 1.25 - $      - 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 

 

d)  Stock options (continued) 

 

The following stock options were outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2020: 

 

Expiry Date 

Weighted Average 

Remaining 

Contractual Life in 

Years 

Exercise 

Price Outstanding Exercisable 

     
October 9, 2023 2.77 $ 1.25 700,000 700,000 

October 23, 2023 2.81 $ 1.25 250,000 250,000 

 2.78  950,000 950,000 

 

The Company applies the fair value method using the Black-Scholes option pricing model in accounting for 

its stock options granted. Accordingly, share-based payments of $29,744 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $nil) 

were recognized during the six months ended December 31, 2020.  

 

The fair value of each stock option granted was calculated using the following weighted average 

assumptions: 

 

 

Six Months Ended 

December 31, 2020 

Year Ended 

June 30, 2020 

   
Expected life (years) 3.00 N/A 

Risk-free interest rate 0.24% N/A 

Annualized volatility 100% N/A 

Dividend yield N/A N/A 

Stock price at grant date $ 0.15 N/A 

Exercise price $ 1.25 N/A 

Weighted average grant date fair value $ 0.03 N/A 

 

Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions regarding volatility. The Company 

has estimated the volatility of the share price based on comparable start up companies’ volatilities. 

 

10. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE 

 

The Company has one operating segment, being research and development. All of the Company’s assets are 

located in Canada. 

 

11. COMMITMENTS 

 

On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into consulting agreements with its Chief Executive Officer, 

Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary and Chief Technical Scientific Officer. The consulting 

agreements have indefinite terms and monthly fees totalling $25,760. In the event the agreements are 

terminated by the Company or the consultants as a result of a change in control, the Company would be 

required to pay a total of $77,280 to the consultants. 
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12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

a) On January 5, 2021, the Company granted 400,000 stock options to directors. The stock options have an 

exercise price of $1.25 and expire on January 5, 2024. 

 

b) On January 25, 2021, the Company closed a private placement and issued 137,000 special warrants at a 

price of $0.60 per special warrant, for gross proceeds of $82,200. The Company also issued 4,000 units 

at a price of $0.60 per unit, for gross proceeds of $2,400. The special warrants are deemed to be exercised 

into one Common Share of the Company and one share purchase warrant on the earlier of three business 

days after the Company receives a prospectus receipt and May 26, 2021. Each warrant is exercisable into 

one Common Share of the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to the shorter of two years after 

the Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and January 25, 2026. The units consist of one Common 

Share and one share purchase warrant, with each warrant being exercisable into one Common Share of 

the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares 

are listed on the CSE and January 25, 2026.  

 

c) The Company has filed a preliminary prospectus in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba 

and Ontario in order to qualify the distribution of the Company’s Common Shares and special warrants, 

and to list its Common Shares on the CSE.  
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION AND MATERIAL ASSUMPTIONS  

 

This report on results for the six months ended December 31, 2020 contains forward-looking information, including forward-

looking information about Defence Therapeutic Inc.’s (formerly Accum Therapeutics Inc.) (the "Company") operations, 

estimates, and research and development.  

 

Forward-looking information is generally signified by words such as “forecast”, “projected”, “expect”, “anticipate”, 

“believe”, “will”, “should” and similar expressions. This forward-looking information is based on assumptions that the 

Company believes were reasonable at the time such information was prepared, but assurance cannot be given that these 

assumptions will prove to be correct, and the forward-looking information in this report should not be unduly relied upon. 

The forward-looking information and the Company’s assumptions are subject to uncertainties and risks and are based on a 

number of assumptions made by the Company, any of which may prove to be incorrect.  

 

GENERAL  

 

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 

Company for the six months ended December 31, 2020 should be read in conjunction with the condensed interim financial 

statements as at December 31, 2020 and the audited financial statements as at June 30, 2020. This MD&A is effective March 

2, 2021. Additional information relating to the Company is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  

 

The Company has prepared its condensed interim financial statements for the six months ended December 31, 2020 in 

Canadian dollars and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and International Accounting Standard 

(“IAS”) 34 Interim Financial Statements, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 

The Company was incorporated as Accum Therapeutics Inc. on July 18, 2017, under the laws of the province of Quebec. The 

Company changed its name to Defence Therapeutics Inc. on March 26, 2020 and was continued into British Columbia on 

July 10, 2020. Its principal business activity is the development of anti-body drug conjugates (ADCs) that improve the 

efficacy and safety of nano and protein-based pharmaceuticals used in the treatment of cancer. The Company’s head office 

address and registered and records office is 1680 – 200 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3L6. 

 

BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY 

 

On May 12, 2017, prior to the incorporation of the Company, a precursor entity to the Company and a former principal of the 

Company entered into an Intellectual Property Assignment and Royalty Agreement (the “Original IP Assignment and Royalty 

Agreement”) with TransferTech Sherbrooke, a limited liability partnership (“TTS”), and Jeffrey Victor Leyton (“Leyton”), a 

professor at the Universite de Sherbrooke. The Original IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement assigns Leyton’s invention 

known as “Novel Immunoconjugates with cholic acid nuclear localization sequence peptide and uses thereof” (the “Accum 

Invention”) and any related intellectual property to the Company. 

 

On May 20, 2020, the Company and TTS entered into an Amended and Restated Intellectual Property Assignment and 

Royalty Agreement (the “Amended IP Assignment and Royalty Agreement”), which amends and restates the Original IP 

Assignment and Royalty Agreement, assigning the Accum Invention and any related intellectual property to the Company in 

exchange for consideration as follows: 

 

• $25,000 upon completion of the agreement (paid); and 

• The issuance of 2,085,714 common shares of the Company (issued and valued at $312,857). 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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The Company must also make milestone payments related to the Accum Invention and any related or derivative inventions 

as follows: 

 

• $10,000 within 30 days of the completion of the first non-rodent positive toxicology study; 

• $25,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 1 patient; 

• $50,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 2 patient; 

• $100,000 within 30 days of the recruitment of the first phase 3 patient; and 

• $250,000 within 30 days of the first regulatory approval from a relevant registration authority. 

 

In addition, the Company must pay a royalty of 3% calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities involving the 

Accum Invention, and 4% calculated on the net revenues and all commercial activities involving any related or derivative 

inventions. 

 

The Company was also required to enter into a research contract for a minimum of $45,000 (completed). 

 

The Company has determined that the cash and share consideration paid for the Amended IP Assignment and Royalty 

Agreement, along with the costs of the research contract, do not qualify as development costs. Accordingly, the amounts have 

been expensed to research and lab fees. 

 

The Company has capitalized the following amounts as intangible assets: 

 

   

Intellectual 

Property 

       
Cost       

       
Balance at June 30, 2018 and 2019     $ - 

 Patent costs      46,018 

       
Balance at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2020     $ 46,018 

 

The Accum Invention includes patents as set out below:  

 
Patent Application Number Region Application Date Publication Date 

CA3017950Al Canada March 15, 2017 September 21, 2017 

US2019007787 A1 United States March 15, 2017 March 14, 2019 

JP20195I2545A Japan March 15, 2017 May 16, 2019 

IL26 l 765D0 Israel September 13, 2018 October 31, 2018 

AU2017233725AI Australia March 15, 2017 October 25, 2018 

EP3430060Al Europe March 15, 2017 January 23, 2019 

 

As of the date of this MD&A, all the patent applications are pending. The Company will commence amortization of the 

intellectual property if and when the patents are granted. 

 

On December 1, 2020, the Company entered into an option and right of first refusal agreement to acquire intellectual property. 

In order to acquire the intellectual property, the Company paid $25,000 and must make additional payments as follows: 

 

• Up to $200,000 in development costs; 

• $75,000 upon completion of the acquisition; 

• A minimum of $200,000 related to a service agreement for continuing development to be entered into between the 

Company and the vendor at a future date; and 

• $100,000 upon submission of a patent for the intellectual property. 
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The Company’s Chief Technical Science Officer is an officer of the vendor. 

 

On December 24, 2020, the Company closed a private placement and issued 6,000,000 special warrants at a price of $0.60 

per special warrant, for gross proceeds of $3,600,000. The Company also issued 2,584,000 units at a price of $0.60 per unit, 

for gross proceeds of $1,550,400. The special warrants are deemed to be exercised into one common share of the Company 

and one share purchase warrant on the earlier of three business days after the Company receives a prospectus receipt and 

April 25, 2021. Each warrant is exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to 

the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and 

December 24, 2025. The units consist of one common share and one share purchase warrant, with each warrant being 

exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to the shorter of two years after the 

Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and December 24, 2025. The Company paid finder’s fees of $510,000 and issued 

850,000 finder’s warrants. Each finder’s warrant is exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of $0.60 

for a period equal to the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and December 24, 2025. 

 

On January 25, 2021, the Company closed a private placement and issued 137,000 special warrants at a price of $0.60 per 

special warrant, for gross proceeds of $82,200. The Company also issued 4,000 units at a price of $0.60 per unit, for gross 

proceeds of $2,400. The special warrants are deemed to be exercised into one common share of the Company and one share 

purchase warrant on the earlier of three business days after the Company receives a prospectus receipt and May 26, 2021. 

Each warrant is exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 for a period equal to the shorter of 

two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and January 25, 2026. The units consist of one common share 

and one share purchase warrant, with each warrant being exercisable into one common share of the Company at a price of 

$1.25 for a period equal to the shorter of two years after the Company’s shares are listed on the CSE and January 25, 2026.  

 

The Company has filed a prospectus in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario in order to qualify 

the distribution of the Company’s common shares and special warrants, and to list its common shares on the CSE.  

 

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

 

 

June 30, 2020 

$ 

June 30, 2019 

$ 

June 30, 2018 

$ 

Revenue - - - 

Net income (loss) (673,182) (1,946) 1,772 

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share (0.71) (19.46) 17.72 

Total assets 1,911,945 7,765 3,913 

Long-term debt - - - 

Dividends - - - 

 

The June 30, 2018 and 2019 fiscal years had small net income and net loss amounts. For those two fiscal years, the Company 

incurred some consulting fees, offset by recoveries and other income. The Company had minimal cash and working capital. 

Late in the 2020 fiscal year, the Company issued shares for services and for the Amended IP Assignment and Royalty 

Agreement, which was a substantial portion of the net loss. The Company also closed the first tranche of a private placement 

for cash, which was the primary reason for the increase in total assets. Year-to-year variances were not the result of any 

discontinued operations, changes in accounting policies or significant dispositions.  
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SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION 

 

Results for the eight most recently completed quarters are summarized below. 

 
For the Quarter Periods Ended December 31, 

2020 

$ 

September 30, 

2020 

$ 

June 30, 

2020 

$ 

March 31, 

2020 

$ 

Total revenue Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Net loss for the period (442,255) (41,505) (471,507) (192,270) 

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.02) (0.00) (0.27) (0.61) 

Total assets 7,167,702 2,468,903 1,911,945 28,836 

Total non-current liabilities Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil 

 
For the Quarter Periods Ended December 31, 

2019 

$ 

September 30, 

2019 

$ 

June 30, 

2019 

$ 

March 31, 

2019 

$ 

Total revenue Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Net loss0) for the period (2,869) (6,536) (9,861) (5,019) 

Basic and diluted loss per share (28.69) (65.36) (98.61) (50.19) 

Total assets 110 1,229 7,765 17,787 

Total non-current liabilities Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil 

 

There is minimal seasonality in the Company’s business. A discussion of the factors that have caused variations over the 

quarters is as follows: 

 

• For the quarter periods ended March 31, 2019 through December 31, 2019, the Company incurred some consulting 

fees, offset by recoveries and other income. The Company also had minimal cash and working capital.  

• During the quarter period ended March 31, 2020, the Company issued shares for services, which was the majority 

of the net loss for the period. The Company still had minimal cash and working capital.  

• During the quarter period ended June 30, 2020, the Company issued shares for the Amended IP Assignment and 

Royalty Agreement, which was included in net loss. The Company also closed the first tranche of a private placement 

for cash, which was the primary reason for the increase in total assets.  

• During the quarter period ended September 30, 2020, the Company closed the second tranche of a private placement 

for cash, which was the primary reason for the increase in total assets. Net loss was primarily management fees and 

accounting and legal expenses, with some research and lab fees. 

• During the quarter period ended December 31, 2020, the Company saw a substantial increase in total assets as a 

result of cash raised in the private placements of shares, units and special warrants. The increase in net loss was 

primarily due to the Company incurring expenditures as it worked towards filing a preliminary prospectus and 

beginning to incur substantial research and lab expenses. 

 

OPERATIONS 

 

During the three months ended December 31, 2020, the Company reported a net loss of $442,255 (2019 - $2,869). The 

Company’s loss included expenditures as follows: 

 

• Accounting and legal of $81,683 (2019 - $1,750) increased due to legal and audit fees as the Company began work 

towards a public listing in 2020; 

• Advertising and promotion of $43,710 (2019 - $nil) increased due to the Company incurring costs for website design 

and branding; 

• Consulting fees of $18,000 (2019 - $1,100) increased, as the Company engaged a corporate secretary for the current 

period;  
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• Management fees of $42,745 (2019 - $nil) increased, as the Company compensated the CEO and CFO in the current

period;

• Research and lab fees of $224,482 (2019 - $nil) increased due to research and lab testing work beginning in 2020;

and

• Share-based compensation of $29,744 (2019 - $nil) increased, as stock options were granted in the current period.

During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company reported a net loss of $483,760 (2019 - $9,405). The 

Company’s loss included expenditures as follows: 

• Accounting and legal of $107,355 (2019 - $1,750) increased due to legal and audit fees as the Company began work

towards a public listing in 2020;

• Advertising and promotion of $43,710 (2019 - $nil) increased due to the Company incurring costs for website design

and branding;

• Consulting fees of $18,000 (2019 - $7,600) increased, as the Company engaged a corporate secretary for part of the

current period while the Company only paid consultants periodically in the prior period;

• Management fees of $51,368 (2019 - $nil) increased, as the Company compensated the CEO and CFO for part of

the current period;

• Research and lab fees of $231,668 (2019 - $nil) increased due to research and lab testing work beginning in 2020;

and

• Share-based compensation of $29,744 (2019 - $nil) increased, as stock options were granted in the current period.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The Company’s cash at December 31, 2020 was $7,077,195 (June 30, 2020 - $1,865,927). The working capital was 

$7,046,088 at December 31, 2020 (June 30, 2020 - $1,817,576). 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company has issued shares for cash 

as follows: 

• On August 31, 2020, the Company closed the second tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds of $630,000.

The Company issued 4,200,000 common shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company paid finder’s fees of

$34,650 and issued 189,000 finder’s shares (valued at $28,350) and 420,000 finder’s warrants valued at $38,758.

• On October 9, 2020, the Company closed the third and final tranche of a private placement for gross proceeds of

$305,250. The Company issued 2,035,000 common shares at a price of $0.15 per share. The Company paid finder’s

fees of $13,431 and issued 113,960 finder’s shares (valued at $17,094) and 203,500 finder’s warrants valued at

$18,770.

• On December 24, 2020, the Company closed a private placement and issued 6,000,000 special warrants at a price

of $0.60 per special warrant, for gross proceeds of $3,600,000. The Company also issued 2,584,000 units at a price

of $0.60 per unit, for gross proceeds of $1,550,400. The Company paid finder’s fees of $510,000 and issued 850,000

finder’s warrants valued at $266,115.

• During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company received $160,515 on the exercise of 1,070,100

finder’s warrants.

• On January 25, 2021, the Company closed a private placement and issued 137,000 special warrants at a price of

$0.60 per special warrant, for gross proceeds of $82,200. The Company also issued 4,000 units at a price of $0.60

per unit, for gross proceeds of $2,400.

The Company will need to raise additional financing in order to continue research and for development of its intellectual 

property.  

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

These amounts of key management compensation are included in the amounts shown on the condensed interim statements of 

comprehensive income (loss): 

• Consulting fees of $18,000 (2019 - $nil) were paid to Carrie Cesarone, the Corporate Secretary; 

• Management fees of $33,368 (2019 - $nil) were paid to Sébastien Plouffe, the Chief Executive Officer and includes 

provincial taxes not refundable to the Company; 

• Management fees of $18,000 (2019 - $nil) were paid to Joseph Meagher, the Chief Financial Officer; 

• Research and lab fees of $20,631 (2019 - $nil) were paid to Dr. Simon Beaudoin, the Chief Technical Science 

Officer, and includes provincial taxes not refundable to the Company; and 

• Share-based compensation of $28,178 (2019 - $nil) was for the fair value of stock options granted to the Chief 

Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary, Chief Technical Science Officer and Dr. Moutih 

Rafei, the VP of Research and Development, calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company entered into various consulting agreements that included key 

management (see Commitments). 

 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company paid (inclusive of provincial taxes not refundable to the 

Company): 

• Research and lab fees of $77,868 (2019 - $nil) to Axiom Services Inc., a company in which the Company’s VP of 

Research and Development is a principal; and 

• Research and lab fees of $27,494 (2019 - $nil) to WASSC Technologie Inc., a company owned and controlled by 

the Company’s Chief Technical Science Officer. 

 

There were no related party balances as at December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020. 

 

COMMITMENTS 

 

On September 18, 2020, the Company entered into consulting agreements with its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 

Officer, Corporate Secretary and Chief Technical Science Officer. The consulting agreements have indefinite terms and 

monthly fees totaling $25,760. In the event the agreements are terminated by the Company or the consultants as a result of a 

change in control, the Company would be required to pay a total of $77,280 to the consultants. 

 

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

 

On January 5, 2021, the Company granted 400,000 stock options to directors. The stock options have an exercise price of 

$1.25 and expire on January 5, 2024. 

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2020, the Company issued common shares, as described in Liquidity and Capital Resources. 

 

The Company has filed a preliminary prospectus in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario in 

order to qualify the distribution of the Company’s common shares and special warrants, and to list its common shares on the 

CSE.  

 

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

 

The Company considers its capital to be comprised of shareholders’ equity. 

 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 

risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue 

new shares. Although the Company has been successful at raising funds in the past through the issuance of share capital, it is 

uncertain whether it will continue this method of financing due to the current difficult market conditions. 
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In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares expenditure budgets that are updated 

as necessary depending on various factors, including successful capital deployment and general industry conditions.  

 

Management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis to ensure that the above objectives are met. There have been no 

changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the six months ended December 31, 2020. The Company 

is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS 

 

As at December 31, 2020, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their fair values. 

 

Fair value 

 

The Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with an established hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs in 

valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows: 

 

 Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. 

 Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial asset measured at fair value by level within the fair value hierarchy: 

 

December 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Cash  $ 7,077,195 $                 - $                  - $ 7,077,195 

 

June 30, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Cash  $ 1,865,927 $                 - $                  - $ 1,865,927 

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 

discharge an obligation. The Company manages credit risk, in respect of cash, by placing it at major Canadian financial 

institutions. The Company has minimal credit risk.  

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquid funds to meet its 

liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 

the Company’s reputation. The contractual financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2020 equal $75,596. All 

of the liabilities presented as accounts payable are due within 30 days of the reporting date. 

 

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the 

Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 

manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on capital.  

 

i) Currency risk – The Company has no funds held in a foreign currency, and as a result, is not exposed to significant 

currency risk on its financial instruments at period-end.  
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ii) Interest rate risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market

interest rates. Interest earned on cash is at nominal interest rates, and therefore, the Company does not consider interest

rate risk to be significant. The Company has no interest-bearing financial liabilities.

iii) Other price risk – Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate due to changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate risk. The Company is not exposed

to significant other price risk.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

Income taxes  

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 

undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company 

recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s current understanding of the 

tax law. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Company records its best estimate of the tax 

liability, including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes they have adequately 

provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially different outcome 

than the amount included in the tax liabilities.  

In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which a deductible temporary difference can be utilized. This is deemed to be the 

case when there are sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 

entity that are expected to reverse in the same year as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference, or in years 

into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. However, utilization of the tax losses 

also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped.  

Going concern risk assessment 

The Company’s ability to continue its operations and to realize assets at their carrying value is dependent upon its ability to 

generate positive cash flows and/or obtain additional financing sufficient to fund its development and operating costs. The 

Company may be able to generate working capital to fund its operations by raising additional capital through equity markets. 

However, there is no assurance it will be able to raise funds in the future. Based on its current plans, budgeted expenditures 

and cash requirements, the Company has sufficient cash to finance its current plans for at least twelve months from the date 

the financial statements are issued. These condensed interim financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments 

required to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different 

from those reflected in the accompanying condensed interim financial statements. 

If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for these condensed interim financial statements then adjustments may 

be necessary in the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the statement of financial position 

classifications used. Such adjustments could be material. 

Impairment of intangible assets 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for intangible assets and impairment of the capitalized expenditures 

requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which may be 

based on assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information 

becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 

expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in profit or loss in the year the new information becomes 

available. 
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NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARD ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

 

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements)  
 

The amendments to IAS 1 provide a more general approach to the classification of liabilities based on the contractual 

arrangements in place at the reporting date. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2023. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the amendments. 

 
SHARE CAPITAL 

 

The Company had the following securities issued and outstanding: 

 
 March 2, 

2021 

December 31, 

2020 

June 30, 

2020 

Common shares 28,661,774 28,657,774 18,465,714 

Special warrants 6,137,000 6,000,000 - 

Warrants 4,509,400 4,505,400 1,518,000 

Stock options 1,350,000 950,000 - 

Fully diluted shares 40,658,174 40,113,174 19,983,714 

 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 

Limited operating history 

 

The Company has a very limited history of operations and is considered a start-up company. As such, the Company is subject 

to many risks common to such enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to 

personnel, financial and other resources, and lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in 

achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of the Company’s success must be considered in light of 

its early stage of operations. 

 

The Company’s officers and directors may be engaged in a range of business activities resulting in conflicts of interest 

 

The Company may be subject to various potential conflicts of interest as some of its officers and directors may be engaged 

in a range of business activities. In addition, the Company’s executive officers and directors may devote time to their outside 

business interests, so long as such activities do not materially or adversely interfere with their duties to the Company. In some 

cases, the Company’s executive officers and directors may have fiduciary obligations associated with these business interests 

that interfere with their ability to devote time to the Company’s business and affairs and that could adversely affect the 

Company’s operations. These business interests could require significant time and attention of the Company’s executive 

officers and directors.  

 

In addition, the Company may become involved in other transactions that conflict with the interests of its directors and officers 

who may from time to time deal with persons, firms, institutions or companies with which the Company may be dealing, or 

which may be seeking investments similar to those desired by it. The interests of these persons could conflict with those of 

the Company. In addition, from time to time, these persons may be competing with the Company for available investment 

opportunities. Conflicts of interest, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies provided under applicable laws. In 

particular, if such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Company’s directors, a director who has such a conflict will 

abstain from voting for or against the approval of such participation or such terms. In accordance with applicable laws, the 

directors of the Company are required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. 

 

The Company’s intellectual property and licenses thereto 

 

The Company’s success will depend in part on its ability to protect and maintain its intellectual property rights and its licenses. 

No assurance can be given that the license or rights used by the Company will not be challenged, invalidated, infringed or 

circumvented, nor that the rights granted thereunder will provide competitive advantages to the Company. It is not clear 
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whether the pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents. There is no assurance that the Company will be 

able to enter into licensing arrangements, develop or obtain alternative technology in respect of patents issued to third parties 

that incidentally cover its production processes. Moreover, the Company could potentially incur substantial legal costs in 

defending legal actions that allege patent infringement or by instituting patent infringement suits against others. The 

Company’s commercial success also depends on the Company not infringing patents or proprietary rights of others and no t 

breaching the exclusive license granted to the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to maintain 

such licenses that it may require to conduct its business or that such licenses have been obtained at a reasonable cost. 

Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to remain in compliance with its licenses. Consequently, 

there may be a risk that such licenses may be withdrawn with no compensation or penalties to the Company. 

 

If patent laws or the interpretation of patent laws change, the Company’s competitors may be able to develop and 

commercialize its discoveries 

 

Important legal issues remain to be resolved as to the extent and scope of available patent protection for biopharmaceutical 

products and processes in Canada, and other important markets outside Canada, such as Europe or the United States. As such, 

litigation or administrative proceedings may be necessary to determine the validity, scope and ownership of certain of the 

Company’s and others’ proprietary rights. Any such litigation or proceeding may result in a significant commitment of 

resources in the future and could force the Company to do one or more of the following: cease selling or using any of its 

future products that incorporate a challenged intellectual property, which would adversely affect its revenue; obtain a license 

or other rights from the holder of the intellectual property rights alleged to have been infringed or otherwise violated, which 

license may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all; and redesign its future products to avoid infringing or violating the 

intellectual property rights of third parties, which may be time-consuming or impossible to do. In addition, changes in patent 

laws in Canada and other countries may result in allowing others to use its discoveries or develop and commercialize its 

products. The Company cannot provide assurance that the patents it obtains will afford it significant commercial protection. 

 

The Company may not be able to enforce its intellectual property rights throughout the world. This risk is exacerbated, 

as it expects that one or more of its product candidates will be manufactured and used in a number of foreign countries 

 

The laws of foreign countries may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of Canada. Many 

companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign 

jurisdictions. This risk is exacerbated for the Company, as it expects that future product candidates could be manufactured 

and used in a number of foreign countries. 

 

The legal systems of some countries, particularly developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other 

intellectual property protection, especially those relating to life sciences. This could make it difficult to stop the infringement 

or other misappropriation of the Company’s intellectual property rights. For example, several foreign countries have 

compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, some countries limit 

the enforceability of patents against third parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these 

countries, patents and trade secrets may provide limited or no benefit. 

 

Most jurisdictions in which the Company intends to apply for patents have patent protection laws similar to those of Canada, 

but some of them do not. For example, the Company may do business in the future in countries that may not provide the same 

or similar protection as that provided in Canada. Additionally, due to uncertainty in patent protection law, the Company has 

not filed applications in many countries where significant markets exist. 

 

Proceedings to enforce patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert the Company’s efforts 

and attention from other aspects of its business. Accordingly, efforts to protect intellectual property rights in such countries 

may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by courts in Canada, the US and foreign countries may 

affect the Company’s ability to obtain adequate protection for the Company’s technology and the enforcement of its 

intellectual property. 
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COVID-19 may materially and adversely affect the Company’s business and financial results 

 

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, which causes the disease known as COVID-19, was reported to have 

surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread globally. In March 2020, the World Health Organization 

declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic.  

 

The effects of COVID-19 could disrupt the Company’s business and delay any future clinical trials, the magnitude of which 

will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other limitations on the Company’s ability to conduct 

its business in the ordinary course. These and similar, and perhaps more severe, disruptions in the Company’s operations 

could negatively impact the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations, including its ability to obtain 

financing. Quarantines, shelter-in-place and similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other 

restrictions on the conduct of business operations could occur, related to COVID-19 or other infectious diseases could impact 

personnel at third-party manufacturing facilities or the availability or cost of materials, which would disrupt the Company’s 

supply chain. 

 

In addition, any future clinical trials have been and may be further affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, including: 

 

• Delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in the clinical trial, including patients that may not be able to comply with 

clinical trial protocols if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt healthcare services; 

• Delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators and 

clinical site staff; 

• Diversion or prioritization of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials and towards the 

COVID-19 pandemic, including the diversion of hospitals serving as the Company’s clinical trial sites and hospital 

staff supporting the conduct of the clinical trials, who, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to 

COVID-19 and adversely impact the clinical trial operations; 

• Interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, due to limitations on travel imposed 

or recommended by federal, state or provincial governments, employers and others; and 

• Limitations in employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of the Company’s clinical trials, 

including due to sickness of employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact with large groups 

of people. 

 

Preclinical studies, clinical trials, licensing, regulations and products 

 

The Company is also exposed to risks related to preclinical studies, clinical trials, licensing, regulations and products as 

follows: 

 

• The Company may not be successful in its efforts to identify, license or discover additional product candidates; 

• The Company faces product liability exposure, which, if not covered by insurance, could result in significant 

financial liability; 

• If the Company is unable to advance product candidates through clinical development, obtain regulatory approval 

and ultimately commercialize product candidates, or if the Company experiences significant delays in doing so, 

business will be materially harmed; 

• The Company’s business is highly dependent on its lead product candidate, Accum, and it must complete preclinical 

studies and clinical testing before it can seek regulatory approval and begin commercialization of any of its other 

product candidates. If the Company is unable to obtain regulatory approval for and successfully commercialize 

Accum, its business may be materially harmed and such failure may affect the viability of its other product 

candidates; 

• Any product candidates that the Company successfully develops and commercializes will have to compete with 

existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future; 

• Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes, and results of earlier 

studies and trials may not be predictive of future clinical trial results. If preclinical studies and clinical trials are not 

sufficient to support regulatory approval of any of the Company’s product candidates, it may incur additional costs 

or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of such product candidate; 
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• The Company expects to develop Accum, and potentially future product candidates, in combination with other 

therapies, which exposes it to additional risks; 

• The Company’s preclinical studies and clinical trial may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety, potency and 

purity of any of its product candidates, which would prevent or delay development, regulatory approval and 

commercialization; 

• The results of preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of future results. Initial success 

in the Company’s ongoing clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when these trials are completed 

or in later-stage trials; 

• Interim, “top-line” and preliminary data from clinical trials that the Company announces or publishes from time to 

time may change as more patient data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that 

could result in material changes in the final data; and 

• Disruptions at Health Canada and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns 

could hinder their ability to hire, retain or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new or 

modified products and services from being developed, approved or commercialized in a timely manner, which could 

negatively impact the Company’s business. 

 



EXHIBIT B 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 



 

 

DEFENCE THERAPEUTICS INC.  
CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

PURPOSE AND PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITY 

1. This charter sets out the Audit Committee’s purpose, composition, member qualification, member 
appointment and removal, responsibilities, operations, manner of reporting to the Board of Directors (the “Board”) 
of Defence Therapeutics Inc., (the “Company”), annual evaluation and compliance with this charter. 

2. The primary responsibility of the Audit Committee is that of oversight of the financial reporting 
process on behalf of the Board. This includes oversight responsibility for financial reporting and continuous 
disclosure, oversight of external audit activities, oversight of financial risk and financial management control, and 
oversight responsibility for compliance with tax and securities laws and regulations as well as whistle blowing 
procedures. The Audit Committee is also responsible for the other matters as set out in this charter and/or such other 
matters as may be directed by the Board from time to time. The Audit Committee should exercise continuous 
oversight of developments in these areas. 

MEMBERSHIP 

3. At least a majority of the Audit Committee must be comprised of independent directors of the 
Company as defined in sections 1.4 and 1.5 of National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”), 
provided that should the Company become listed on a more senior exchange, each member of the Audit Committee 
will also satisfy the independence requirements of such exchange. 

4. The Audit Committee will consist of at least two members, all of whom shall be financially 
literate, provided that an Audit Committee member who is not financially literate may be appointed to the Audit 
Committee if such member becomes financially literate within a reasonable period of time following his or her 
appointment. Upon graduating to a more senior stock exchange, if required under the rules or policies of such 
exchange, the Audit Committee will consist of at least three members, all of whom shall meet the experience and 
financial literacy requirements of such exchange and of NI 52-110. 

5. The members of the Audit Committee will be appointed annually (and from time to time thereafter 
to fill vacancies on the Audit Committee) by the Board. An Audit Committee member may be removed or replaced 
at any time at the discretion of the Board and will cease to be a member of the Audit Committee on ceasing to be an 
independent director. 

6. The Chair of the Audit Committee will be appointed by the Board. 

AUTHORITY 

7. In addition to all authority required to carry out the duties and responsibilities included in this 
charter, the Audit Committee has specific authority to: 

(i) engage, set and pay the compensation for independent counsel and other advisors as it determines 
necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities, and any such consultants or professional advisors so 
retained by the Audit Committee will report directly to the Audit Committee; 

(ii) communicate directly with management and any internal auditor, and with the external auditor 
without management involvement; and 

(iii) incur ordinary administrative expenses that are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties, 
which expenses will be paid for by the Company. 
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DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

8. The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include: 

(i) recommending to the Board the external auditor to be nominated by the Board; 

(ii) recommending to the Board the compensation of the external auditor to be paid by the Company 
in connection with (i) preparing and issuing the audit report on the Company’s financial statements, and (ii) 
performing other audit, review or attestation services; 

(iii) reviewing the external auditor’s annual audit plan, fee schedule and any related services proposals 
(including meeting with the external auditor to discuss any deviations from or changes to the original audit 
plan, as well as to ensure that no management restrictions have been placed on the scope and extent of the 
audit examinations by the external auditor or the reporting of their findings to the Audit Committee); 

(iv) overseeing the work of the external auditor; 

(v) ensuring that the external auditor is independent by receiving a report annually from the external 
auditors with respect to their independence, such report to include disclosure of all engagements (and fees 
related thereto) for non-audit services provided to the Company; 

(vi) ensuring that the external auditor is in good standing with the Canadian Public Accountability 
Board by receiving, at least annually, a report by the external auditor on the audit firm’s internal quality 
control processes and procedures, such report to include any material issues raised by the most recent 
internal quality control review, or peer review, of the firm, or any governmental or professional authorities 
of the firm within the preceding five years, and any steps taken to deal with such issues; 

(vii) ensuring that the external auditor meets the rotation requirements for partners and staff assigned to 
the Company’s annual audit by receiving a report annually from the external auditors setting out the status 
of each professional with respect to the appropriate regulatory rotation requirements and plans to transition 
new partners and staff onto the audit engagement as various audit team members’ rotation periods expire; 

(viii) reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor the annual audited and 
quarterly unaudited financial statements and related Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), 
including the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies, disclosures (including material 
transactions with related parties), reserves, key estimates and judgements (including changes or variations 
thereto) and obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are presented fairly in accordance 
with IFRS and the MD&A is in compliance with appropriate regulatory requirements; 

(ix) reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor major issues regarding 
accounting principles and financial statement presentation including any significant changes in the 
selection or application of accounting principles to be observed in the preparation of the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries; 

(x) reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor the external auditor’s written 
communications to the Audit Committee in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 
other applicable regulatory requirements arising from the annual audit and quarterly review engagements; 

(xi) reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor all earnings press releases, as 
well as financial information and earnings guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies prior to such 
information being disclosed; 

(xii) reviewing the external auditor’s report to the shareholders on the Company’s annual financial 
statements; 
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(xiii) reporting on and recommending to the Board the approval of the annual financial statements and 
the external auditor’s report on those financial statements, the quarterly unaudited financial statements, and 
the related MD&A and press releases for such financial statements, prior to the dissemination of these 
documents to shareholders, regulators, analysts and the public; 

(xiv) satisfying itself on a regular basis through reports from management and related reports, if any, 
from the external auditors, that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Company’s 
disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Company’s financial statements that such 
information is fairly presented; 

(xv) overseeing the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and obtaining 
from management and the external auditor summaries and recommendations for improvement of such 
internal controls and processes, together with reviewing management’s remediation of identified 
weaknesses; 

(xvi) reviewing with management and the external auditors the integrity of disclosure controls and 
internal controls over financial reporting; 

(xvii) reviewing and monitoring the processes in place to identify and manage the principal risks that 
could impact the financial reporting of the Company and assessing, as part of its internal controls 
responsibility, the effectiveness of the over-all process for identifying principal business risks and report 
thereon to the Board; 

(xviii) satisfying itself that management has developed and implemented a system to ensure that the 
Company meets its continuous disclosure obligations through the receipt of regular reports from 
management and the Company’s legal advisors on the functioning of the disclosure compliance system, 
(including any significant instances of non-compliance with such system) in order to satisfy itself that such 
system may be reasonably relied upon; 

(xix) resolving disputes between management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting; 

(xx) establishing procedures for: 

1. the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company from 
employees and others regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and 
questionable practises relating thereto; and 

2. the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns 
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

(xxi) reviewing and approving the Company’s hiring policies with respect to partners or employees (or 
former partners or employees) of either a former or the present external auditor; 

(xxii) pre-approving all non-audit services to be provided to the Company or any subsidiaries by the 
Company’s external auditor; 

(xxiii) overseeing compliance with regulatory authority requirements for disclosure of external auditor 
services and Audit Committee activities; 

(xxiv) establishing procedures for: 

3. reviewing the adequacy of the Company’s insurance coverage, including the Directors’ 
and Officers’ insurance coverage; 
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4. reviewing activities, organizational structure, and qualifications of the Chief Financial 
Officer (“CFO”) and the staff in the financial reporting area and ensuring that matters related to 
succession planning within the Company are raised for consideration at the Board; 

5. obtaining reasonable assurance as to the integrity of the Chief Executive Officer 
(“CEO”) and other senior management and that the CEO and other senior management strive to 
create a culture of integrity throughout the Company; 

6. reviewing fraud prevention policies and programs, and monitoring their implementation; 

7. reviewing regular reports from management and others (e.g., external auditors, legal 
counsel) with respect to the Company’s compliance with laws and regulations having a material 
impact on the financial statements including: 

(I) Tax and financial reporting laws and regulations; 

(II) Legal withholding requirements; 

(III) Environmental protection laws and regulations; and 

(IV) Other laws and regulations which expose directors to liability;  

9. A regular part of Audit Committee meetings involves the appropriate orientation of new members 
as well as the continuous education of all members. Items to be discussed include specific business issues as well as 
new accounting and securities legislation that may impact the organization. The Chair of the Audit Committee will 
regularly canvass the Audit Committee members for continuous education needs and in conjunction with the Board 
education program, arrange for such education to be provided to the Audit Committee on a timely basis. 

10. On an annual basis the Audit Committee shall review and assess the adequacy of this charter 
taking into account all applicable legislative and regulatory requirements as well as any best practice guidelines 
recommended by regulators or stock exchanges with whom the Company has a reporting relationship and, if 
appropriate, recommend changes to the Audit Committee charter to the Board for its approval. 

MEETINGS 

11. The quorum for a meeting of the Audit Committee is a majority of the members of the Audit 
Committee. 

12. The Chair of the Audit Committee shall be responsible for leadership of the Audit Committee, 
including scheduling and presiding over meetings, preparing agendas, overseeing the preparation of briefing 
documents to circulate during the meetings as well as pre-meeting materials, and making regular reports to the 
Board. The Chair of the Audit Committee will also maintain regular liaison with the CEO, CFO, and the lead 
external audit partner. 

13. The Audit Committee will meet in camera separately with each of the CEO and the CFO of the 
Company at least annually to review the financial affairs of the Company. 

14. The Audit Committee will meet with the external auditor of the Company in camera at least once 
each year, at such time(s) as it deems appropriate, to review the external auditor’s examination and report. 

15. The external auditor must be given reasonable notice of, and has the right to appear before and to 
be heard at, each meeting of the Audit Committee. 

16. Each of the Chair of the Audit Committee, members of the Audit Committee, Chair of the Board, 
external auditor, CEO, CFO or secretary shall be entitled to request that the Chair of the Audit Committee call a 
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meeting which shall be held within 48 hours of receipt of such request to consider any matter that such individual 
believes should be brought to the attention of the Board or the shareholders. 

REPORTS 

17. The Audit Committee will report, at least annually, to the Board regarding the Audit Committee’s 
examinations and recommendations. 

18. The Audit Committee will report its activities to the Board to be incorporated as a part of the 
minutes of the Board meeting at which those activities are reported. 

MINUTES 

19. The Audit Committee will maintain written minutes of its meetings, which minutes will be filed 
with the minutes of the meetings of the Board. 

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

20. The Board will conduct an annual performance evaluation of the Audit Committee, taking into 
account the Charter, to determine the effectiveness of the Committee. 
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FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

APPENDIX B 

Exchange Listing Statement Disclosure – Additional Information 

CAPITALIZATION 

Issued Capital 
Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-diluted) 

%of Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 

Total outstanding (A) 34,798,774(1) 46,795,174(7) 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the Issuer, or 
by persons or companies who 
beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in 
the Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in 
the Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities 
held) (B) 

6,321,714(2)(3) 7,571,714(8) 18.17% 16.18% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 28,477,060 39,223,460 81.83% 83.82% 

Freely-Tradeable Float 

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including 
restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other arrangements 
or in a shareholder agreement 
and securities held by control 
block holders (C)  

13,842,343(2)(4)(5)(6) 14,246,343(9) 39.78% 30.44% 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 20,956,431 32,548,831 60.22% 69.56% 

Notes: 
(1) Includes 6,137,000 common shares issued upon deemed exercise of the Special Warrants.
(2) Includes a total of 2,186,000 common shares held by insiders as follows: 66,000 common shares are held by Carrie

Cesarone; 70,000 common shares are held by Moutih Rafei; 350,000 common shares are held by Patrick Joseph
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Meaghter, 100,000 common shares are held by Raimar Loebenberg; 1,600,000 common shares are held by Sebastien 
Plouffe. These common shares will be held in escrow pursuant to an escrow agreement and 139,300 of such shares 
will be released from escrow on the listing date.  

(3) Includes a total of 4,135,714 common shares held by 5% shareholders.
(4) Includes 9,914,500 common shares that are subject to voluntary pool restrictions whereby such common shares will

be released six months from listing, 1,586,700 common shares held by insiders will be held in escrow pursuant to
an escrow agreement, of which 1,506,700 are subject to voluntary pool restrictions whereby such common shares
will be released six months from listing. 79,300 common shares held by such insiders will be released from escrow
on listing.

(5) Includes 2,085,714 Common Shares that are subject to a voluntary escrow pursuant to which 10% of the Common
Shares will be released from escrow upon Listing and then an additional 15% will be released every six months
thereafter. 208,571 of such shares will be released on the Listing Date.

(6) Includes 4,000 common shares which are subject to resale restrictions for four months and one day from the date of
issuance on January 25, 2021.

(7) Includes an aggregate of 2,588,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of warrants, 1,921,400 common shares
issuable upon exercise of finder’s warrants, 1,350,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of options, and
6,137,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of warrants issuable upon deemed exercise of the Special
Warrants.

(8) Includes an aggregate of 1,250,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of Options.
(9) Includes 4,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of warrants subject to a four month and one day hold from

the original date of issuance on January 25, 2021, and 400,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of Options.
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FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 

Class of Security 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 

100 – 499 securities 

500 – 999 securities 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 6 6,000 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 44 110,000 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 1 4,000 

5,000 or more securities 102 28,357,060 

153 28,477,060 
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FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered 
shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the Issuer 
has been given written confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is 
sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line 
item below; names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an 
intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate 
position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 

Class of Security 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 

100 – 499 securities 

500 – 999 securities 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 6 6,000 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 44 110,000 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 1 4,000 

5,000 or more  securities 102 28,357,060 

153 28,477,060 
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FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons enumerated 
in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  

Class of Security 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 

100 – 499 securities 

500 – 999 securities 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 

5,000 or more  securities 7 6,321,714 

7 6,321,714 
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FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES 

The Company currently has the following securities which are convertible or exchangeable into common 
shares: 

Type of Convertible Security Amount 
Options(1) 1,350,000 

Warrants(2) 2,588,000 

Finder’s Warrants(3)(4) 1,921,400 

Warrants (on exercise of Special Warrants)(5) 6,137,000 

Total: 11,996,400 
Notes: 
(1) Options are exercisable to acquire a total of 1,350,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 for a period of three years
from the date of grant.
(2) Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 2,584,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 until the earlier of 2
years after the date that the Shares are listed on the CSE and (b) five years after the issue date on December 24, 2020, and 4,000
Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 4,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 until the earlier of 2 years after
the date that the Shares are listed on the CSE and (b) five years after the issue date on January 25, 2021.
(3) Finder’s Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 1,071,400 common shares at an exercise price of $0.15 for a period of 
three years from the date of issuance.
(4) Finder’s Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 850,000 common shares at an exercise price of $0.60 per share until
the earlier of (a) a period of 2 years from the listing date, and (b) five years after the issue date on December 24, 2020.
(5) Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 6,000,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 until the earlier of 2
years after the date that the Shares are listed on the CSE and (b) five years after the issue date on December 24, 2020 and Warrants
are exercisable to acquire a total of 137,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 until the earlier of 2 years after the date
that the Shares are listed on the CSE and (b) five years after the issue date on January 25, 2021

On Listing, the Company will have the following securities which are convertible or exchangeable into 
common shares: 

Type of Convertible Security Amount 
Options(1) 1,350,000 

Warrants(2) 2,588,000 

Finder’s Warrants(3)(4) 1,921,400 

Warrants (on exercise of Special Warrants)(5) 6,137,000 

Total: 11,996,400 
Notes: 
(1) Options are exercisable to acquire a total of 1,350,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 for a period of three years
from the date of grant.
(2) Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 2,584,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 until the earlier of 2
years after the date that the Shares are listed on the CSE and (b) five years after the issue date on December 24, 2020 and 4,000
Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 2,584,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 until the earlier of 2 years
after the date that the Shares are listed on the CSE and (b) five years after the issue date on January 25, 2021.
(3) Finder’s Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 1,071,400 common shares at an exercise price of $0.15 for a period of 
three years from the date of issuance.
(4) Finder’s Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 850,000 common shares at an exercise price of $0.60 per share until
the earlier of (a) a period of 2 years from the listing date, and (b) five years after the issue date on December 24, 2020.
(5) Warrants are exercisable to acquire a total of 6,000,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 until the earlier of 2
years after the date that the Shares are listed on the CSE and (b) five years after the issue date on December 24, 2020 and Warrants
are exercisable to acquire a total of 137,000 common shares at an exercise price of $1.25 until the earlier of 2 years after the date
that the Shares are listed on the CSE and (b) five years after the issue date on January 25, 2021.



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
A-1

SCHEDULE A  
CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a promoter of 
the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying following a fundamental 
change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 
promoter of the target and two directors of the target. 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Defence Therapeutics Inc. hereby applies 
for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange. The foregoing contains full, true and 
plain disclosure of all material information relating to Defence Therapeutics Inc. It contains no untrue 
statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is 
necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances 
in which it was made. 

Dated at Vancouver, BC this ________ day of __________________, 2021. 

Sébastien Plouffe  
Chief Executive Officer 

Patrick Joseph Meagher  
Chief Financial Officer 

Raimar Lӧbenberg 
Director 

Sarkis Meterissian 
Director 

3rd May

"Sébastien Plouffe" "Patrick Joseph Meagher"

"Raimar Lӧbenberg" "Sarkis Meterissian"




